

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal -Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders Kathleen Stratton, Alicia Gable, and Marie C.

McCormick, Editors, Immunization Safety Review Committee, Board on Health Promotion and Disease Prevention

ISBN: 0-309-56573-1, 136 pages, 6 x 9, (2001)

This free PDF was downloaded from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

Visit the <u>National Academies Press</u> online, the authoritative source for all books from the <u>National Academy of Sciences</u>, the <u>National Academy of Engineering</u>, the <u>Institute of Medicine</u>, and the <u>National Research Council</u>:

- Download hundreds of free books in PDF
- Read thousands of books online for free
- Purchase printed books and PDF files
- Explore our innovative research tools try the <u>Research Dashboard</u> now
- <u>Sign up</u> to be notified when new books are published

Thank you for downloading this free PDF. If you have comments, questions or want more information about the books published by the National Academies Press, you may contact our customer service department toll-free at 888-624-8373, <u>visit us online</u>, or send an email to <u>comments@nap.edu</u>.

This book plus thousands more are available at <u>www.nap.edu</u>.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved. Unless otherwise indicated, all materials in this PDF file are copyrighted by the National Academy of Sciences. Distribution or copying is strictly prohibited without permission of the National Academies Press <<u>http://www.nap.edu/permissions/></u>. Permission is granted for this material to be posted on a secure password-protected Web site. The content may not be posted on a public Web site.

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

Advisers to the Nation on Science, Engineering, and Medicine

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW

i

THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

Kathleen Stratton, Alicia Gable, and Marie C.McCormick, Editors

Immunization Safety Review Committee Board on Health Promotion and Disease Prevention INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE

> NATIONAL ACADEMY PRESS Washington, D.C.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

NATIONAL ACADEMY PRESS 2101 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, DC 20418

NOTICE: The project that is the subject of this report was approved by the Governing Board of the National Research Council, whose members are drawn from the councils of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine. The members of the committee responsible for the report were chosen for their special competences and with regard for appropriate balance.

Support for this project was provided by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health as part of a National Institutes of Health Task Order No. 74. The views presented in this report are those of the Institute of Medicine Immunization Safety Review Committee and are not necessarily those of the funding agencies.

International Standard Book Number 0-309-07636-6

Additional copies of this report are available for sale from the National Academy Press, 2101 Constitution Avenue, N.W., Box 285, Washington, DC 20055. Call 800–624– 6242 or (202) 334– 3313 (in the Washington metropolitan area), or visit the NAP's home page at www.nap.edu.

For more information about the Institute of Medicine, visit the IOM home page at **www.iom.edu**. For more information regarding this report and other reports to be issued by this committee, visit the IOM project web page at **www.iom.edu/imsafety**. Copyright 2001 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America.

The serpent has been a symbol of long life, healing, and knowledge among almost all cultures and religions since the beginning of recorded history. The serpent adopted as a logotype by the Institute of Medicine is a relief carving from ancient Greece, now held by the Staatliche Museen in Berlin.

iii

Knowing is not enough; we must apply. Willing is not enough; we must do. —Goethe



INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE Shaping the Future for Health

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

National Academy of Sciences National Academy of Engineering Institute of Medicine National Research Council

The **National Academy of Sciences** is a private, nonprofit, self-perpetuating society of distinguished scholars engaged in scientific and engineering research, dedicated to the furtherance of science and technology and to their use for the general welfare. Upon the authority of the charter granted to it by the Congress in 1863, the Academy has a mandate that requires it to advise the federal government on scientific and technical matters. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts is president of the National Academy of Sciences.

The **National Academy of Engineering** was established in 1964, under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences, as a parallel organization of outstanding engineers. It is autonomous in its administration and in the selection of its members, sharing with the National Academy of Sciences the responsibility for advising the federal government. The National Academy of Engineering also sponsors engineering programs aimed at meeting national needs, encourages education and research, and recognizes the superior achievements of engineers. Dr. Wm. A. Wulf is president of the National Academy of Engineering.

The **Institute of Medicine** was established in 1970 by the National Academy of Sciences to secure the services of eminent members of appropriate professions in the examination of policy matters pertaining to the health of the public. The Institute acts under the responsibility given to the National Academy of Sciences by its congressional charter to be an adviser to the federal government and, upon its own initiative, to identify issues of medical care, research, and education. Dr. Kenneth I. Shine is president of the Institute of Medicine.

The **National Research Council** was organized by the National Academy of Sciences in 1916 to associate the broad community of science and technology with the Academy's purposes of furthering knowledge and advising the federal government. Functioning in accordance with general policies determined by the Academy, the Council has become the principal operating agency of both the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering in providing services to the government, the public, and the scientific and engineering communities. The Council is administered jointly by both Academies and the Institute of Medicine. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts and Dr. Wm. A. Wulf are chairman and vice chairman, respectively, of the National Research Council.

www.national-academies.org

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW COMMITTEE

- MARIE C.McCORMICK, M.D., Sc.D., (*Chair*), Professor and Chair, Department of Maternal and Child Health, Harvard School of Public Health
- **RONALD BAYER, Ph.D.,** Professor, Division of Sociomedical Sciences, School of Public Health, Columbia University
- ALFRED BERG, M.D., M.P.H., Professor and Chair, Department of Family Medicine, University of Washington School of Medicine
- **ROSEMARY CASEY, M.D.,** Associate Professor of Pediatrics, Jefferson Medical College and Director, Lankenau Faculty Pediatrics, Wynnewood, Pennsylvania
- JOSHUA COHEN, Ph.D., Senior Research Associate, Harvard Center for Risk Analysis, Harvard School of Public Health
- **CONSTANTINE GATSONIS, Ph.D.,** Professor of Medical Science and Applied Math, and Director, Center for Statistical Sciences, Brown University
- MICHAEL KABACK, M.D., Professor, Pediatrics and Reproductive Medicine, University of California, San Diego
- **GERALD MEDOFF, M.D.,** Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis
- **REBECCA PARKIN, Ph.D.,** Associate Research Professor, Department of Occupational and Environmental Health, School of Public Health and Health Services, George Washington University
- **BENNETT SHAYWITZ, M.D.,** Professor of Pediatrics and Neurology, Co-Director, Yale Center for the Study of Learning and Attention
- **CHRISTOPHER WILSON, M.D.,** Professor and Chair, Department of Immunology, University of Washington

The following individuals are members of the Immunization Safety Review Committee but were unable to attend the meeting on the topic of this report:

- **VERNICE DAVIS-ANTHONY, M.P.H.**, Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs and Community Health, St. John Health System, Detroit, Michigan
- **BETSY FOXMAN, Ph.D.,** Professor, Department of Epidemiology, School of Public Health, University of Michigan
- STEVEN GOODMAN, M.D., M.H.S., Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Oncology, Division of Biostatistics, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine
- **ELLEN HORAK, M.S.N.,** Chief of Local Services, Office of Local and Rural Health, Kansas Department of Health and Environment

Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Board Liaison

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original ypesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained.

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

RICHARD B.JOHNSTON, Jr., M.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado School of Medicine and National Jewish Medical and Research Center

Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Board Chair

ROBERT WALLACE, M.D., Irene Ensminger Stecher Professor of Epidemiology and Internal Medicine, University of Iowa Colleges of Public Health and Medicine

Study Staff

KATHLEEN STRATTON, Ph.D., Study Director
ALICIA GABLE, M.P.H., Program Officer
PADMA SHETTY, M.D., Program Officer
DONNA ALMARIO, M.P.H., Research Associate
KYSA CHRISTIE, Research Assistant
ANN ST. CLAIRE, Senior Project Assistant
KATRINA LAWRENCE, M.S., Senior Project Assistant
MARGARET GALLOGLY, Intern
ROSE MARIE MARTINEZ, Sc.D., Director, Board on Health Promotion and Disease Prevention

Contract Writer

JANE S.DURCH, M.A., Freelance Writer and Editor, Arlington, Virginia

Contract Editor

STEVEN J.MARCUS, Ph.D., Freelance Editor, Brookline, Massachusetts

REVIEWERS

vii

REVIEWERS

This report has been reviewed in draft form by individuals chosen for their diverse perspectives and technical expertise, in accordance with procedures approved by the NRC's Report Review Committee. The purpose of this independent review is to provide candid and critical comments that will assist the institution in making its published report as sound as possible and to ensure that the report meets institutional standards for objectivity, evidence, and responsiveness to the study charge. The review comments and draft manuscript remain confidential to protect the integrity of the deliberative process. We wish to thank the following individuals for their review of this report:

Thomas F.Anders, M.D., University of California at Davis Michael Aschner, Ph.D., Wake Forest University Ann Bostrom, Ph.D., Georgia Institute of Technology Thomas Clarkson, Ph.D., University of Rochester Samuel L.Katz, M.D., Duke University Marcel Kinsbourne, M.D., New School University Lynda P.Knobeloch, Ph.D., Wisconsin Division of Public Health Linda Linville, M.S., R.N., Texas Department of Health Edgar K.Marcuse, M.D., M.P.H., University of Washington Katherine Mathews, M.D., University of Iowa Craig J.Newschaffer, Ph.D., M.S., Johns Hopkins University Scott Ratzan, M.D., M.P.A., The George Washington University, Tufts University, Yale University Richard Rheingans, Ph.D., Emory University Patricia Rodier, Ph.D., University of Rochester Brian Ward, M.D., McGill University Paul M.Wax, M.D., Good Samaritan Hospital, Phoenix, Arizona Roberta F.White, Ph.D., A.B.P.P., Boston University

Although the reviewers listed above have provided many constructive comments and suggestions, they were not asked to endorse the conclusions or recommendations nor did they see the final draft of the report before its release. The review of this report was overseen by **Robert Lawrence**, Johns Hopkins University and **Charles Carpenter**, Brown University. Appointed by the National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, they were responsible for making certain that an independent examination of this report was carried out in accordance with institutional procedures and that all review comments were carefully considered. Responsibility for the final content of this report rests entirely with the authoring committee and the institution.

REVIEWERS

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

FOREWORD

Foreword

Vaccines are among the greatest public health accomplishments of the past century. In recent years, however, a number of concerns have been raised about the safety of, and need for, certain immunizations. Indeed, immunization safety is a contentious area of public health policy, with discourse around it having become increasingly polarized and exceedingly difficult. The numerous controversies and allegations surrounding immunization safety signify an erosion of public trust in those responsible for vaccine research, development, licensure, schedules, and policymaking. Because vaccines are so widely used—and because state laws require that children be vaccinated to enter daycare and school, in part to protect others—immunization safety concerns should be vigorously pursued in order to restore this trust.

It is in this context that the Institute of Medicine (IOM) was approached more than a year ago by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the National Institutes of Health to convene an independent committee that could provide timely and objective assistance to the Department of Health and Human Services in reviewing emerging immunization-safety concerns.

The IOM was chartered by the National Academy of Sciences in 1970 to serve as an adviser to the federal government on issues affecting the public's health, as well as to act independently in identifying important issues of medical care, research, and education. The IOM thus brings to this mission three decades of experience in conducting independent analyses of significant public health policy issues. In particular, as described in more detail in this report, the IOM has a long history of involvement in vaccine safety. The IOM published its first

FOREWORD

major vaccine-safety report in 1977, followed by a subsequent report in 1988; both focused on the safety of polio vaccines. Two subsequent major reports, published in 1991 and 1994, examined the adverse events of childhood vaccines. Since then, the IOM has conducted several smaller studies and workshops focused on various vaccine-safety topics. These studies were all well received by both the public and policy makers, and previous IOM committees on vaccine safety issues have been viewed as objective and credible.

Given the sensitive nature of the present immunization safety review study, the IOM felt it was especially critical to establish strict criteria for committee membership. These criteria prevented participation by anyone with financial ties to vaccine manufacturers or their parent companies, previous service on major vaccine-advisory committees, or prior expert testimony or publications on issues of vaccine safety.

The rationale for imposing these stringent criteria was twofold. First, given growing public concern about vaccine safety and the public scrutiny surrounding this committee's work, it was important to establish standards that would preclude any real or perceived conflict of interest or bias on the part of the committee members. While the committee members all share a belief in the benefits of vaccines to the public health, none of them has any vested interest in any of the vaccine safety issues that will come before them. Second, the IOM wanted to ensure consistency in the committee membership and avoid having members recuse themselves from the deliberations because they had participated in the development or evaluation of a vaccine under study.

Thus, the IOM has convened a distinguished panel of 15 members who possess significant breadth and depth of expertise in a number of fields, including pediatrics, neurology, immunology, internal medicine, infectious diseases, genetics, epidemiology, biostatistics, risk perception and communication, decision analysis, public health, nursing, and ethics. The committee members were chosen because they are leading authorities in their respective fields, are well respected by their colleagues, and have no conflicts of interest. This committee brought a fresh perspective to these critically important issues and approached its charge with impartiality and scientific rigor.

The IOM does not propose the use of the criteria it has laid out above in selecting members for federal vaccine advisory committees. The IOM committee was convened for a very different purpose from the usual federal vaccine advisory committees and, as such, required different standards.

As with all reports from the IOM, the committee's work was reviewed by an independent panel of experts. The purpose of the review process is to enhance the clarity, cogency, and accuracy of the final report and to ensure that the authors and the IOM are creditably represented by the report published in their names. The report review process is overseen by the National Research Council's (NRC) Report Review Committee (RRC), comprised of approximately 30 members of the National Academy of Sciences, National Academy of Engi

FOREWORD

neering, and IOM. The IOM, in conjunction with the RRC, appoints a panel of reviewers with a diverse set of perspectives on key issues considered in the report. Unlike the selection criteria for committee membership (discussed above), many reviewers will have strong opinions and biases about the report topic. The composition of the review panel is not disclosed to the committee until after the report is approved for release. While the committee must consider and evaluate all comments from reviewers, it is not obligated to change its report in response to the reviewers' comments. The committee must, however, justify its responses to the reviewers' comments to the satisfaction of the RRC's review monitor and the IOM's review coordinator. A report may not be released to the sponsors or the public, nor may its findings be disclosed, until after the review process has been satisfactorily completed and all authors have approved the revised draft.

This report represents the unanimous conclusions and recommendations of that dedicated committee whose members deliberated a critical health issue. The report's conclusions and recommendations should be of value to all concerned about these important matters.

Kenneth I.Shine President, Institute of Medicine

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

xii

Acknowledgments

The committee would like to acknowledge the many speakers and attendees at its open meeting held on July 16 in Boston. The discussions were informative and helpful. The committee would also like to thank those people who have submitted information to the committee through the mail or e-mail. Finally, the committee would like to thank the IOM staff for their dedication to this project. Without their commitment, attention to detail, creativity, sensitivity, and hard work, this project would be unworkable.

CONTENTS

xiii

Contents

	Executive Summary	1
	Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders	19
	Origins of the Immunization Safety Review Project	20
	The Charge to the Committee	22
	The Study Process	23
	The Framework for Assessing Causality	23
	Under Review: Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines and	27
	Neurodevelopmental Disorders	
	Plausibility Assessment	38
	Causality Argument	65
	Significance Assessment	66
	Recommendations Regarding the Public Health Response	75
	Summary	82
	References	86
Appendix A		95
Appendix B		107
Appendix C		111
Appendix D		117

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained.

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

CONTENTS

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained. and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original ypesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

Executive Summary

1

Immunization to protect infants and children from vaccine-preventable diseases is one of the greatest achievements in public health. The use of vaccines is not without risks, however. It is well established, for example, that vaccines sometimes cause anaphylactic shock, and that the oral polio vaccine can on rare occasions cause paralytic polio. Given the widespread use of vaccines, state mandates requiring vaccination of children for entry into school or daycare, and the importance of ensuring that trust in immunization programs is justified, it is essential that immunization-safety concerns receive assiduous attention.

Thimerosal, an organic mercury compound that is metabolized to ethylmercury and thiosalicylate, has been used since the 1930s as a preservative in some vaccines and pharmaceutical products to prevent bacterial and fungal contamination. In 1999, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) determined that under the recommended childhood immunization schedule, infants might be exposed to cumulative doses of ethylmercury that exceed some federal safety guidelines established for exposure to methylmercury, another form of organic mercury (Ball et al., 2001). The methylmercury exposure limits calculated by these agencies are not limits above which injury is certain to occur. Rather, they should be interpreted as general levels of exposure below which there is confidence that adverse effects will be absent. As a precautionary measure that was part of a public health effort to minimize exposure of infants and children to mercury, a joint statement was issued in July 1999 by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the U.S. Public Health Service (PHS) recommending removal of thimerosal from vaccines as soon as possible (CDC, 1999a). The statement also recommended a temporary

suspension of the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine for children born to low-risk mothers until a thimerosal-free alternative became available. With the licensure of a thimerosal-free hepatitis B vaccine in August 1999 (CDC, 1999b), at least one formulation of each vaccine on the recommended childhood immunization schedule for children age six years or younger was available without thimerosal. With the FDA approval of a thimerosal-free version of DTaP vaccine in March 2001, all formulations of vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule that are given to children six years of age or younger are available thimerosal-free in the United States (CDC, 2001a).

2

Because evidence suggests that exposure to mercury and mercurial compounds can affect the nervous system, it remains important to resolve whether or not the past presence of thimerosal in some vaccines could have caused neurodevelopmental problems. Moreover, thimerosal remains in use in many countries, which continue to depend on multi-dose supplies of vaccine that currently are protected by thimerosal from microbial contamination.

In this report, the Immunization Safety Review committee examines the hypothesis of whether or not the use of vaccines containing the preservative thimerosal can cause neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), specifically autism, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and speech or language delay. Autism is a complex, severe developmental disorder characterized by impairments of social interaction, communication, and behavior. ADHD is a behavioral disorder characterized by persistent patterns of inattention and/or hyperactivity. Speech or language delay refers to several disorders characterized by significant impairments in vocabulary and difficulty in forming sentences, comprehending words or sentences, or forming age-appropriate speech sounds.

The Institute of Medicine's Immunization Safety Review Committee is responsible for examining a broad variety of vaccine-safety concerns. Committee members have expertise in pediatrics, neurology, immunology, internal medicine, infectious diseases, genetics, epidemiology, biostatistics, risk perception and communication, decision analysis, public health, nursing, and ethics. While all the committee members share the view that vaccination is beneficial, none of them has a vested interest in the vaccine-safety issues that come before the group.

For each immunization-safety hypothesis to be examined, the committee has been asked by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to assess both its scientific plausibility and the significance of the issue in a broader societal context. The *plausibility assessment* has two components: (1) an examination of any pathogenic mechanism(s) relevant to the hypothesis, often referred to as biological plausibility; and (2) an examination of the evidence regarding a possible causal relationship between the vaccine and any adverse events, often referred to as causality. The *significance assessment* addresses such considerations as the nature of the health risks associated with the vaccine-preventable disease(s) and with the adverse event(s) in question. The findings of the plausibility and significance assess

ments provide the basis for the committee's recommendations on *public health response*, including immunization-policy review, current and future research, and effective communication strategies.

In its review, the committee considered both published and unpublished reports and data. The committee acknowledges that its approach differs from the state of the art for evidence-based reviews of clinical practices in medicine, which does not include consideration of unpublished or non-peer-reviewed information (U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 1996). However, the Immunization Safety Review Committee was convened specifically to assess topics of immediate and usually intense concern. In some cases, the committee's review will take place when data are only beginning to emerge. Thus, given the unique nature of this project, the committee thought it was important to review and consider unpublished information. The committee did not perform primary or secondary analyses of unpublished data, however. In general, the committee cannot rely heavily on unpublished data in making its plausibility assessment because the studies have not been subjected to a rigorous peer review process and therefore must be interpreted with caution. (All unpublished data reviewed by the committee and cited in this report are available in the form reviewed by the committee through the public access files of the National Academy of Sciences, 202-334-3543, national-academies.org/publicaccess.)

PLAUSIBILITY ASSESSMENT

Biological Plausibility

Thimerosal contains 49.6% mercury by weight. Upon administration of thimerosal, its metabolite ethylmercury quickly dissociates from thiosalicylic acid and binds to blood or other tissue. The toxicological profile of ethylmercury from thimerosal is thought to be similar to that of ethylmercury from other sources (Magos, 2001; Suzuki et al., 1963, 1973). At high doses, mercury and mercuric compounds, including thimerosal, ethylmercury, and methylmercury, are well-established as nephro- and neuro-toxicants (ATSDR, 1999; EPA, 1997; NRC, 2000). The data regarding toxicity of low doses of thimerosal and ethylmercury are very limited, and only delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions have been demonstrated. Prenatal exposure to low doses of methylmercury, however, has been associated in some studies with subtle neurodevelopmental abnormalities (EPA 1997).

The hypothesis that thimerosal exposure through the recommended childhood immunization schedule has caused neurodevelopmental disorders is not supported by clinical or experimental evidence because:

 low-dose thimerosal exposure in humans has not been demonstrated to be associated with effects on the nervous system,

- neurodevelopmental effects have been demonstrated for prenatal but not postnatal exposures to low doses of methylmercury,
- the toxicological information regarding ethylmercury, particularly at low doses, is limited,
- thimerosal exposure from vaccines has not been proven to result in mercury levels associated with toxic responses,
- signs and symptoms of mercury poisonings are not identical to autism, ADHD, or speech or language delay,
- autism is thought primarily to originate from prenatal injury, and
- there is no evidence that ethylmercury causes any of the pathophysiological changes known to be associated with autism, such as genetic defects, and there are no well-developed pathological markers of ADHD or delay of speech or language that could be compared to effects of ethylmercury on the nervous system.

The information related to biological plausibility is indirect because:

- high-dose thimerosal exposures are associated with neurological damage,
- an extensive toxicological and epidemiological literature establishes methylmercury, a close chemical relative, as a toxicant to the developing nervous system,
- some children who received the maximum number of thimerosal-containing vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule had exposures to ethylmercury that exceeded some estimated limits of exposure based on federal guidelines for methylmercury intake, and
- some children could be particularly vulnerable or susceptible to mercury exposures due to genetic or other differences.

The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

Causality

There are no published, controlled epidemiological studies bearing directly on the question of whether or not thimerosal-containing vaccines could cause neurodevelopmental disorders. Two unpublished epidemiological studies were presented to the committee. The first study was a controlled epidemiological study that tested the hypothesis that certain neurodevelopmental disorders are related to exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines. The study was based on data from the Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD)—a large linked database that includes vaccination, clinic, hospital-discharge, and demographic data. The VSD, formed as a partnership between CDC and seven health maintenance organiza

tions (HMOs), was initiated in 1991 and covers approximately 2.5 percent of the U.S. population.

5

The study was conducted in two phases. Phase I was designed to screen data for potential associations between thimerosal-containing vaccines and selected outcomes. Phase II was designed to test the hypotheses generated in the first phase. Both phases were designed as retrospective cohort studies, but the study populations differed.

Preliminary results of the Phase I analysis produced statistically significant but weak associations (relative risk ratios < 2.00 per 12.5 µg increment of mercury) between various cumulative exposures to thimerosal-containing vaccines and the following neurodevelopmental diagnoses: unspecified developmental delays; tics; attention deficit disorder; language and speech delay; and general neurodevelopmental delays. No association was found between exposures to thimerosal and other neurological disorders, including autism, or renal disorders (Stehr-Green, 2000, 2001). Re-analyses of the Phase I data were presented at the IOM committee's meeting in July 2001, showing positive but weak associations (relative risk ratios < 2.00) with several neurodevelopmental diagnoses (Verstraeten, 2001). Although the detailed results of the re-analysis differ slightly from the original analysis, the magnitude of the associations was generally consistent with those in preliminary analysis.

The Phase II study population provided a sufficient number of cases for analysis of only two of the outcomes, ADHD and speech delays. The Phase II analysis, however, identified no significant differences in risk with the receipt of thimerosal-containing vaccines and these two outcomes; however, the small sample size limited the power of the study to detect a small effect, if it exists (Stehr-Green, 2001; Verstraeten, 2001). The committee concludes that the Phase I and II VSD analyses are inconclusive with respect to causality.

The only other epidemiological analysis presented to the committee is an unpublished ecological analysis of rates of autism during the period of increased exposures to thimerosal through the recommended childhood immunization schedule (Blaxill, 2001). Absent other controlled epidemiological analyses, ecological data are usually noncontributory to causality assessments. The case reports found in the Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS) were uninformative with respect to causality.

Thus the committee concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between exposure to thimerosal from vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. The committee's conclusion is based on these factors:

- The available case reports are uninformative with respect to causality.
- There are no published epidemiological studies examining the potential association between thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders.

• The unpublished and limited epidemiological studies provide only weak and inconclusive evidence regarding the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines may lead to certain neurodevelopmental disorders.

SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT

Even though vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule that are manufactured today and given to children six years of age or younger do not contain thimerosal as a preservative, the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines may be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders remains of public health significance.

First, the diseases against which thimerosal-containing vaccines were directed—diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib), and hepatitis B—are serious infectious diseases that can lead to significant morbidity and mortality. It is imperative that immunizations continue against these and other serious vaccine-preventable diseases. It is also important to understand whether or not past vaccine use has increased the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, which affect a large number of children and impose a significant burden on those children, their families, and society.

Second, understanding the risks of thimerosal is important because of its continued use in other vaccines and biological and pharmaceutical products. Some vaccines that are not recommended for all children, but may be given to special populations (e.g., diphtheria-tetanus toxoid [DT], influenza), still contain thimerosal as a preservative. In addition, an unknown quantity of thimerosal-containing Hib vaccine, hepatitis B, and the acellular pertussis vaccine (DTaP), which are on the recommended childhood immunization schedule, are still on the shelf and being used by providers.

Third, while the World Health Organization (WHO) supports the U.S. decision to remove thimerosal, many countries still depend on it in their multidose supplies of vaccines. Reasons include the proven benefits of thimerosal as a preservative, the proven benefits of immunization, and the practical constraints related to the worldwide removal of thimerosal, such as the lack of alternative preservatives for multi-dose vials and increased costs and cold chain requirements associated with the introduction of single-dose vials (WHO, 2000).

In addition, lessons can be learned from the decisionmaking process surrounding the policy changes on hepatitis B immunization. Within two months of the AAP/PHS recommendation to suspend the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccination for children born to low-risk mothers, the CDC announced the availability of a new thimerosal-free hepatitis B vaccine and recommended resumption of routine hepatitis B vaccination of all newborns (CDC, 1999b). Several studies suggest that the two major policy changes within three months were misunderstood by some providers and may have had negative effects on hepatitis B newborn immunizations (CDC, 2001b; Hurie et al., 2001; Oram et al., 2001). The

confusion that resulted among some providers suggests not that the policy decision was fundamentally flawed, but that improvements could be made in the formulation and communication of vaccine policies regarding uncertain risks.

Finally, concerns related to the potential adverse effects of thimerosalcontaining vaccines and continued use of thimerosal in some vaccines have the potential to erode trust in immunization and can lead to declines in immunization rates. The presence of mercury in some vaccines can raise doubts about the entire system of ensuring vaccine safety, and late recognition of the potential risk of thimerosal in vaccines may contribute to a perception among some that careful attention to vaccine components has been lacking.

There are no data that elucidate how much, if any, mercury exposure from all sources contributes to the prevalence of autism, ADHD, or speech or language delay. Thus, it is not possible to predict whether or not removing thimerosal from vaccines will reduce the prevalence of these neurodevelopmental disorders. There is no reason to believe, however, that removing thimerosal exposure by switching to preservative-free single dose vials of vaccine will pose a risk to children's health. It is possible that replacing thimerosal with a less effective preservative in multi-dose vials could increase risk to children's health. It is also likely that decreased immunization rates due to fears about the risks of thimerosal could increase the risk of serious and even fatal vaccine-preventable diseases.

PUBLIC HEALTH RESPONSE

It is important to resolve whether or not children might have experienced neurodevelopmental disorders because of an unrecognized incremental mercury burden from thimerosal, given the responsibility for assuring the safest vaccines possible. Therefore, the committee sees significant reasons for continued public health attention to concerns about thimerosal exposure and neurodevelopmental disorders:

- The committee has found inadequate evidence to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders. Although the available evidence is indirect and incomplete, and the relationship is not established, it is biologically plausible. Because thimerosal was used in millions of vaccines doses over several decades, it is important that additional research be done to understand the nature of the risk, if any, from this exposure to thimerosal.
- There is a need for more evidence on the risks and benefits associated with thimerosal-containing vaccines and biological and pharmaceutical products in use in the United States and elsewhere.
- As concerns continue to emerge about other vaccines it is likely that policymakers will again be faced with the need to consider action regarding vaccine

safety in the face of great uncertainty, as they were with thimerosal. It is critical that policymakers be better prepared to handle these concerns.

• It is important to do everything possible to restore, maintain, and build trust in vaccines.

The committee provides recommendations in three areas of public health response: policy review and analysis, public health and biomedical research, and communications.

Policy Review and Analysis

The committee supports prior decisions by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), and the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) to call for the removal of thimerosal from vaccines. Fortunately, technology was available to the manufacturers in this country to do so in a timely manner. Vaccine manufacture is a complex process, and the committee understands that to remove a constituent, reformulate and repackage a vaccine, and receive FDA approval in a short time is no small feat.

The committee was unable to conclude, however, from the existing evidence whether thimerosal does or does not cause neurodevelopmental disorders. In the United States, thimerosal has been removed from most vaccines and some biological products to which infants, children, and pregnant women are exposed. Although mercury exposures from currently available thimerosal-containing products may not exceed estimated exposure limits for methylmercury derived from federal guidelines, further action to remove thimerosal from all vaccines and other biological and pharmaceutical products might be warranted to ensure that exposures to thimerosal do not contribute to combined mercury exposures that could exceed guidelines for safe exposure. This is consistent with the precautionary principle (Goldstein, 2001; Kriebel and Tickner, 2001), which states that "when an activity raises threats of harm to human health or the environment, precautionary measures should be taken even if some cause and effect relationships are not fully established scientifically." Finally, these actions could do a great deal to simplify decision-making by clinicians and parents regarding the use of vaccines, other biologicals, or pharmaceuticals without potentially compromising the health of the child. A decision not to remove thimerosal from other products in the United States should be based on an assessment of the risks and benefits which demonstrate that action is unwarranted. Risk-benefit assessments conducted on U.S. populations might not be valid for other populations and caution should be exercised when generalizing these recommendations to other countries.

An unknown number of thimerosal-containing DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B vaccine doses are still on the shelves. Given that alternatives are now available, the committee recommends the use of the thimerosal-free DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B vaccines in the United States, despite the fact that there might be

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

remaining supplies of thimerosal-containing vaccine available. The committee could not explore the mechanisms by which this could be accomplished. However, the committee is concerned that, because of meeting schedules and other requirements—for example, the development of official statements on this issue by advisory groups such as the Red Book Committee of the AAP or the ACIP—action might be delayed. Other mechanisms might be available: "Dear Doctor" letters could be sent for instance, or existing supplies could be bought back from providers by vaccine makers or the CDC (in the case of doses purchased for the Vaccines for Children program).

The removal of thimerosal as a preservative from vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule does not eliminate exposure to thimerosal from the other vaccines, such as DT or influenza, that some infants, pregnant women receive. and Therefore, the committee children. recommends that full consideration be given by appropriate professional societies and government agencies to removing thimerosal from vaccines administered to infants, children, or pregnant women in the United States. However, the committee draws attention to the recent recommendation of the ACIP that high-risk children and women beyond their first trimester of pregnancy during the influenza season should be vaccinated. The ACIP states "because pregnant women are at increased risk for influenza-related complications and because a substantial safety margin has been incorporated into the health guidance values for organic mercury exposure, the benefit of influenza vaccine outweighs the potential risks for thimerosal" (CDC, 2001c).

Thimerosal is also present in some pharmaceuticals, such as nasal sprays, used by infants, children, and pregnant women. The committee is unaware of risk assessments of thimerosal in pharmaceutical products, nor is it aware of the status of research into alternative preservatives. However, it seems prudent that alternatives to thimerosal in these products be explored and, if risk analyses suggest a need to do so, be used. **Therefore, the committee recommends that appropriate professional societies and government agencies review their policies about the non-vaccine biological and pharmaceutical products that contain thimerosal and are used by infants, children, and pregnant women in the United States.** This recommendation is consonant with a recent statement by the Committee on Environmental Health of the American Academy of Pediatrics that advocated reducing mercury exposure in children (Goldman and Shannon, 2001).

As the immunization schedule becomes more complex, and as vaccine safety concerns continue to emerge, it is likely that the public health community, medical professionals, and vaccine manufacturers will again be faced with the need to consider action regarding vaccine safety in the face of great uncertainty and of theoretical—rather than demonstrated—risks. The committee recommends that policy analyses be conducted that will inform these discussions in the future.

- First, the committee recommends a review and assessment of how public health policy decisions are made under uncertainty, in order to develop suggestions to improve the decisionmaking process about vaccines in the future. These studies might consider factors such as who should bear the costs of added safety and the impact of decisions on trust in the vaccine or health care system.
- In addition, the committee recommends a review of the strategies used to communicate rapid changes in vaccine policy, and it recommends research on how to improve those strategies.

Public Health and Biomedical Research

The committee recommends a diverse public health and biomedical research portfolio. This will be most effective if it involves several different agencies (thus maximizing resources), provides some findings fairly quickly, and utilizes a variety of approaches. These recommendations for additional research, some of which are underway or in development by CDC, NIH, FDA, universities, and vaccine manufacturers could support evidence-based decisions in other countries regarding whether or not to continue using thimerosalcontaining vaccines. While the United States chose to remove thimerosal as a precautionary measure and because it was feasible to do so, the committee understands that practical considerations and an assessment of the risks and benefits in other countries may lead those countries to reach different conclusions regarding continued use of thimerosal in vaccines. Research should be designed to accommodate the switch to non-thimerosal-containing products as soon as it is beneficial change formulations. Specific recommendations to on epidemiological, clinical, and basic science research are as follows:

Epidemiological Research

- The committee recommends case-control studies examining the potential link between neurodevelopmental disorders and thimerosal-containing vaccines. These studies should include multiple cognitive outcomes, including autism. In addition, because thimerosal poisonings were associated with adverse renal effects, renal outcomes should also be included in the epidemiological, clinical, and basic science studies of thimerosal exposure recommended in this report. Although there are many challenges that will arise in planning and conducting these studies (e.g., appropriate control group selection, conducting a retrospective assessment of mercury exposure from other sources), the committee believes that multiple case-control studies are an efficient approach for seeking answers to the causality questions.
- The committee is aware of several cohorts of children who did not receive thimerosal-containing doses as part of clinical trials conducted in other countries of the acellular pertussis vaccine, DTaP. The committee recommends further

analysis of neurodevelopmental outcomes in these populations. Although the exposure levels to thimerosal in these children are lower than exposure levels in the United States, these cohorts have the powerful analytic benefit of randomized assignment to the vaccine exposure of interest.

- The removal of thimerosal from vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule in the United States presents a unique opportunity to study whether this change affected rates of neurodevelopmental disorders in children. The committee recommends conducting epidemiological studies that compare the incidence and prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders before and after the removal of thimerosal from vaccines.
- The committee recommends an increased effort to identify the primary sources and levels of prenatal and postnatal exposure to thimerosal (e.g., Rho (D) Immune Globulin, which is given to Rhnegative mothers during pregnancy) and other forms of mercury (e.g., maternal consumption of fish) in infants, children, and pregnant women. Studies of background levels of exposure to mercury may identify populations or quantify the number of children at higher risk for mercury toxicity.

The committee is aware of the planning under way for a two-stage follow-up study (Phase III) to the findings from the Phase I and II VSD studies. Three issues loom large regarding the proposed Phase III study: feasibility, resources, and technical study design issues. The committee has reservations about such an ambitious and therefore resource-intensive study. It will be a few years until results and meaningful analyses are available. In addition, the power of the study to detect small relative risks is limited. The proposed Phase III study could be contributory for future causality assessments, but would best be undertaken as part of an overall package of research.

Clinical Research

- Better understanding of the pharmacokinetics of ethylmercury would have greatly facilitated the risk assessment of thimerosal in vaccines. The committee recommends research on how children, including those diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders, metabolize and excrete metals—particularly mercury. Studies of proteins known to be associated with metal metabolism, such as glutathione and metallothionein, could be undertaken.
- The committee recommends continued research on theoretical modeling of ethylmercury exposures, including the incremental burden of thimerosal on background mercury exposure from other sources.
- The committee is aware of several specialized pediatric practices that use chelation therapy (which mobilizes and removes heavy metals from bodily tissue) to treat autistic children; these practitioners report unusual metal profiles in their patients as well as clinical improvement following chelation therapy. Che

12

lation therapy has not been established to improve renal or nervous system symptoms of chronic mercury toxicity (Sandborgh Englund et al., 1994). Moreover, chelation therapy is not without risks; for example some chelation therapies might cause the release of mercury from soft-tissue stores, thus leading to increased exposure of the nervous system to mercury (Wentz, 2000). Given that chelation therapy is not a benign treatment, **the committee recommends careful, rigorous, and scientific investigations of chelation when used in children with neurodevelopmental disorders, especially autism.** Although studies of chelation would not be able to link excreted metal specifically with vaccine exposure, and therefore would not contribute to causality assessments, it is important to pursue these uncontrolled clinical observations in order to establish an evidence base for appropriate therapeutic uses of chelation.

Basic Science Research

- Many countries continue to use thimerosal-containing vaccines given the proven benefits of thimerosal as a vaccine preservative for many years and the benefits of continued immunization. Complete risk assessments have not been done for other countries that would indicate the need to switch to thimerosal-free vaccines. However, the committee recommends research to identify a safe, effective, and inexpensive alternative to thimerosal for countries that decide they need to switch.
- Comparative animal studies of the toxicity of ethylmercury and methylmercury are limited, although teratological effects of methylmercury in rodents and primates is well established. The committee recommends research in appropriate animal models on neurodevelopmental effects of ethylmercury. These would help elucidate the comparability and validity for ethylmercury of the risk assessments based on methylmercury.

Communications

The committee identified three specific impediments to effectively communicating the risks and benefits of thimerosal-containing vaccines to parents and practitioners. First, the different exposure levels in the federal guidelines and the lack of evidence on ethylmercury, have made for complicated and possibly confusing messages about the risks of using thimerosal-containing vaccines. Second, finding information about thimerosal-containing vaccines on federal agency websites is difficult. Third, information about vaccine risks on government websites contains words, such as "should," that may be perceived as judgmental by some. Using words that are less directive and prescriptive is important in effectively communicating vaccine risks (NRC, 1989).

As the committee noted in its previous report (IOM, 2001), there are broad and recurring communication concerns in various vaccine safety issues. The

committee has not attempted to address these issues here, but will examine them in a separate, more general context.

SUMMARY

Mercury is a known neurotoxicant. Little is known about ethylmercury (the active component in thimerosal) compared to methylmercury. However, the committee believes that the effort to remove thimerosal from vaccines was a prudent measure in support of the public health goal to reduce the mercury exposure of infants and children as much as possible. The committee urges, in fact, that full consideration be given to removing thimerosal from any biological or pharmaceutical product to which infants, children, and pregnant women are exposed.

The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

The committee also concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal exposures from childhood vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. The limited and unpublished epidemiological data constitute weak and inconclusive evidence regarding causality. However, because thimerosal remains in vaccines in other countries and in biological and pharmaceutical products in the United States, and because it is important to restore and maintain trust in vaccines, the committee believes that continued public health attention must be paid to this issue in the form of policy review and analysis, public health and biomedical research, and improved communication the committee's strategies. Box ES-1 summarizes conclusions and recommendations.

BOX ES-1 COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

CONCLUSIONS

The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

The committee also concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal exposures from childhood vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay.

PUBLIC HEALTH RESPONSE RECOMMENDATIONS *Policy Review and Analysis*

The committee recommends the use of the thimerosal-free DTaP, Hib, hepatitis B vaccines in the United States, despite the fact that there might be remaining supplies of thimerosal-containing vaccine available.

The committee recommends that full consideration be given by appropriate professional societies and government agencies to removing thimerosal from vaccines administered to infants, children, or pregnant women in the United States.

The committee recommends that appropriate professional societies and government agencies review their policies about the non-vaccine biological and pharmaceutical products that contain thimerosal and are used by infants, children, and pregnant women in the United States.

The committee recommends that policy analyses be conducted that will inform these discussions in the future.

The committee recommends a review and assessment of how public health policy decisions are made under uncertainty.

The committee recommends a review of the strategies used to communicate rapid changes in vaccine policy, and it recommends research on how to improve those strategies.

Public Health and Biomedical Research

The committee recommends a diverse public health and biomedical research portfolio.

Epidemiological Research

The committee recommends case-control studies examining the potential link between neurodevelopmental disorders and thimerosal-containing vaccines.

The committee recommends further analysis of neurodevelopmental disorders in cohorts of children who did not receive thimerosal-containing doses as part of a clinical trial of DTaP vaccine.

The committee recommends conducting epidemiological studies that compare the incidence and prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders before and after the removal of thimerosal from vaccines.

The committee recommends an increased effort to identify the primary sources and levels of prenatal and postnatal background exposure to thimerosal (e.g., Rho (D) Immune Globulin) and other forms of mercury (e.g., maternal consumption of fish) in infants, children, and pregnant women.

Clinical Research

The committee recommends research on how children, including those diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders, metabolize and excrete metals—particularly mercury.

The committee recommends continued research on theoretical modeling of ethylmercury exposures, including the incremental burden of thimerosal with background mercury exposure from other sources.

The committee recommends careful, rigorous, and scientific investigations of chelation when used in children with neurodevelopmental disorders, especially autism.

Basic Science Research

The committee recommends research to identify a safe, effective, and inexpensive alternative to thimerosal for countries that decide they need to switch from using thimerosal as a preservative.

The committee recommends research in appropriate animal models on the neurodevelopmental effects of ethylmercury.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original ypesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

REFERENCES

- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). 1999. Toxicological Profile for Mercury (Update).
- Ball LK, Ball R, Pratt RD. 2001. An assessment of thimerosal use in childhood vaccines. *Pediatrics* 107(5):1147–1154.
- Blaxill M. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Rising Incidence of Autism: Association with Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 1999a. Thimerosal in vaccines: A joint statement of the American Academy of Pediatrics and the Public Health Service. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 48(26):563–565.
- CDC. 1999b. Availability of hepatitis B vaccine that does not contain thimerosal as a preservative. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 48(35):780–782.
- CDC, 2001a. Notice to Readers: Update on the Supply of Tetanus and Diphtheria Toxoids and of Diptheria and Tetanus Toxoids and Accellular Pertussis Vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 50(10):189–190.
- CDC. 2001b. Impact of the 1999 AAP/USPHS joint statement on thimerosal in vaccines on infant hepatitis B vaccination practices. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*
- CDC. 2001c. Prevention and control of influenza. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 50(RR-4).
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1997. Mercury Study Report to Congress: Volume 1 Executive Summary EPA 452/R-97–003. Washington, D.C.: EPA.
- Goldman LR, Shannon MW, Committee on Environmental Health. 2001. Technical report: Mercury in the environment: Implications for pediatricians. *Pediatrics* 108(1):197–205.
- Goldstein BD. 2001. The precautionary principle also applies to public health actions. *Am J Public Health* 91:1358–1361.
- Hurie MB, Saari TN, Davis JP. 2001. Impact of the joint statement by the American Academy of Pediatrics/U.S. Public Health Service on thimerosal in vaccines on hospital infant hepatitis b vaccination practices. *Pediatrics* 107(4):755–758.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). 2001. Immunization Safety Review: Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine and Autism. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Kriebel D, Tickner J. 2001. Reenergizing public health through precaution. *Am J Public Health* 91:1351–1355.
- Magos L. 2001. Review on the toxicity of ethylmercury, including its presence as a preservative in biological and pharmaceutical products. J Appl Toxicol 21(1):1–5.
- NRC (National Research Council). 1989. Improving Risk Communication. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- NRC (National Research Council). 2000. *Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Oram RJ, Daum RS, Seal JB, Lauderdale DS. 2001. Impact of recommendations to suspend the birth dose of hepatitis B virus vaccine. *JAMA* 285:1874–1879.
- Sandborgh Englund G, Dahlqvist R, Lindelof B, Soderman E, Jonzon B, Vesterberg O, Larsson KS. 1994. DMSA administration to patients with alleged mercury poisoning from dental amalgams: A placebo-controlled study. J Dent Res 73(3):620–628.
- Stehr-Green PA. 2000. Summary and Conclusions: Review of Vaccine Safety Datalink Information on Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines. *Rapporteur's Report of National Immunization Program, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.*

- Stehr-Green PA. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Protocol for National Immunization Program Study on Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Suzuki T, Miyama T, Katsunuma H. 1963. Comparative study of bodily distribution of mercury in mice after subcutaneous administration of methyl, ethyl, and n-propyl mercury acetates . *Japan J Exp Med* 33(5):277–282.
- Suzuki T, Takemoto T, Kashiwazaki H, Miyama T. 1973. Metabolic fate of ethylmercury salts in man and animal. Miler MW, Clarkson TW, Editors. *Mercury, Mercurials and Mercaptans*. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. 1996. *Guide to Clinical Preventive Services*. 2nd ed. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins.
- Verstraeten T. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD) Screening Study and Follow-Up Analysis with Harvard Pilgrim Data: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Wentz PW. 2000. Chelation therapy: Conventional treatments. Advance/Laboratory. Available on www.advance for AL.com.
- WHO (World Health Organization). 2000. Thiomersal as a vaccine preservative. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec* 75(2):12–16.

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AN NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

Immunization Safety Review:

Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Immunization to protect infants and children from vaccine-preventable diseases is one of the greatest achievements in public health. The use of vaccines is not without risks, however. It is well established, for example, that the oral polio vaccine can on rare occasion cause paralytic polio, that some influenza vaccines have been associated with a risk of Guillain-Barré syndrome, and that vaccines sometimes cause anaphylactic shock. In recent years, the number of concerns regarding the safety of immunizations seems to have increased. Given the widespread use of vaccines, state mandates requiring vaccination of children for entry into school or daycare, and the importance of ensuring that trust in immunization programs is justified, it is essential that these safety concerns receive assiduous attention.

The Immunization Safety Review Committee was established by the Institute of Medicine (IOM) to evaluate the available evidence on a series of immunization safety concerns in order to present conclusions and recommendations regarding possible causal associations between vaccines and certain adverse outcomes. The committee's task also includes assessing the broader significance for society of these immunization safety issues.

In this report, the committee examines the hypothesis of whether or not the use of vaccines containing the preservative thimerosal can cause neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), specifically autism, attention deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and speech or language delay. Thimerosal, an organic mercury compound that is metabolized to ethylmercury and thiosalicylate, has been used since the 1930s as a preservative in some vaccines. Food and Drug Administra

20 NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

tion (FDA) regulations require that preservatives be used in multidose vials of vaccines, except live viral vaccines, to prevent bacterial and fungal contamination (General Biologics Product Standards, 2000), which can lead to serious illness and death in recipients (Wilson, 1967). In addition to its use as a preservative, thimerosal is used as an inactivating or bacteriostatic agent in the manufacturing process for some vaccines. Uses other than as a preservative contribute little to the final concentration of thimerosal in vaccines (Ball et al., 2001). In this report, when the committee refers to thimerosal-free vaccines, it includes vaccines that contain only traces of thimerosal (<0.5 µg Hg per dose) left over from the manufacturing process.

In 1999, FDA determined that under the recommended childhood immunization schedule, infants might be exposed to cumulative doses of ethylmercury that exceed some federal safety guidelines established for ingestion of methylmercury, another form of organic mercury (Ball et al., 2001). In July 1999, the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the U.S. Public Health Service (PHS) issued a joint statement recommending the removal of thimerosal from vaccines as soon as possible (CDC, 1999a). The statement also recommended a temporary suspension of the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine for children born to low-risk mothers until a thimerosal-free alternative became available. With the licensure of a thimerosal-free hepatitis B vaccine in August 1999 (CDC, 1999c), at least one formulation of each vaccine on the recommended childhood immunization schedule for children age six years or younger was available without thimerosal. With the FDA approval of a thimerosal-free version of DTaP vaccine in March 2001, all formulations of vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule that are given to children six years of age or younger are available thimerosal-free in the United States (CDC, 2001a).

These actions do not, however, reduce the importance of trying to resolve whether the past presence of thimerosal in some vaccines could have caused neurodevelopmental problems in some children. Moreover, thimerosal remains in use in many other countries, which continue to depend on multi-dose supplies of vaccine that must be protected from microbial contamination.

ORIGINS OF THE IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW PROJECT

The federal government has responded to concerns about the safety of vaccines through several mechanisms. In 1986, Congress passed the National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act (Public Law 99-660), followed by the Vaccine Compensation Amendments of 1987 (Public Law 100-203). This legislation mandated the establishment of the National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program and the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS), a national passive surveillance system. The legislation also provided for the development of vaccine-information statements for parents of children receiving immuniza

21 NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

tions. These activities are managed by three agencies of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS): the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the FDA, and the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). The compensation program is jointly administered by HRSA and the Department of Justice.

The legislation also called for IOM to review evidence regarding possible adverse consequences of childhood immunizations. Three expert committees convened by IOM produced the reports Adverse Effects Following Pertussis and Rubella Vaccines (IOM, 1991a), Adverse Events Associated with Childhood Vaccines: Evidence Bearing on Causality (IOM, 1994a), and DPT Vaccine and Chronic Nervous System Dysfunction: A New Analysis (IOM, 1994b). Following the completion of the third study, IOM was asked to organize the Vaccine Safety Forum to provide a framework for continued discussion of vaccine safety issues. Forum participants included representatives of government agencies, advocacy groups, and pharmaceutical companies, as well as parents, health care providers, academic researchers, and IOM staff. Forum discussions, on topics such as research strategies and risk communication, were documented in brief reports (IOM, 1996, 1997a,b) but were not intended to produce conclusions or recommendations.

In 1995 and 1997, in response to the findings and recommendations of Adverse Events Associated with Childhood Vaccines: Evidence Bearing on Causality (IOM, 1994a), the Secretary of HHS updated the Vaccine Injury Table, a list of post-vaccination events that must be reported to DHHS and that are covered by the National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program. Also in 1995, the National Vaccine Advisory Committee (NVAC) of the National Vaccine Program Office of DHHS added a Vaccine Safety Subcommittee to its efforts. In 1999, this subcommittee expanded its scope and was renamed the Vaccine Safety and Communication Subcommittee. Concern over cases of vaccine-associated paralytic poliomyelitis prompted another CDC committee-the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices-to recommend in 1997 that the immunization schedule be changed to replace oral poliovirus vaccine with inactivated poliovirus vaccine (CDC, 2000a).

Since the mid-1990s, additional challenges to the safety of vaccinations have gained attention in various settings. From 1999 through mid-2001, the Committee on Government Reform of the U.S. House of Representatives held eight hearings on vaccine safety issues. The media have covered these issues on news programs such as 60 Minutes, 20/20, and Nightline, and the Internet is an increasingly important communication channel. Also, many consumer and professional organizations have sponsored conferences and scientific symposia to address vaccine safety concerns.

Given these growing concerns, CDC and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) recognized the need for an independent, expert group to address vaccine safety in a timely and objective manner. In 1999, as a result of IOM's previous work and its access to independent scientific experts, CDC and NIH began a
year of discussions with IOM to develop the Immunization Safety Review project to address vaccine safety issues both existing and emerging.

THE CHARGE TO THE COMMITTEE

The Immunization Safety Review Committee is responsible for examining a broad variety of vaccine safety concerns. Committee members have expertise in pediatrics, neurology, immunology, internal medicine, infectious diseases, genetics, epidemiology, biostatistics, risk perception and communication, decision analysis, public health, nursing, and ethics. While all the committee members share the view that vaccination is beneficial, none of them has a vested interest in the vaccine safety issues that will come before the group. Additional discussion of the committee composition can be found in the Foreword, written by Dr. Kenneth Shine, President of the IOM.

The committee is charged with examining three vaccine safety hypotheses each year during the three-year study period (2001–2003). The Interagency Vaccine Group—made up of officials from the National Vaccine Program Office at DHHS, the National Immunization Program and the National Center for Infectious Diseases at the CDC, the National Institute for Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the NIH, the Department of Defense, the FDA, the National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program at HRSA, the Health Care Financing Administration, and the Agency for International Development—selects the hypotheses to be examined by the committee. For each of these, the committee reviews relevant literature and submissions by interested parties, and it holds an open scientific meeting followed directly by a one- to two-day closed meeting to formulate its conclusions and recommendations. The committee's findings are released to the public in a brief consensus report 60–90 days after its meeting.

For each hypothesis to be examined, the committee has been asked to assess both the scientific plausibility of the issue and its significance in a broader societal context. The *plausibility assessment* has two components: an examination of any pathogenic mechanism(s) relevant to the hypothesis (also known as biologic plausibility), and an examination of the evidence regarding a possible causal relationship between the vaccine and the adverse event. The *significance assessment* addresses such considerations as the nature of the health risks associated with the vaccine-preventable disease and with the adverse event in question. Other considerations may include the perceived intensity of public or professional concern, or the feasibility of additional research to help resolve scientific uncertainty regarding causal associations.

The findings of the plausibility and significance assessments provide the basis for the committee's recommendations on *public health response*, which includes immunization policy review, current and future research, and effective communication strategies for the specific immunization safety questions. Although the committee has been asked to make recommendations related to immunization

policy, there are clear limits on this element of the charge. For example, it would exceed the committee's authority to recommend a change in the licensure, scheduling, or administration of a vaccine. If the committee concluded that the scientific evidence or other important factors justified such action, it could recommend convening the appropriate advisory group(s) to examine the question.

THE STUDY PROCESS

The committee held an initial organizational meeting in January 2001. CDC and NIH presented the committee's charge at the meeting, and the committee conducted a general review of immunization safety concerns and determined its methodology for assessing causality. This approach would be used for the hypotheses to be considered at subsequent meetings. A website (www.iom.edu/ imsafety) and a listserv were created to facilitate communication with the committee and provide the public access to information about its work. The committee's first report, *Immunization Safety Review: Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine and Autism* (IOM, 2001), is summarized in Appendix A.

To evaluate the hypothesis on thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders, the committee collected information from several sources. An extensive review was performed of the published, peer-reviewed scientific and medical literature pertinent to the hypothesis. A request was also sent through the project's listserv for information regarding specific adverse outcomes that may be related to thimerosal exposure and the biological mechanisms that may explain their hypothesized relationship; the committee reviewed the resulting submissions. In addition, a scientist was commissioned to prepare written answers to questions from the committee regarding the toxicity of ethylmercury (Magos, 2001a). This document was made available on the project's website for public review, and critiques of the answers were reviewed during the committee's deliberations. (The committee emphasizes that the commissioned material does not represent the views of the committee, only those of the author.)

At an open scientific meeting in July 2001 (see Appendix B), academic and independent researchers, scientists from federal agencies, and representatives of child-health and vaccine-safety advocacy groups gave presentations and offered comments. The formal presentations reviewed the knowledge regarding thimerosal-containing vaccines and the toxicology of ethyl- and methylmercury. Unpublished data shared with the committee through presentations and personal communications helped inform the committee's conclusions and recommendations.

THE FRAMEWORK FOR ASSESSING CAUSALITY

The Immunization Safety Review Committee has adopted the framework for assessing causality developed by the committees previously convened by the IOM (1991a, 1994a) to address questions of vaccine safety. Assessments begin

from a position of neutrality regarding the specific vaccine safety hypothesis under review. That is, there is no presumption that a specific vaccine (or vaccine component) does or does not cause the adverse event in question. The weight of the available evidence determines whether it is possible to shift that neutral position toward causality ("the evidence favors acceptance of a causal relationship") or away from causality ("the evidence favors rejection of a causal relationship"). The committee does not conclude that the evidence favors rejecting causality merely if the evidence toward causality is inadequate. Table 1 describes the five categories that summarize the direction and strength of the evidence for causality. The table shows the differences in the wording of the causality categories in the 1991 and 1994 IOM vaccine safety reports. The wording was revised in the 1994 report because the IOM had found that some people misinterpreted the 1991 language. The types and strength of evidence required to determine a specific level of causal association were the same for the two reports. The Immunization Safety Review Committee is using the wording adopted in 1994.

The sources of evidence considered by the committee in its plausibility assessment include epidemiological studies, reports of individual cases or series of cases, and studies related to biological plausibility. Epidemiological studies carry the most weight in a causality assessment; these studies measure healthrelated exposures or outcomes in a defined sample of subjects and make inferences about the values of those exposures or outcomes, or the associations among them, in the population from which the study sample was drawn. Epidemiological studies can be categorized as observational (survey) or experimental (clinical trial), and as uncontrolled (descriptive) or controlled (analytic). Among these various study designs, experimental studies generally have the advantage of random assignment to exposures and therefore carry the most weight in assessing causality. Uncontrolled observational studies are important but are generally considered less definitive than controlled studies.

Case reports and case series are reviewed, although they are generally inadequate by themselves to establish causality. Despite the limitations of case reports, the causality argument for at least one adverse event (the relationship between vaccines containing tetanus toxoid and Guillain-Barré syndrome) was strengthened most by a single, well-documented case report on recurrence of the adverse event following re-administration of the vaccine, a situation referred to as a "rechallenge" (IOM, 1994a).

Evidence regarding biological plausibility is also reviewed. Biological plausibility exists on a spectrum, ranging from not plausible to established. The committee has not developed a formal rating system for biological plausibility, because an agreed upon hierarchy of evidence required for assessments of biological plausibility does not exist, nor does an associated terminology (Weed and Hursting, 1998). Individual researchers and organizations discuss this concept differently. It is generally agreed, however, that biological plausibility is a

25

domain of intellectual and research inquiry, requires less stringent standards than proof-of-principle for exploring ideas and possible connections, is usually in itself insufficient to warrant huge investments in research and development, and is clearly insufficient to describe inferences of causality. While evidence regarding biological plausibility can never prove causality, it can be used to support other kinds of evidence and is useful for generating hypotheses, which might be addressed by additional research. Proof-of-principle in biomedical research is a more stringent standard by which a biological relationship is judged sufficiently strong to conclude with certainty that agent A (protein, cell, drug, or the like) can lead to result B (biochemical reaction, cell function, symptom relief, or the like). Such conclusions may serve as the foundation upon which subsequent research seeking to test causality is based. Conclusions about causality have been discussed in other sections of the report and require evidence from human studies. This evidence is, with only rare exceptions, a body of consistent and well-controlled epidemiological research.

Published reports that have been subjected to a rigorous peer review process carry the most weight in the committee's assessment. Unpublished data and other reports that have not undergone peer review have value, and they are often considered by the committee; they could be used, for example, in support of a body of published literature with similar findings. If the committee concluded that the unpublished data were well described, had been obtained using sound methodology, and presented very clear results, the committee could report, with sufficient caveats in the discussion, how those data fit with the entire body of published literature. But only in extraordinary circumstances could an unpublished study refute a body of published literature. In general, the committee cannot rely heavily on unpublished data in making its plausibility assessment because they have not been subjected to a rigorous peer review process, and therefore must be interpreted with caution.

The committee acknowledges that its approach differs from the state of the art for evidence-based reviews of clinical practices in medicine, which does not include consideration of unpublished or non-peer-reviewed information (U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, 1996). However, the Immunization Safety Review Committee was convened specifically to assess topics that are usually of immediate and intense concern. In some cases, the committee's review will take place when data are only beginning to emerge. Thus, given the unique nature of this project, the committee thought it was important to review and consider unpublished information. The committee did not perform primary or secondary analyses of unpublished data, however. In reviewing unpublished material, the committee applied generally accepted standards for assessing the quality of scientific evidence, as described above. (All unpublished data reviewed by the committee through the public access files of the National Academies, 202–334–3543, www.national-academies.org/publicaccess.)

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

26

TABLE 1 Summary Categories and Levels of Evidence Regarding C	Causality
---	-----------

Category	IOM, 1991a	IOM, 1994a	Level of Evidence
1	No evidence	No evidence	No case reports or
	bearing on a causal	bearing on a causal	epidemiological studies
_	relation	relation	identified.
2	Evidence	The evidence is	One or more case reports
	insufficient to	inadequate to	or epidemiological
	indicate a causal	accept or reject a	studies were located, but
	relation	causal relation	the evidence for the
			causal relation neither
			outweighs nor is
			outweighed by the
			evidence against a causal
3	Evidence does not	The evidence	relation.
3	indicate a causal	favors rejection of a	Only evidence from epidemiological studies
	relation	causal relation	can be used as a basis for
	Telation	causal relation	possible rejection of a
			causal relation. Requires
			a rigorously performed
			epidemiological study (or
			meta-analysis) of
			adequate size that did not
			detect a significant
			association between the
			vaccine and the adverse
			event.
4	Evidence is	The evidence	The balance of evidence
	consistent with a	favors acceptance	from one or more case
	causal relation	of a causal relation	reports or
			epidemiological studies
			provides evidence for a
			causal relation that
			outweighs the evidence
-		T T1 1	against such a relation.
5	Evidence indicates a	The evidence	Epidemiological studies
	causal relation	establishes a causal	and/or case reports
		relation	provide unequivocal
			evidence for a causal
			relation.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

27

UNDER REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

The Immunization Safety Review committee examined the hypothesized causal relationship between exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), specifically autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. Thimerosal contains 49.6% mercury by weight. At high doses, mercury and mercuric compounds—including thimerosal, its metabolite ethylmercury, and methylmercury—are well- established nephro- and neurotoxicants (ATSDR; 1999; EPA, 1997; NRC, 2000). The data regarding the toxicity of low doses of thimerosal and ethylmercury are very limited, and only delayed hypersensitivity reactions have been demonstrated. Prenatal exposure to low doses of methylmercury, however, has been associated with subtle neurodevelopmental abnormalities (EPA, 1997).

Thimerosal in Vaccines

Thimerosal, also known as thiomersal, has been used as a preservative in some vaccines and other biological and pharmaceutical products since the 1930s. FDA regulations require the use of preservatives in multi-dose vials of vaccines to prevent fungal and bacterial contamination (General Biologics Products Standards, 2000). Until 1999, thimerosal was present in over 30 vaccines licensed and marketed in the United States, including some of the vaccines administered to infants for protection against diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib), and hepatitis B (see Table 2, Figure 1, and Appendix C). Prior to 1991, the only thimerosal-containing vaccine that was recommended for all infants was the whole-cell pertussis vaccine (DTP).¹ In 1991, Hib and hepatitis B vaccines were also recommended for all infants (CDC, 1991a; CDC, 1991b).² Inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) and live viral vaccines, such as measles-mumps-rubella (MMR), varicella, and oral polio vaccine (OPV) do not contain, and have never contained, thimerosal (AAP, 1999; FDA, 2001).

The potential significance of the thimerosal content of these vaccines was identified through a FDA risk assessment that was called for by the FDA Modernization Act of 1997 (FDAMA) (Ball et al., 2001). Specifically, FDAMA required that FDA compile a list of drugs and foods that contain intentionally introduced mercury compounds, and provide a quantitative and qualitative analysis of the mercury compounds in the list (Section 413(a) Pub L. 105–115).

¹ Acellular pertussis vaccines (DTaP) replaced whole-cell pertussis (DTP) vaccines on the recommended schedule in the 1990s. Infanrix, the first thimerosal-free DTaP vaccine (produced by Glaxo-Smith Kline) was licensed in 1997 (CDC, 1997).

² Only one Hib vaccine that was given to children 6 months or younger contained thimerosal (Appendix C; AAP, 1999).

In December 1998 and April 1999, FDA requested information from U.S. vaccine manufacturers about the thimerosal content of their vaccines.

28

TABLE 2 Estimated Exposure to Mercury from Vaccines in U.S. Infants in 1999 an	ıd
in 2001. (` 6 Months)	

Vaccines	1999 Maximum	2001 Maximum
	Mercury Dose (µg)	Mercury Dose (µg)
3 doses of DTaP	75.0	0
3 doses of Hep B	37.5	0
3 doses of HIB	75.0	0
3 doses of IPV	0	0
[1 dose of influenza] *	[12.5]	[12.5]
(selected populations)		
TOTAL	187.5 [200]	[12.5]
Estimated Exposure to Mer-	cury from Vaccines in U.S. II	nfants in 1999 and in 2001. (< 2
Years)	-	
Vaccines	1999 Maximum	2001 Maximum
	Mercury Dose (µg)	Mercury Dose (µg)
4 doses of DTaP	100	0
3 doses of Hep B	37.5	0
4 doses of HIB	100	0
3 doses of IPV	0	0
[3 doses of influenza] *	[37.5]	[37.5]
(selected populations)		
TOTAL	237.5 [275]	[37.5]

SOURCE: AAP, 1999, FDA 2001.

As a result of their review, FDA scientists determined that under the recommended childhood immunization schedule (see Figure 1), infants could receive a cumulative dose of mercury from vaccines as high as 187.5 µg during the first 6 months of life, depending on the specific vaccines and administration schedule used. A 2-year-old could receive as much as 237.5 µg of mercury. Some high-risk children may also receive the influenza vaccine, increasing the maximum cumulative dose to approximately 200 µg in the first 6 months and 275 µg in the first 2 years of life (see Table 2).

The maximum cumulative doses of mercury from vaccines in the first six months and two years of life were then compared to estimated cumulative limits for mercury exposure based on guidelines of the Environmental Protection

Vaccinemomosmosmosmosmoswrsyrs <t< th=""><th>timemomosmosmosmoswrsyrsHep B#1Hep B#2Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 02.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0250250250250250MRMR1a,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1a,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1b,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1b,A/hMARMARMAR1b,A/hA/hA/hA/h1b,PCVPCVPCVPCV1b,PCVPCVPCVPCV1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/h<!--</th--><th>momosmosHep B #1$Hep B #1$$EtHg = 12.5/0$$EtHg = 12.5/0$$EtHg = 25/0$$Hib$$Hib$$Hig = 25/0$$25/0$$Hig = 25/0$$PCV$$PCV$</th><th>mos DTaP 25/0 HIb 25/0 25/0</th><th>mos mos Hep B#3 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV</th><th>2</th><th></th><th></th><th>yrs 5/25</th></th></t<>	timemomosmosmosmoswrsyrsHep B#1Hep B#2Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3Hep B#3EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 12.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 02.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 01a,EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0EHg = 2.5 / 0250250250250250MRMR1a,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1a,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1b,PCVPCVPCVPCVPCV1b,A/hMARMARMAR1b,A/hA/hA/hA/h1b,PCVPCVPCVPCV1b,PCVPCVPCVPCV1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/hA/h1b,A/hA/h </th <th>momosmosHep B #1$Hep B #1$$EtHg = 12.5/0$$EtHg = 12.5/0$$EtHg = 25/0$$Hib$$Hib$$Hig = 25/0$$25/0$$Hig = 25/0$$PCV$$PCV$</th> <th>mos DTaP 25/0 HIb 25/0 25/0</th> <th>mos mos Hep B#3 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV</th> <th>2</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>yrs 5/25</th>	momosmosHep B #1 $Hep B #1$ $EtHg = 12.5/0$ $EtHg = 12.5/0$ $EtHg = 25/0$ Hib Hib $Hig = 25/0$ $25/0$ $Hig = 25/0$ PCV PCV	mos DTaP 25/0 HIb 25/0 25/0	mos mos Hep B#3 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV	2			yrs 5/25
Hep B #1Hep B #1Ether B #1Hep B #3Ether = 12.5 / 0Hep B #3Ether = 12.5 / 0DrapDrapEther = 12.5 / 0DrapEther = 25.0Ether = 25.0SinceEther = 25.0Ether = 25.0DrapEther = 25.0Ether = 25.0SinceEther = 25.0DrapEther = 25.0Ether = 25.0Ether = 25.0SinceEther = 25.0SinceEther = 25.0Ether = 25.0Ether = 25.0SinceEther = 25.0SinceEth	Hep IBHep B#1Hep B#1Hep B#3Ettgs = 12.5 / 0Ettgs = 12.5 / 0Ettg = 12.5 / 0Ettg = 12.5 / 0Diphtheria, Tetamus, 	Hep B #1Hep B #1EtHg = 12.5/0EtHg = 12.5/0S1DtaPDTaPB1 $BtHg = 25/0$ $25/0$ Nace $BtHg = 25/0$ $25/0$ Nace $BtHg = 25/0$ $25/0$ LedIPVIPVLedPCVPCV	DTaP EtHg = 25/0 HIIb 25/0	Hep B #3 EtHg = 12.5/0 BtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV		DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV		222
Ethg = 12.5 / 0Hep B #3Hep B #3Hep B #2Hep B #2Hep B #3Ethg = 12.5 / 0DTaPDTaPEthg = 25/0Ethg = 25/0DTaP25/0Ethg = Ethg = Ethg = Ethg = 25/0Ethg = 25/025/0Ethg = Ethg = Ethg = 25/0Ethg = 25/025/0Ethg = Ethg = Ethg = 25/0Ethg = 25/025/0TPVHibHibHibHibMMRMMR $coccalPCVPCVPCVPCVPCVPCVPCVNarMMRMARMMR$	Elife = 12.5 /0Hep B.4.2Hep B.4	EHLE = 12.5 / 0Hep B #2Hep B #2Hep B #2EHLE = 12.5 / 0EHLE = 12.5 / 0Bitting = 12.5 / 0Bitting = 12.5 / 0SignatureBitting = 12.5 / 0SignatureSignatureBitting = 12.5 / 0SignatureSignatureBitting = 12.5 / 0SignatureBitting = 12.5 / 0Bitting = 12.5 / 0 <tr< td=""><td>DTaP Bittg = 25/0 Hilb 25/0 25/0</td><td>Hep B #3 EtHg = 12.5/0 BtHg = 25/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV</td><td></td><td>DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV</td><td></td><td>5/25</td></tr<>	DTaP Bittg = 25/0 Hilb 25/0 25/0	Hep B #3 EtHg = 12.5/0 BtHg = 25/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV		DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV		5/25
Hep B#2Hep B#3Hep B#3EtHg = 12.5/0EtHg = 12.5/0DTaPEtHg = 12.5/0DTaPDTaPBitlg = 250EtHg = 250EtHg = 250250EtHg = 250EtHg = 250110HibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibEtHg = 250EtHg = 250250EtHg = 250250EtHg = 25010HibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibHibIPVIPVNorPCVPCVPCVPCVPCVNarMMRNarHip </td <td>Hep B#2Hep B#2Hep B#3Hep B#3EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 25.00Hep B#3Pertussis ' Tetamus, Tet</br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></td> <td>Hep B #2EtHg = 12.5 / 0Bithg = 12.5 / 0S1$DtaP$Bithg = 25/0$25/0$Bithg = 25/0$25/0$Lithg = 25/0$25/0$</td> <td>DTaP EtHg = 25/0 HIIb 25/0 25/0</td> <td>Hep B #3 EtHg = 12.5/0 DTaP DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV</td> <td>8</td> <td>DTaP EtHg = 25/0 1PV</td> <td></td> <td>222</td>	Hep B#2Hep B#2Hep B#3Hep B#3EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 12.570Diphthetia, EHg = 25.00Hep B#3Pertussis ' Tetamus, 	Hep B #2EtHg = 12.5 / 0Bithg = 12.5 / 0S1 $DtaP$ Bithg = 25/0 $25/0$ Bithg = 25/0 $25/0$ Lithg = 25/0 $25/0$	DTaP EtHg = 25/0 HIIb 25/0 25/0	Hep B #3 EtHg = 12.5/0 DTaP DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV	8	DTaP EtHg = 25/0 1PV		222
Ethe = 125/0Ethe = 125/0Ethe = 125/0Ethe = 125/011DiaPDTaPDTaPDTaPDTaP11Ethe = 250250025002500250011HibHibHibHibHib11225002500250025002500112Ethe = Ethe = Ethe = Ethe = 250010001000112HibHibHibHibHib112Ethe = Ethe = 2500250025002500112IPVIPVIPVIPV112PCVPCVPCVPCV12PCVPCVPCVPCV13PCVPCVPCVPCV14HibHibHib15HibHibHib16PCVPCVPCV17HiPHiP18HiPHiP19HiPHiP19HiPHiP10HiPHiP112HiPHiP112HiPHiP112HiPHiP112HiPHiP113HiPHiP114HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiPHiP114HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiPHiP115HiP115H	InductionEntry Term DrapDrap 	EtHg = $12.5/0$ ria, $DtaP$ $DtaP$ $DTaP$ $BHg =$ $EHg =$ $25/0$ $25/0$ $25/0$ $25/0$ $25/0$ $25/0$ $1PV$ IPV IPV IPV te^3 PCV PCV PCV	DTaP EtHg = 25/0 EtHg = 25/0	EtHg = 12.5/0 EtHg = 12.5/0 Hib EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV	8	DTaP EtHg = 25/0 IPV		525
ria,DtaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =DTaP EtHg =31 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 2500 $EtHg = 2500$ 110 110 ted $11V$ $1V$ $1V$ $11V$ 110 110 ted $1PV$ $1PV$ $1PV$ $1PV$ $1PV$ ted $1PV$ $1PV$ $1PV$ $1PV$ ted $1PV$ $1PP$ <t< td=""><td>Dipliciteria, TettoriasDiar Ettig = Ettig = Ettig = Ettig = Etti</br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></br></td><td>ria, DtaP DTaP Billg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 inzae EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 ted IPV IPV PCV PCV te³</td><td>DTaP BiHg = 25/0 Hilb EiHg = 25/0</td><td>EtHg = 25/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV</td><td>9</td><td>DTaP <i>EtHg</i> = 25/0 1PV</td><td>ž</td><td>\$25</td></t<>	Dipliciteria, TettoriasDiar Ettig = Ettig = 	ria, DtaP DTaP Billg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 inzae EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 ted IPV IPV PCV PCV te ³	DTaP BiHg = 25/0 Hilb EiHg = 25/0	EtHg = 25/0 EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV	9	DTaP <i>EtHg</i> = 25/0 1PV	ž	\$25
EHB = 25/0 EHB =	Celamus, Ethysic	81 EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 11 EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 11PV IPV 11 PCV PCV	EiHg = 25%	EtHe = 2 EtHe = 25/0 IPV PCV	89	EiHg = 25/0 1PV		5/25
$ \begin{array}{c cccc} & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $	FertussisEffige 250 250 250 250 $EffigeEffideEff$	¹ 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 (11) 25/0 25/0 25/0 (11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11) 11)	$\begin{array}{c c} 25\% \\ \text{Hib} \\ \text{EtHg} = \\ 25\% \\ 25\% \\ 10\% \\ $	Hib EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV		25%		5/25
Incace Hib Hib Hib Hib Hib Hib Hib Hib $EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0$ 25/0 $25/0$ $25/0$ $1PV$ IPV	I. Influencace Hib	Inzae Hib h	Hib EtHg = $25/0$	Hib EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV		IPV		
ted EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 $25/0 = 25/0 = 25/0$ $Drv = Prv = Pr$	ype B³ $EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = EtHg = 25/0nactivated170nactices170nactices$	EtHg = EtHg = 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 25/0 PCV PCV PCV	E(Hg = 25/0	EtHg = 25/0 IPV PCV		IPV		
ted IPV IPV IPV IPV IPV IPV IPV V PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV V V PCV V V V V	nactivated IPV IPV IPV IPV IPV releance "neumococcal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV onjugate ³ "neumococcal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV numps,	ted 25/0 22/0 22/0 1PV 1PV 1PV 1e ³		IPV PCV		IPV		
ted IPV IPV IPV Occal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV AMR	nactivated IPV IPV IPV IPV IPV "neumococcal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV "neumococcal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV "neasles, fullying ate ' MMR MMR MMR MMR "neasles, fullying ate ' Acastes, fullying ate ' MMR MMR MMR "neasles, fullying ate ' PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV "neasles, fullying ate ' Acastes, fullying ate ' MMR MMR MMR MMR "feasles, fullying ate ' Accines are listed under routinely recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended areas of November of for children through 18 years. Additional vaccines and of coreside and recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended areas of the oritiden through 18 years. Additional vaccines and the commended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended areas as a cor	ted IPV IPV coccal PCV PCV a 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3		IPV PCV		IPV		
coccal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV V Var	Interimococcal PCV PCV PCV PCV PCV Donjugate ³ Donjugate ³ MMR MMR MMR MMR Ateasles, functional ³ Mumbs ³ MMR MMR MMR MMR Atumps ³ Attributed at a state ³ MMR MMR MMR MMR Atumps ³ Attributed at a state ³ MMR MMR MMR MMR Attributed at a state ³ Astricella ³ Attributed at a state ³ Indicate vaccines at a state ³ Attributed at a state ³ Attributed at a state ³ Astributed at a state ³ Attributed at a state ³ Indicate vaccines at o for outline administration of currently licensed childhood vaccines as of November ³ Some Hib vaccines at of November ⁴ Astributed at a state ⁴ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ ¹ Astributed at a state at a state stimated maximum EtH amount in 1999. ¹	PCV PCV		PCV				
MMR Var	Onlyngate ' Aumsk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumpk, Aumon, A			101				
MMR Var	Teastes, fumps, tubbella ³ MMR MMR MMR fumps, tubbella ³ articella ³ mMR MMR MMR articella ³ articella ³ mmn MMR MMR articella ³ the patients A ^{3,4} mmn MMR MMR articella ³ the patients A ^{3,4} mmn MMR MMR Vaccines are listed under routinely recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended ages for routine administration of currently licensed childhood vaccines as of November of forfuldren through 18 years. Additional vaccines may be licensed and recommended during the year. file patient Of formation in intalics is the estimated maximum EtHg anount in 12001(µg/0.5nL). ¹ Nover had thinterosal ¹ Nover had thinterosal ¹ Some DTP vaccines did not contain thinerosal in 1999. ³ Never had thinterosal in selected states/regions, and for certain high-risk groups.	Acasles, Aumps, tubella ³ 'aricella ³						
	Table The A MMK MMK Atumps, Item A Item A Item A Item A articella ³ articella ³ Item A Item A Item A Item A articella ³ articella ³ Item A Item A Item A Item A Item A articella ³ Item A <	tumps, tumps, atricella ³		aww			(
	The partial The part of the part	tubella ³ articella ³		VITATAI		MMK		
a ³ Var	articella ³ Var Var Var lepatitis A ^{3,4} Hep A ⁻¹ in selected areas Var Vaccines are listed under routinely recommended ages. Bars indicate range of recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended age should as a "catch-up" immunization at any subsequent visit when indicate range of recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended age should areas Vaccines are listed under routinely recommended ages for routine administration of currently licensed childhood vaccines as of November of foromation in rialicis: a the estimated maximum EtHg amount in 2001(µg/0.5nL). ¹ Some DTP vaccines did not contain thinerosal in 1999. ³ Never had thinerosal and thinerosal in selected states/regions, and for certain high-risk groups.	aricella	<u></u>)(
	Image: Contract of the second section of the section of the second section of the second section of the sectin of the section of the sectin of the sectin			Vau	T			
	Image: Contract of the second set o			Y AL			Var	
	Vaccines are listed under routinely recommended ages. Bars indicate range of recommended ages for immunization. Any dose not given at the recommended age should in as a "catch-up" immunization at any subsequent visit when indicate range of rootine administration of eurrently freeoommended doses were missed are after than recommended ministration at any subsequent visit when indicate states for routine administration of eurrently licensed childhood vaccines as of November of routine nucuph 18 years. Additional vaccines may be licensed and recommended ages for routine administration of eurrently licensed childhood vaccines as of November of forfurent line in italics is the estimated maximum EtHg amount in 2001(µg/0.5nL). Some DTP vaccines did not contain thimerosal in 1999. ² Some Hib vaccines did not contain thimerosal in 1999.	lepatitis A ***	<u>.</u>			Hep A-	in selected areas	S
	or formation in overset, starts of the stimated maximum Ettle and recommended quiring into year. I commention in intelics is the setimated maximum Ettle amount in 1990, starts the estimated maximum Ettle amount in 2001(μg/0.5mL). ¹ Some DTP vaccines did not contain thimerosal in 1999. ² Some Hib vaccines did not contain thimerosal in 1999. ³ Some Hib vaccines did not contain thimerosal in 1999.	er as a cavare p munutation at any subsequent visit when nucleased is the effect than recommended minimum age. This schedule indicates the r of the more visit of the second s	recommend	ed ages for routine admini	tration of curre	en it previousiy intly licensed ch	recommended dose ildhood vaccines as	es were mussed is of November
or as a covered minimuzation at any subsequent visit mutated and reasione. Usual mutate vactimes to be given it previously recommended doses were mussed of a reliter than recommended minimum age. This schedule indicates the recommended ages for routime administration of currently licensed childhood vaccines as of November of a reliteron through to many any advectines are of November		Information intrologies of years, Augustoliar vaccines may be necessed and Information in italics is the estimated maximum EHR amount in 1999 I former more instances and a statements of the second second second second second second second second second	10 recomments 10 versus the	nded during the year. estimated maximum EtHg	amount in 200	1(μg/0.5mL).		
an entire that recommended minimum age. This schedule indicates the recommended ages for routine administration of currently licensed childhood vaccines as of November 0 for children through 18 years. Additional vaccines may be licensed and recommended during the year. Information in italics is the estimated maximum EtHg amount in 1999 versus the estimated maximum EtHg amount in 2001 (µg/0.5nL).			Acconni	id thimerosal. Iended only in selected stat	ss/regions, and	for certain high	risk groups.	

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained,

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from CDC, 2001g; FDA, 2001).

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

30

Agency (EPA), the Agency for Toxic Substance and Disease Registry (ATSDR), the FDA, and the World Health Organization (WHO). This comparison found that six-month-olds could have received cumulative doses of mercury that exceeded the EPA limits calculated for each body-weight category, and the ATSDR limits for the lowest-weight infants who also received the influenza vaccine (see Table 3). These estimated exposure levels were a source of concern, but they did not constitute direct evidence of harm, and no other evidence of harm other than delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions was found at the time of the FDA review. FDA then sent a letter to vaccine manufacturers on July 1, 1999, requesting their plans to remove thimerosal from U.S.-licensed vaccines, or an explanation for its continued use. Also in July 1999, a joint statement was issued by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the U.S. Public Health Service (PHS), and consented to by the American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP), recommending the removal of thimerosal from vaccines as soon as possible (CDC, 1999a).

The AAP-PHS statement also recommended one temporary change in the immunization schedule: deferring the first hepatitis B vaccination from birth until two to six months of age for children born to low-risk mothers (i.e., hepatitis B-surface-antigen-negative). However, with the rapid development of single-antigen, thimerosal-free hepatitis B vaccine, which was approved in August 1999, the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) recommended in September 1999 that the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine be resumed (CDC, 1999c).

Substantial progress has been made in removing thimerosal from childhood vaccines in the United States. At this time, vaccines currently manufactured or marketed that are on the recommended immunization schedule and given to children six years of age or younger contain no thimerosal as a preservative or contain only trace amounts (<0.5 μ g Hg per dose) of thimerosal left over from the manufacturing process (CDC, 2000b). Some amounts of previously produced lots of vaccines that still contain thimerosal as a preservative, however, also remain available at present, although the amounts are unknown because it is considered proprietary information by the manufacturers. In addition, thimerosal is used as a preservative in other vaccines, such as influenza, that are given to adults and certain high-risk children. For these children, the typical cumulative dose of mercury from the influenza vaccine is 12.5 μ g at six months and 37.5 μ g by two years old. Some children are administered the diphtheria-tetanus toxoids vaccine without a pertussis component (DT), which contains 25 μ g mercury.

31

TABLE 3 Calculated Exposure Limits for Mercury, Using Various Agency Guidelines for Exposure to Methylmercury, in Infants `6 Months of Age by Percentile Body Weight

	Percentile Body Weight			
Agency	5 th	50 th	95 th	
EPA	65 µg	89 µg	106 µg	
ATSDR	194 µg	266 µg	319 µg	
FDA	259 µg	354 µg	425 µg	
WHO	305 µg	7 μg	10	
	T · · · 1 // 1		1 1.000	

• Calculate Exposure Limit=dose/kg body weight/week×average weight×26 weeks×0.932 (mercury molecular weight/methylmercury molecular weight); e.g., EPA calculated exposure limit=0.7 ug/kg body weight/week×26 weeks×(2.36kg+5.25 kg) /2×0.93=65 µg.

• Assumes average of 5th, 50th, and 95th % weight for females at birth (2.36 kg, 3.23 kg, 3.81 kg) and 6 months (5.25 kg, 7.21 kg, 8.73 kg)=3.81 kg, 5.22 kg, 6.27 kg. Females were selected because their smaller body weight makes them more susceptible than males.

• Recommended limits on methylmercury exposure: EPA: 0.1 µg/kg body weight/day; ATSDR: 0.3 µg/kg/ body weight/day; FDA: 0.4 µg/kg body weight/day; WHO 3.3 µg/kg body weight/week. For calculations, daily limits multiplied by 7 to obtain weekly limits.

NOTE: Areas were shaded by the IOM, not by the original authors of the table.

SOURCE: Ball et al., 2001. Reprinted with permission from *Pediatrics* 107:1150, Table 1, Copyright 2001.

Neurodevelopmental Disorders

In its assessment of possible neurodevelopmental effects from exposure to thimerosal in vaccines, the committee decided to focus on a few clinically defined diagnoses of NDDs rather than on markers of subclinical differences, such as psychometric test scores, that may or may not correlate well with differences in diagnosis. The specific NDDs considered by the committee were autism, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and speech or language delay. The committee selected these outcomes based on two factors. First, published reports (Grandjean et al., 1997; NRC, 2000) have associated deficits in language, attention, and memory with prenatal exposure to methylmercury. Also, unpublished epidemiological data (Verstraeten, 2001) show weak associations between diagnoses of ADHD and speech or language delay and exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines. Second, some parents and members of the medical and scientific communities have expressed concern that exposure to thimerosal in vaccines may cause autism. Complicating these hypotheses, however, is the fact that NDDs often are recognized and diagnosed only when children are old enough to have already received most of the recommended vaccinations.

32

Autism

Autism is a complex and severe developmental disorder characterized by impairments of social interaction, impairments in verbal and nonverbal communication, and restricted or repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviors and interests (APA, 1994; Filipek et al., 1999). Over time, research has identified subtle differences in the onset and progression of autistic symptoms. The term spectrum disorders" (ASD), synonymous with "autistic "pervasive developmental disorders" (PDD), refers to a continuum of related cognitive and neurobehavioral disorders that reflects the heterogeneity of these symptoms. ASD encompasses the more narrowly defined "autistic disorder" as well as childhood disintegrative disorder, Asperger's syndrome, Rett's syndrome, and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS, or atypical autism). Box 1 lists diagnostic criteria for autistic disorder.

Research has established a strong genetic component in the etiology of autism, but other factors, including infectious, neurological, metabolic, immunological, and environmental insults, may play important roles. Although the consensus of most scientific experts is that most cases of autism are caused by early prenatal exposures such as valproic acid (Moore et al., 2000) or thalidomide (Stromland et al., 1994), or are linked to early developmental genes (Ingram et al., 2000; Persico et al., 2001; Wassink et al., 2001), significant gaps still remain in our understanding of the risk factors and etiological mechanisms of ASD.

There is considerable uncertainty about the prevalence of autistic disorder and other ASDs. Two large reviews of epidemiological studies conducted outside the United States conclude that the best conservative estimate of prevalence of autistic disorder is approximately 10 per 10,000 (Fombonne, 2001b; Gillberg and Wing, 1999). This estimate does not include other categories of ASD. A recent study conducted in Britain suggests that the prevalence of autistic disorder may be higher than previously thought; this study estimated the prevalence of autistic disorder to be 16.8 per 10,000, and the prevalence of ASD to be 62.6 per 10,000 (Chakrabarti and Fombonne, 2001). Information about the prevalence of autism in the United States is limited, reflecting a lack of epidemiological research on autism in this country.

Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a behavioral disorder characterized by persistent patterns of inattention and/or hyperactivity. (In this report, the terms ADHD and Attention Deficit Disorder (ADD) are used interchangeably. ADHD is the term used in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM-IV), while ADD refers to a specific ICD-9 code (314.0) that can include hyperactivity symptoms. Such patterns must be present before a child is seven

33

BOX 1 DSM-IV CRITERIA FOR AUTISTIC DISORDER (299.0)

A. A total of at least six items from (1), (2) and (3), with at least two from (1), and one each from (2) and (3):

1. Qualitative impairment in social interaction, as manifested by at least two of the following:

- a. marked impairment in the use of multiple nonverbal behaviors such as eye-toeye gaze, facial expression, body postures, and gestures to regulate social interaction;
- b. failure to develop peer relationships appropriate to developmental level;
- markedly impaired expression of pleasure in other people's happiness, c.
- d. lack of social or emotional reciprocity.

2. Qualitative impairments in communication as manifested by at least one of the following:

- a. delay in or total lack of the development of spoken language (not accompanied by an attempt to compensate through alternative modes of communication such as gestures and mime);
- b. in individuals with adequate speech, marked impairment in the ability to initiate or sustain conversation with others;
- C. stereotyped and repetitive use of language or idiosyncratic language;
- d. lack of varied spontaneous make-believe play or social imitative play appropriate to developmental level.

3. Restricted repetitive stereotyped patterns of behavior, interests, and activities, as manifested by at least one of the following:

- a. encompassing preoccupation with one or more stereotyped and restricted patterns of interest that is abnormal either in intensity or focus;
- b. apparently compulsive adherence to specific, nonfunctional routines or rituals;
- c. stereotyped and repetitive motor mannerisms (e.g., hand or finger flapping or twisting, or complex whole body movements);
- d. persistent preoccupation with parts of objects.

B. Delays or abnormal functioning in at least one of the following areas, with onset prior to age three: (1) social interaction, (2) language as used in social communication, or (3) symbolic or imaginative play.

C. Not better accounted for by Rett's Disorder or Childhood Disintegrative Disorder.

Reprinted with permission from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition. Copyright 1994 American Psychiatric Association.

34

years old, and must cause significant interference and impairment in at least two areas of life—such as home and school, or home and work (APA, 1994). Standard diagnostic criteria for ADHD are listed in Box 2. There is currently no clinical test for diagnosing ADHD. Rather, diagnosis depends on careful observation and evaluation of the child in multiple settings. Psychometric tests, such as the Continuous Performance Test (CPT), a standard measure of attention, are often used, however, there is no relation between CPT scores alone and a diagnosis of ADHD.

The most commonly cited prevalence rate suggests that 3–5% of school-age children are affected by ADHD, making it the most commonly diagnosed behavioral childhood disorder (NIH, 1998). Boys are diagnosed with ADHD more often than girls, although the exact ratio is unclear. Three- to nine-fold differences between the sexes are reported (Eme and Kavanaugh, 1995), and sex differences are also seen in the prevalence of subtypes of ADHD (Wolraich et al., 1996b). However, prevalence of the disorder is still debated. Wolraich and colleagues (1996a) reported an increase in prevalence to 12.4% as a result of a change in diagnostic criteria in 1995. A recent review also found that prevalence varied, depending on which DSM criteria were used in evaluation (Brown et al., 2001).

Speech or Language Delay

Medical diagnostic codes (ICD-9) for speech or language delay correspond with three communication disorders described in DSM-IV, namely expressive language disorder, mixed receptive-expressive language disorder, and phonological disorder (see Box 3). Expressive language disorder is characterized by a significant impairment in vocabulary, difficulty forming sentences of developmentally appropriate length, and misuse of verb tense (APA, 1994). Mixed receptive-expressive language disorder has similar features, with additional difficulties comprehending words and sentences. Phonological disorder is characterized by difficulties in forming age-appropriate speech sounds.

Close clinical observation and standardized tests of language and intelligence are used to diagnose speech or language delay. For expressive language disorders, a child's scores are lower on tests of expressive language than they are for receptive language and intelligence. For mixed receptive-expressive language disorder, a child will score lower on tests of receptive and expressive language than on tests of nonverbal intellectual capacity (APA, 1994). These communication disorders can also be diagnosed when a child's speech development and language skills are significantly behind those of other children of the same age (Leung and Kao, 1999).

Estimates of the prevalence of speech or language delay vary, largely because of differences in terminology and diagnostic criteria used by practitioners, the subjective nature of parent and practitioner observations (Leung and Kao, 1999), and the age at which the child was evaluated. For example, 9-17% of two-year olds were reported to have a language delay, but prevalence was 1-3%

35

by age 5 (Whitehurst and Fischel, 1994). A recent review (Leung and Kao, 1999) reported speech delay for 3–10% of all children, which is consistent with additional rates reported in the literature (Boyle et al., 1994; Shriberg et al., 1999; Silva et al., 1983). The researchers also noted that speech delay affects boys three to four times more often than girls (Leung and Kao, 1999). Other researchers reported a median prevalence of speech or language delay of 6% for children aged 0–7 years, and that this prevalence had remained constant over the past 30 years (Law et al., 2000).

BOX 2 DSM-IV CRITERIA FOR ATTENTION-DEFICIT/ HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER (ADHD) (314.00, 314.01)

A. Either (1) or (2)

1. Six (or more) of the following symptoms of **inattention** have persisted for at least 6 months to a degree that is maladaptive and inconsistent with developmental level:

Inattention

- a. often fails to give close attention to details or makes careless mistakes in schoolwork, work, or other activities
- b. often has difficulty sustaining attention in tasks or play activities
- C. often does not seem to listen when spoken to directly
- d. often does not follow through on instructions and fails to finish schoolwork, chores, or duties in the workplace (not due to oppositional behavior or failure to understand instructions)
- e. often has difficulty organizing tasks and activities
- f. often avoids, dislikes, or is reluctant to engage in tasks that require sustained mental effort (such as schoolwork or homework)
- g. often loses things necessary for tasks or activities (e.g., toys, school assignments, pencils, books, or tools)
- h. is often easily distracted by extraneous stimuli
- i. is often forgetful in daily activities

2. Six (or more) of the following symptoms of **hyperactivityimpulsivity** have persisted for at least 6 months to a degree that is maladaptive and inconsistent with developmental level:

Hyperactivity

- a. often fidgets with hands or feet or squirms in seat
- b. often leaves seat in classroom or in other situations in which remaining seated is expected

C. often runs about or climbs excessively in situations in which it is inappropriate (in adolescents or adults, may be limited to subjective feelings of restlessness)

36

- d. often has difficulty playing or engaging in leisure activities quietly
- e. is often "on the go" or often acts as if "driven by a motor"
- f. often talks excessively

Impulsivity

- g. often blurts out answers before questions have been completed
- h. often has difficulty awaiting turn
- i. often interrupts or intrudes on others (e.g., butts into conversations or games)

B. Some hyperactive-impulsive or inattentive symptoms that caused impairment were present before age 7 years.

C. Some impairment from the symptoms is present in two or more settings (e.g., at school [or work] and at home).

D. There must be clear evidence of clinically significant impairment in social, academic, or occupational functioning.

E. The symptoms do not occur exclusively during the course of a Pervasive Developmental Disorder, Schizophrenia, or other Psychotic Disorder and are not better accounted for by another mental disorder (e.g. Mood Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, Dissociative Disorder, or a Personality Disorder).

Code based on type:

314.01 Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Combined Type: if both Criteria A1 and A2 are met for the past 6 months

314.00 Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Predominantly Inattentive Type: if Criterion A1 is met but Criterion A2 is not met for the past 6 months

314.01 Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder, Predominantly Hyperactive-Impulsive Type: if Criterion A2 is met but Criterion A1 is not met for the past 6 months

Reprinted with permission from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders,* Fourth Edition. Copyright 1994 American Psychiatric Association.

37

BOX 3 DSM-IV CRITERIA FOR SPEECH OR LANGUAGE DELAY (315.31 AND 315.39)

315.31 Expressive Language Disorder

- A. The scores obtained from standardized individually administered measures of expressive language development are substantially below those obtained from standardized measures of both nonverbal intellectual capacity and receptive language development. The disturbance may be manifest clinically by symptoms that include having a markedly limited vocabulary, making errors in tense, or having difficulty recalling words or producing sentences with developmentally appropriate length or complexity.
- B. The difficulties with expressive language interfere with academic or occupational achievement or with social communication.
- C. Criteria are not met for Mixed Receptive-Expressive Language Disorder or a Pervasive Developmental Disorder.
- D. If Mental Retardation, a speech-motor or sensory deficit, or environmental deprivation is present, the language difficulties are in excess of those usually associated with these problems.

315.31 Mixed Receptive-Expressive Language Disorder

- A. The scores obtained from a battery of standardized individually administered measures of both receptive and expressive language development are substantially below those obtained from standardized measures of nonverbal intellectual capacity. Symptoms include those for Expressive Language Disorder as well as difficulty understanding words, sentences, or specific types of words, such as spatial terms.
- B. The difficulties with receptive and expressive language significantly interfere with academic or occupational achievement or with social communication.
- C. Criteria are not met for a Pervasive Developmental Disorder.
- D. If Mental Retardation, a speech-motor or sensory deficit, or environmental deprivation is present, the language difficulties are in excess of those usually associated with these problems.

315.39 Phonological Disorder

- A. Failure to use developmentally expected speech sounds that are appropriate for age and dialect (e.g., errors in sound production, use, representation, or organization such as, but not limited to, substitutions of one sound for another [use of /t/ for target /k/ sound] or omissions of sounds such as final consonants).
- B. The difficulties in speech sound production interfere with academic or occupational achievement or with social communication.
- C. If Mental Retardation, a speech-motor or sensory deficit, or environmental deprivation is present, the speech difficulties are in excess of those usually associated with these problems.

Reprinted with permission from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders,* Fourth Edition. Copyright 1994 American Psychiatric Association.

PLAUSIBILITY ASSESSMENT

The Immunization Safety Review Committee undertook its review to answer the following question: What is the causal relationship between thimerosal-containing vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and speech or language delay? The sources of evidence considered by the committee in its plausibility assessment include studies of biological mechanisms, reports of individual cases or series of cases, and epidemiological studies.

Evidence Regarding Association: Biological Plausibility

Biological plausibility rests on the existence of scientifically viable mechanisms by which exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines from the recommended childhood immunization schedule could be associated with autism, ADHD, or speech or language delay. Evidence for such an association can come from demonstration of the mechanism through clinical, animal, or *in vitro* studies. The evidence regarding thimerosal is indirect and incomplete, however. There are no direct studies, in either humans or animals, of thimerosal exposures of a magnitude similar to those resulting from vaccines that would firmly establish a biological model connecting it to NDD. Only indirect evidence, from decades of study of methylmercury and from high-dose thimerosal exposures, informs biological plausibility for neurodevelopmental effects from thimerosal exposure in vaccines.

The FDA risk assessment (Ball et al., 2001) included an extensive review of the available toxicity data on thimerosal and related data on ethyl- and methylmercury. The committee also reviewed much of these data, as well as published and unpublished reports that have become available since the FDA's review in 1999. Presented here is a brief summary of data on mercury toxicity, the toxicokinetic comparability of ethylmercury and methylmercury, and the documented effects of high-dose exposures to thimerosal, ethylmercury, and methylmercury. Also examined are models of mercury accumulation and investigations related to concentrations of mercury and heavy metals in children with autism. The application of methylmercury-exposure guidelines to ethylmercury exposures resulting from the use of thimerosal-containing vaccines is discussed as well.

Mercury Toxicokinetics

Mercury occurs in inorganic and organic forms. Inorganic mercury includes elemental, or metallic mercury (Hg^0) , and the mercurous (Hg^+) and mercuric (Hg^{2+}) salts. Organic mercury, defined as mercury compounds containing carbon bonds, includes ethylmercury $(CH_3CH_2Hg^+)$ and methylmercury (CH_3Hg^+) , as well as other compounds. Mercury exposure can occur through inhalation of metallic mercury vapor, ingestion (with almost complete absorption of methyl

39

mercury), and absorption through the skin, as well as through intravenous, intramuscular, and subcutaneous injections (ATSDR, 1999; NRC, 2000). The toxicokinetic profile of mercury exposure can differ depending on the form of mercury, the route of exposure, the size of the dose, and age at exposure, but the toxicity of all mercury compounds is due to the mercury itself.

Thimerosal is a thiosalicylate salt of ethylmercury. Upon administration, ethylmercury quickly dissociates from thiosalicylic acid and binds to blood or other tissue. The toxicological profile of ethylmercury from thimerosal is thought to be similar to that of ethylmercury from other sources (Magos, 2001b; Suzuki et al., 1963, 1973).

Mercury is clearly neurotoxic and nephrotoxic. Organic mercury forms of interest, ethyl- and methylmercury, are metabolized to mercuric mercury. The effects of mercuric mercury are greatest in the kidneys, whereas the effects of organic mercury are greatest in the central and peripheral nervous systems (Aschner and Aschner, 1990). Generally, mercury is thought to induce cytotoxicity through inhibition of protein synthesis and cellular enzyme-mediated reactions, resulting in structural changes of cells, interference with cellular metabolism, and inhibition of cell migration (Clarkson, 1972). More specifically, mercuric mercury exposure can cause acute renal failure and toxicity, characterized by proteinuria, oliguria, and hematuria. Case studies have also reported congested medulla, pale and swollen cortex, extensive necrosis, and degeneration of tubular epithelium (ATSDR, 1999). Similar measures of toxicity such as necrosis of proximal tubules, proteinuria, and general renal nephropathy have been demonstrated in animal studies (ATSDR, 1999).

Comparisons of Ethylmercury and Methylmercury

The limited data on the toxicology and pharmacokinetics of thimerosal and ethvlmercurv summarized here, along are with information about methylmercury, which has been studied extensively (see ATSDR, 1999; EPA, 1997; NRC, 2000; for detailed reviews). Many features of the toxicity of ethylmercury are thought likely to be qualitatively similar to those of methylmercury (Ball et al., 2001).

Methylmercury has a whole-body half-life in the range of 70 to 80 days. The half-life of ethylmercury is not known, but may be shorter given its more rapid conversion to inorganic mercury. Methylmercury in blood appears to have a half-life of 50 days (WHO, 1990). Methylmercury is excreted primarily in feces and bile, mostly in the form of inorganic mercury (NRC, 2000). Organic and inorganic mercury complexed with glutathione are excreted in bile (Ballatori and Clarkson, 1984). Methylmercury secreted in bile undergoes subsequent reabsorption in the intestinal tract. Urinary excretion plays a minor role in the elimination of methylmercury from the body. Urinary excretion may be higher after ethylmercury due to its more rapid conversion to inorganic mercury. In general, based on studies of methylmercury in rodents (Ballatori and Clarkson,

40

1984), suckling infants do not excrete methylmercury. At weaning, the process of biliary excretion is suddenly activated.

After ethylmercury administration in mice, more total mercury has been found in the blood and kidney-compared with methylmercury-and less in the brain (Suzuki et al., 1963). Methylmercury can pass through the blood-brain barrier and into nerve cells as part of a methylmercury-cysteine complex (Kerper et al., 1992). It is unclear whether ethylmercury passes readily through the blood-brain barrier at the concentrations that result from exposure through vaccines. This may result from lack of an amino acid transport system like that available to methylmercury. Glutathione, present in high concentrations inside cells, readily binds to methylmercury and may play a protective role. Methylmercury is transported out of cells probably as a complex with glutathione, as will be discussed later. Little is known about the transport mechanisms for ethylmercury out of cells, but it probably follows those of methylmercury. Ethylmercury also is converted more rapidly than methylmercury to mercuric mercury, which does not cross the blood-brain barrier as readily as the organic compounds (Magos, 2001b). It has also been postulated that mercury has a direct toxic effect on the blood-brain barrier at high doses, making it more permeable (Aschner and Aschner, 1990).

Once present in brain tissue, organic mercury is converted into inorganic mercury. Studies have shown that ethylmercury has a significant and fast conversion to inorganic mercury and that the rate of conversion is slower for methylmercury. Suzuki and colleagues (1973) reviewed several studies and compared inorganic mercury levels in the brain after methylmercury or ethylmercury exposure. One study found that up to 75% of the total mercury in the brain was inorganic mercury three days after injection of ethylmercury or thimerosal. Other studies suggest that the percentage of inorganic mercury resulting from ethylmercury exposure is lower (11-46%). In comparison, the total mercury in the brain at one to ten days after injection of methylmercury was 2.8% (reviewed in Suzuki et al., 1973). Furthermore, the amounts of inorganic mercury in the brain increased over time following exposure to ethylmercury (Suzuki et al., 1973). The characteristics of exposure also influence the conversion rate. Studies have found a higher fraction of inorganic mercury after chronic low dosing of methylmercury than after acute exposure (Aschner and Aschner, 1990).

Upon conversion from organic mercury, mercuric mercury does not as readily cross the blood-brain barrier to move into the blood stream for elimination. Thus it is retained in the neural tissue for a longer period of time (ATSDR, 1999). However, the relative contributions of inorganic and organic mercury to neural cytotoxicity are not known at this time. It is known that methylmercury can inhibit neuronal protein synthesis and several enzymatic processes that control cell metabolism and respiration (Chang et al., 1980). Unpublished data from in vitro studies presented to the committee suggest that ethylmercury from thimerosal in vaccines binds to various neuronal cellular proteins (Haley, 2001).

41

However, because many metals bind to cellular proteins, the significance of this finding with respect to biological plausibility is unclear. Following organic mercury injection in the mature brain, distribution of mercury (reviewed in Clarkson, 1972 and Chang et al., 1980) indicates greatest retention in the calcarine cortex, frontal, temporal, and occipital cortex, cerebellum, and the spinal dorsal root ganglions. In the developing brain, methylmercury exposure leads to widespread damage, affecting virtually all areas of the brain (Clarkson, 1997).

Mercuric mercury accumulated in the kidney is bound to the protein metallothionein, which may play a protective role in renal toxicity. In the blood, ethyl- and methylmercury are bound to cysteine residues of hemoglobin and to plasma proteins (Clarkson, 1972; NRC, 2000; Takeda et al., 1968). Methylmercury exposure results in a greater ratio of mercury in the red blood cells to plasma compared with ethylmercury (reviewed in Suzuki et al., 1973). The blood-distribution ratio of organic mercury is species-dependent.

Methylmercury is avidly accumulated from the blood stream into scalp hair (for review, see WHO, 1990). The average hair to blood concentration ratio is 250:1. Once incorporated into the formed elements of the hair strand, the concentration remains unchanged. Thus, longitudinal analysis along the length of the hair strand will recapitulate previous blood levels (Amin-Zaki et al., 1976). Hair grows at an approximate rate of 1 cm per month. Thus depending on the length of the hair strand, recapitulation can take place over many months or even years. Hair is especially useful as a biological monitor for prenatal exposure as a hair sample that covers the entire period of pregnancy can be collected from the mother at or soon after delivery. Thus hair has been used as the primary biological monitor in all epidemiological studies of prenatal exposure or in one case to complement the use of cord blood (NRC, 2000). Especially important, it has recently been shown that levels in the mother's hair at delivery predict levels in autopsy brain samples from newborn infants that died of various causes (Cernichiari et al., 1995).

Organic mercury is also known to cross the placenta easily, allowing for prenatal mercury exposure. In addition, methylmercury is excreted in breast milk (Sundberg and Oskarsson, 1992; Yoshida et al., 1992).

Health Effects of High-Dose Exposures to Thimerosal, Ethylmercury, and Methylmercury

High-doses of thimerosal, ethylmercury, and methylmercury have been found to produce severe health problems. High-dose thimerosal exposures have been iatrogenic or, in one case, resulting from a deliberate use in a suicide attempt. High-dose ethylmercury poisonings have resulted from environmental and occupational exposures, with poisoning from ethylmercury-containing fungicides being frequently fatal. Methylmercury poisoning has resulted from consumption of contaminated fish and grain. Neurological effects were prominent

in all of these poisonings, and prenatal exposures to methylmercury resulted in birth defects and serious neurodevelopmental deficits. Although these exposures are at levels far higher than those resulting from vaccination, the evidence of neurotoxicity offers some support for, but does not establish, the biologic plausibility of neurotoxic effects at lower doses.

Thimerosal Exposure. Several cases of high-dose exposure to thimerosal have been reported in the literature. Six patients (age 6 weeks to 39 years), who were given intramuscular injections of improperly formulated chloramphenicol, each received 71-330 mg/kg of thimerosal-1,000 times the correct level (Axton, 1972). Symptoms were mainly neurological, including restlessness, slurred speech, hemiparesis, confusion, unsteady gait, hallucinations, and coma; five of the six patients died. An 18-month-old girl, who ingested 127 mg/kg of thimerosal (in a merthiolate solution) over a one-month period, developed ataxia, hand tremors, vomiting, staring spells, and renal and hepatic failure before dying (Rohyans et al., 1984). (Chelation therapy did not appear to be associated with clinical improvement in neurological function.) Ten of 13 infants treated with topical applications of a 0.1% tincture of thimerosal for omphaloceles (herniations of the bowel through the umbilicus) died (Fagan et al., 1977). Autopsy studies of three infants found high levels of mercury in the liver (11.8-26.6 μ g/g), the kidney (2.36–4.6 μ g/g), and the brain (0.65–5.1 μ g/g). A neurological follow-up at 10 years on a surviving patient found no abnormal focal neurological findings but included third-person reports of restlessness and easy distractibility in school.

Ingestion of 5g of thimerosal in a suicide attempt resulted in delirium, sensorimotor polyneuropathy culminating in mechanical ventilation, and coma, along with acute renal failure (which resolved after 40 days), fever, oral exanthema, and gingivitis (Pfab et al., 1996). The patient recovered completely at 148 days post-ingestion, except for sensory defects in two toes.

Toxicity was also reported in a 44-year-old male who had received approximately 20 mg of thimerosal from HBV immunoglobulin, administered intramuscularly or intravenously, after a liver transplant for end-stage liver failure due to hepatitis B, C, and D infection (Lowell et al., 1996). Beginning on the third postoperative day, the patient began developing symptoms that included paranoid thoughts, slurred speech, slowed movements, decreased muscle strength, inability to ambulate, and tremor in both hands. The patient's symptoms completely following chelation resolved in five weeks therapy with DMSA (dimercaptsuccinic acid). The diagnosis of mercury toxicity in this case has been questioned because of the brief exposure period, the absence of visual field constriction, and a blood-mercury level (104 µg/L on day nine) considered too low for the development of the symptoms described when compared with other cases (Magos, 2001b).

In contrast to these reports of high-dose thimerosal toxicity, early studies in animals and humans failed to show neurotoxic effects (Jamieson and Powell, 1931). Rabbits tolerated intravenous thimerosal doses of 25 mg/kg of body

43

weight; at higher doses, fatalities resulted from kidney and intestinal disease. In rats, the tolerated dose was 45 mg/kg body weight. A report on 22 human subjects who received total doses of up 180 ml of a 1% solution of merthiolate (10 mg/kg) noted only local skin irritation (Powell and Jamieson, 1931). However, the study was not designed to test toxicity (Ball et al., 2001).

Other Ethylmercury Exposures. Mercury poisonings occurred in Iraq from consumption of bread made from grain treated with a fungicide containing 7.7% ethylmercury p-toluene sulphonanilide (Damluji, 1962; Jalili and Abbasi, 1961). Symptoms generally occurred one to two months after consumption of the treated wheat, and patients differed in the mix and severity of their symptoms. Among the neurological symptoms seen were ataxia, difficulty in walking, speech disturbances, constriction of visual fields, and blindness. Effects were also seen on the renal system, the skin, the cardiac system, and the gastrointestinal system.

In China, similar effects were seen from consumption of rice treated with ethylmercury chloride (2-2.5%) (Zhang, 1984). Symptoms began one to two weeks following consumption of the rice and continued for several months. Common neurological symptoms included weakness, dizziness, numbness of extremities, paresthesia, ataxia, and unsteady gait. Fewer people experienced symptoms of impaired vision, coma, speech disturbance, or hand tremor. The mildest cases resulted from doses of 0.5-1 mg/kg body weight, moderate cases from 1-2 mg/kg, severe cases from 2-3 mg/kg, and lethal cases above 4.0 mg/kg body weight.

Four cases of mercury poisoning occurred in Romania from consumption of pork from animals fed seed treated with ethylmercury chloride fungicides (Cinca et al., 1980). Symptoms were similar to those seen in Iraq and China, including ataxia, dysarthria, dysphagia, increased tendon reflexes, inability to stand or walk, coma, and constricted visual fields. Autopsy results from two boys aged 10 and 15 showed the greatest nerve-cell loss and proliferation of neuroglia in the cerebral cortex, especially in the calcarine cortex, the midbrain, and the bulbar reticular formation. Demyelination was apparent in the ninth and tenth cranialnerve roots, and moderate cell loss and other lesions were found in the granular and Purkinje cells of the cerebellum. Motorneuron loss was evident in the ventral horns of the spinal cord.

Fatal ethylmercury poisoning has also resulted from a seven-week occupational exposure to ethylmercury in an insecticide factory (Hay et al., 1963). The presenting symptoms included dysarthria, ataxia, leg weakness, bilateral nerve deafness, increased reflexes, and poor coordination. At autopsy, the brain showed loss of neurons from areas of the cerebral cortex (especially calcarine cortex) and some degeneration of Purkinje and granule cells of the cerebellum. In contrast to typical findings, a greater amount of mercury was found in the brain, especially in the corpus callosum, than in the liver.

Methylmercury Exposures. Methylmercury at high doses is a welldocumented neurotoxicant (NRC, 2000). The most severe neurological effects

44

reported in humans occurred after accidental methylmercury-poisoning episodes in Japan and Iraq. Major epidemics of methylmercury poisoning occurred in Minamata and Niigata, Japan, during the 1950s and 1960s following consumption of contaminated fish and seafood, and first raised awareness of the neurological sequelae of high-dose exposures to methylmercury (Harada, 1995; Tsubaki and Irukayama, 1977). Poisoning episodes in Iraq in the 1960s and 1970s resulted from consumption of homemade bread made from grain treated with a methylmercury-containing fungicide (Bakir et al., 1973).

In adults, these high-dose exposures to methylmercury resulted in symptoms that included paresthesia, ataxia, and impairments of speech, hearing, and vision. In children exposed during fetal development, there were severe neurological dysfunctions and developmental abnormalities, including mental retardation, cerebral palsy, deafness, blindness, and dysarthria (Harada, 1995; Marsh et al., 1987; NRC, 2000). In both Japan and Iraq, the neurological effects observed in children exposed to methylmercury in utero were more serious than those observed in adults, and sometimes occurred at lower doses than in adults, indicating the increased susceptibility of the fetus to methylmercury exposure (NRC, 2000). The exposures that produced these effects were very high, and precise dose-response relationships at low doses were not established (NRC, 2000).

Health Effects of Low-Dose Exposures to Thimerosal and Methylmercury

Studies of low-dose exposures to thimerosal and methylmercury would be potentially more informative regarding the biological plausibility neurodevelopmental effects from thimerosal exposures from vaccination. The data on thimerosal are limited, however, and the studies of the effect of ingested methylmercury are not directly applicable.

Hypersensitivity Reactions to Thimerosal. Immune-mediated reactions to mercury-containing compounds are well documented in humans and in experimental animals (for reviews see Enestron and Hultman, 1995; Griem and Gleichman, 1995; Pollard and Hultman, 1997). The most common manifestation is contact allergy (i.e., delayed-type hypersensitivity), although immunecomplex-mediated disorders, such as glomerulonephritis, and immediate-type hypersensitivity (i.e. allergy) reactions have also been reported. Thimerosal can induce contact hypersensitivity responses in humans. Positive patch tests have been seen in 1-16% of individuals tested (reviewed in Cox and Forsyth, 1988). However, the frequency of clinically important contact hypersensitivity is much lower, and its significance is a matter of controversy (Ball et al., 2001).

Ethylmercury in vaccines and other pharmaceutical products may rarely cause immediate-type hypersensitivity reactions, including anaphylaxis, although conclusive proof that mercury in thimerosal is the causative component is lacking. In one case in which anaphylaxis occurred in association with hepatitis B

45

vaccine administration, a repeat challenge suggested that thimerosal was not responsible (Ball et al., 2001). Similarly, one report of laryngeal obstruction after a patient used a throat spray containing thimerosal (Maibach, 1975) might reflect the corrosive effect of mercury rather than a hypersensitivity reaction.

Acrodynia has been reported in a patient receiving gammaglobulin injections containing .01% thimerosal (Matheson et al., 1980). Acrodynia, or pink disease, occurs in a small fraction of exposed individuals, primarily children, and may represent a hypersensitivity response to mercury. It presents with a pink, pruritic skin rash, especially on the soles and palms. Other symptoms can include photophobia, irritability, and lethargy. Acrodynia is most closely associated with infants exposed to inorganic mercury in products like teething powders, which are no longer marketed. The 20-year-old patient receiving gammaglobulin had congenital agammaglobulinemia and a history of allergic reactions and sensitivity to sulphonamide drugs. He had been receiving gammaglobulin shots over the course of 15 years. It was estimated that the patient was exposed to 40-50 mg of mercury during the year in which he presented with symptoms.

Methylmercury Exposure. The lack of data on the effects of low-dose ethylmercury exposure has led those concerned about thimerosal-containing vaccines to examine studies of chronic low-dose exposures to methylmercury, occurring primarily through consumption of fish and marine mammals. The neurodevelopmental effects in children resulting from moderate to low-level prenatal and postnatal exposures to methylmercury are less clear than the serious effects seen in high-dose poisonings (see NRC, 2000 for a review of epidemiological studies).

Two large prospective cohort studies are currently under way to evaluate the more subtle endpoints of neurotoxicity resulting from low-dose prenatal exposure to methylmercury. The first study is being conducted in the Faroe Islands, in the North Sea, and the second in the Republic of the Seychelles, a nation of islands in the Indian Ocean off the coast of East Africa. In the Faroe Islands, the predominant source of mercury exposure is from consumption of pilot whale meat. In the Seychelles, mercury exposure comes from consumption of ocean fish. To date, the two studies have reached different conclusions.

The Faroe Islands study is following a cohort of approximately 1,000 children born in 1986-1987. Developmental outcomes were assessed for 917 of the children at age 7 using a battery of domain-specific neuropsychological and neurophysiological tests. Prenatal methylmercury exposure, as measured by umbilical cord blood levels, was associated with subtle neuropsychological deficits most notable in the areas of attention, memory, and language, and to a lesser extent in visuospatial and motor functions. Postnatal exposures, measured by the child's hair mercury concentration at ages 1 year and 7 years, were less useful risk predictors (Grandjean et al., 1997).

The Seychelles study is following two cohorts of children, a Pilot Study cohort (N=789) and a Main Study cohort (N=779), enrolled in 1987 and 1989,

respectively. The cohorts have been followed longitudinally and outcomes have been assessed at multiple ages. Prenatal and postnatal mercury exposures were measured in maternal hair and child hair cut at each testing, respectively. Evaluations conducted through 5.5 years of age, using global assessments, found no adverse associations between prenatal or postnatal exposure to methylmercury and childhood developmental outcomes (Davidson et al., 1995, 1998, 2000). Preliminary analyses from evaluations of pilot cohort members at age nine using domain-specific tests also show no adverse associations (Davidson et al., 2000; Myers, 2001).

The discrepant findings in these two studies may reflect differences in study design or in the characteristics of the populations examined. There were differences in exposure measures (cord blood versus maternal hair), types of neurological and psychological tests administered (domain-specific versus global developmental outcomes), the age of testing (7 years versus 5.5 years of age), possible confounders (PCB exposure or genetic differences in the populations studied), and biostatistical issues related to data analysis (NRC, 2000). Additional analyses of the Seychelle Islands data are under way and will address some of these differences (Myers, 2001).

The committee carefully considered the significance of the evidence of subtle neurological deficits from the Faroe Islands study for its assessment of the biological plausibility of a causal association between exposure to thimerosalcontaining vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. The conclusion was that those findings add indirect support to the biological plausibility of such an association but do not demonstrate a direct biological mechanism or provide evidence of causality. As was stated in the recent FDA risk assessment of thimerosal in vaccines (Ball et al., 2001), extrapolating the toxicity of methylmercury exposure to ethylmercury exposure in thimerosal-containing vaccines is problematic. Data on the comparative toxicology of ethyl- and methylmercury are limited. In addition, data on the metabolism and excretion of ethylmercury compared with methylmercury have not been well established. The comparability of the effects of chronic lowdose exposure to methylmercury via ingestion versus those of intermittent exposure to ethylmercury via intramuscular injection is unknown. The relative susceptibility of the fetus compared with the infant is also unknown. Furthermore, the neuropsychological deficits detected in the Faroe Island studies are not reliable predictors for the specific neurodevelopmental diagnoses of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay.

Investigations Related to Mercury and Heavy Metals in Children with Autism

Similarities between autism and mercury intoxication have been offered as evidence that thimerosal in childhood vaccines could cause autism (Bernard et

47

al., 2001; El-Dahr, 2001). The identified similarities include psychiatric disturbances, speech or language deficits, sensory abnormalities, motor disorders, cognitive impairments, unusual behaviors (such as head banging and sleep difficulties), physical disturbances (such as rashes, diarrhea, abnormal feeding behaviors), and biological indices (such as metal metabolism, immune system effects, CNS structure, neurochemistry, and neurophysiology). However, the analogy is weakened by differences in mechanistic understanding of some of the symptoms of mercury intoxication and of autism. For example, impaired visual fixation associated with mercury toxicity is due to problems with motor control of eye muscles. This is unrelated mechanistically to problems in joint attention associated with autism, which are most likely a problem of social reciprocity, not motor control (Tanguay, 2000). In addition, there are manifestations from ethylmercury toxicity not seen in autism, for example, polyuria, ataxia, and tremor. Analogies like these are important for hypothesis generation, but they have limited value in causality assessments.

Others have argued that thimerosal may cause autism based on the observation that some autistic children have abnormal blood-metal profiles. One method being used to indicate levels of mercury in autistic children is chelation therapy. Three unpublished reports of chelation-based estimates of mercury in autistic children were presented to the committee (Bradstreet, 2001). In one study, higher urinary mercury levels were found in autistic children than in neurologically normal children after provocation with the chelator DMSA. In a case report that also used DMSA provocation, mercury levels in an autistic boy were much more elevated than those of his mother, father, or brother. Finally, in a study of 27 autistic children in Indonesia, 70% had detectable mercury levels, with the levels in 30% of the children exceeding adult mercury levels. Some have reported improvements in functioning of autistic children after chelation therapy (Cave, 2000; Sykes, 2001).

Chelation therapy has not been established to improve renal or nervous system symptoms of chronic mercury toxicity (Sandborgh Englund et al., 1994) and has had no effect on cognitive function when used for excretion of another heavy metal, lead (Rogan et al., 2001). Because it is unlikely to remove mercury from the brain, it is useful only immediately after exposure, before damage has occurred (Evans, 1998). Moreover, chelation therapy is not without risks; for example, some chelation therapies might cause the release of mercury from softtissue stores, thus leading to increased exposure of the nervous system to mercury (Wentz, 2000). In addition, chelation therapies are not specific to one metal.

The presence of abnormal metal profiles in autistic children does not mean that the metal burden is the cause of autism. It could indicate a comorbidity between autism and an inability to handle heavy metals. Further, a favorable response to chelation therapy is not proof that the mercury levels caused the neurological dysfunction. Chelation therapy is non-specific, and the observed effects could be caused by other metals or other factors.

Application of Methylmercury Exposure Guidelines to Thimerosal Exposure from Vaccines

Concern over the use of thimerosal in childhood vaccines was originally triggered by calculations showing that vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule might result in cumulative ethylmercury exposures that exceed estimated limits of safe exposure based on some federal guidelines for methylmercury intake. Three U.S. federal agencies-EPA, ATSDR, and FDAhave developed guidelines for assessing exposure to methylmercury. The EPA is responsible for monitoring mercury concentrations in the environment and regulating industrial releases of mercury to air and surface water. The FDA is responsible for regulating commercially sold fish and seafood based on mercury concentrations. Although ATSDR does not have regulatory authority, it monitors the potential for human exposure to methylmercury and investigates reported health effects (NRC, 2000). Currently, each of the agencies has a different guideline for assessing safe exposure to mercury, and different limits of methylmercury intake, ranging from 0.1 µg/kg/day for EPA (EPA, 2001), to 0.3 µg/kg/day for ATSDR (ATSDR, 1999), to approximately 0.4 µg/kg/day for FDA (FDA, 1979).³ The differences in the agencies' recommended limits can be attributed to the use of different risk-assessment methods and uncertainty factors, variation in primary data sources, and the different mandates of each agency (NRC, 2000). Although a consensus for safe mercury exposure does not exist, all of the recommended limits are within the same order of magnitude.

The methylmercury exposure limits calculated by these agencies are not limits above which injury is sure to occur. Rather, they should be interpreted as general levels of exposure below which there is confidence that adverse effects will be absent, although the margin of safety reflected in those limits is uncertain (EPA, 1997). Definitions of the exposure measures used in the three federal guidelines are provided in Box 4.

It is important to understand the specific data and assumptions on which these guidelines are based, however, when considering the possible implications of thimerosal exposures that exceed the guidelines on methylmercury intakes. As a result, the computation of the federal guidelines is briefly reviewed here, although an in-depth discussion of the development of the guidelines is beyond the scope of this report. (The interested reader is referred to a recent review in NRC, 2000.) The estimates of the maximum mercury exposures associated with recommended childhood immunization are then compared against the recommended exposure

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

³ FDA's acceptable daily intake (ADI) of methylmercury is 30 μ g/day (FDA, 1979). FDA has never officially expressed its standard on a body weight basis. For general comparison purposes with the EPA's and ATSDR's guidelines, FDA's ADI of 30 µg/day has been converted to a $\mu g/kg/day$ basis, assuming a 70 kg average body weight, which is roughly equivalent to 0.4 µg/kg/day. Varying the assumptions about average body weight will affect the conversion.

49

limits based on the federal guidelines. Also discussed are sources of additional uncertainty that arise from the application of these methylmercury-based guidelines to ethylmercury exposures resulting from the use of thimerosal-containing vaccines.

BOX 4 DEFINITION OF MEASURES USED IN FEDERAL EXPOSURE GUIDELINES

Environmental Protection Agency Reference Dose (RfD):

An estimate (with uncertainty spanning perhaps an order of magnitude) of daily exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of deleterious effects during a lifetime (EPA, 1997, pp. 3–27).

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) Minimal Risk Level (MRL):

An estimate of daily human exposure to a hazardous substance that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of adverse noncancer health effects over a specified route and duration of exposure (ATSDR, 1999, p. 613).

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI):

An estimate of the daily intake of a chemical which, if ingested over a lifetime, appears without appreciable risk (IOM, 1991b).

Computation of Federal Guidelines for Methylmercury Exposure. Although the details differ, the basic approaches used to compute EPA's Reference Dose (RfD), ATSDR's Minimal Risk Level (MRL), and FDA's Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) are similar. Each calculation begins with a "point of departure" exposure that can be loosely interpreted as the lowest dose that has been empirically associated with a specific type of illness or injury in typical members of the population. The point of departure dose may then be divided by one or more factors that account for uncertainty or variability in the risk estimate. These factors, which are often referred to as uncertainty, adjustment, safety, or modifying factors, typically range in value from one to ten. These factors serve the same two general purposes. First, they are used to protect against the possibility that the true minimum exposure at which injury or disease occurs in typical members of the population is lower than the identified level (i.e., the point of departure dose). Second, they are used to protect the health of "sensitive" members of the population, who could for either pharmacokinetic reasons (more of the active agent is delivered to the target tissue per unit exposure) or pharmacodynamic reasons (the tissue reacts to a greater extent per unit of the active agent delivered), be adversely affected at a lower level than the level at which typical members of the population are adversely affected. Dividing by factors that exceed one makes the resulting standard more stringent or protective. Thus, for example, if it is suspected that another uninvestigated

50

health effect might occur at exposure levels ten times lower than the effect used to compute the point of departure, the point of departure can be divided by a factor of ten. Similarly, if it is suspected that sensitive members of the population are adversely affected at an exposure level one-third as great as the level of exposure at which typical members of the population are adversely affected, the point of departure can be divided by a factor of three.

To set its RfD of 0.1 μ g/kg/day for methylmercury intake, EPA originally used findings from a study of 81 children in Iraq exposed *in utero* to high levels of methylmercury from maternal consumption of seed grain (Marsh et al., 1987). Developmental effects, quantified in terms of a composite score reflecting "late walking, late talking, mental symptoms, seizures" (NRC, 2000) or adversely affected neurological function, were observed at lower levels of exposure than any other health effects, making them the most sensitive indicator of health risk. EPA estimated that with 95% confidence, the maternal mercury exposure that increased developmental risk for an unborn child by 10% corresponded to hair mercury concentrations of no less than 11 ppm (parts per million), estimated as equivalent to daily consumption of 1.1 μ g of mercury per kg of bodyweight (1.1 μ g/kg/day). The EPA applied uncertainty factors—with a total value of 10—to produce the exposure limit value of 0.1 μ g/kg/day (EPA, 2001).

A National Research Council (2000) review of EPA's methylmercury RfD recommended maintaining the exposure limit of 0.1 μ g/kg/day but suggested basing the value on data from the Faroe Islands study of the effects of chronic dietary exposure to mercury rather than on the acute high-exposure data from Iraq. As described above, the Faroe Islands study used a variety of performance tests to measure neurological and cognitive function among children with prenatal exposures to methylmercury.

Several sources of uncertainty and variability were included in the EPA's composite uncertainty factor of 10. First, a factor of 3 accounted for pharmacokinetic differences among members of the population. Another factor, also 3, addressed pharmacodynamic variability and uncertainty. EPA rounded the product of the uncertainty factors—in this case, 9—to one significant digit, thus yielding 10 (EPA, 2001).

In contrast, the ATSDR exposure limit of 0.3 μ g/kg/day, established in 1999 (ATSDR, 1999), is based on data from the Seychelle Islands study (described above) (Davidson et al., 1998), which did not find an association between prenatal methylmercury exposure and deficits in neurological function. ATSDR used these data to identify the *maximum* level of mercury exposure *not* associated with adverse health effects. The highest exposure group in that study had hair mercury concentrations of 15.3 ppm, which ATSDR estimated to be associated with consumption of 1.3 μ g/kg/day of methylmercury. To obtain the MRL, the ATSDR applied a composite factor of 4.5, which reflects (1) an uncertainty factor of 1.5 for inter-individual variability (pharmacodynamic)

differences, (3) multiplied by an additional modifying factor of 1.5 to address the possibility that domain-specific tests, as employed in the Faroe Islands study, might be able to detect subtle neurological deficits not tested for in the Seychelles cohort (ATSDR, 1999).

The FDA set its action level of 1 ppm of methylmercury in the edible portion of fish in 1979, based on an ADI of 30 µg/day (equivalent to approximately 0.4 µg/kg/day assuming a 70 kg average body weight). The ADI estimates were based primarily on Swedish studies of methylmercury poisonings from consumption of highly contaminated fish in Niigata, Japan (FDA, 1979). Unlike the EPA and ATSDR exposure limits, which are based on effects of prenatal exposure to methylmercury, the FDA limit is based on exposure effects in adults. In deriving its ADI, FDA estimated the lowest daily intake at which adverse effects could appear in adults (300 µg/day). The FDA then applied a ten-fold margin of safety that it uses when human data are available, to obtain the 30 µg/ day ADI (FDA, 1979).

In summary, exceeding federal exposure guidelines for mercury does not mean that adverse health effects should necessarily be expected to result. All the guidelines discussed here have additional factors built in to protect members of the population who might be more sensitive for either pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic reasons and address the possibility that (perhaps different) effects will occur at lower levels than those that have been empirically observed.

Comparing Childhood Vaccine Exposures with Federal Guidelines. As part of the FDA risk assessment of thimerosal, Ball and colleagues (2001) sought to compare the maximum mercury exposures resulting from the recommended childhood immunization schedule with the estimated cumulative limits for mercury exposure based on the three federal guidelines, as well as those of the World Health Organization (WHO).⁴ Table 3 shows the calculated exposure limits based on application of these guidelines to a female infant at the 5th, 50th, and 95th percentile body weight between birth and 26 weeks, the time when most vaccines are given. The maximum vaccine-related cumulative mercury dose at age 6 months (based on the mercury content of the recommended vaccines in 1999; see Table 2) was 187.5 µg (and 200 µg for children who also received the influenza vaccine), which exceeded the EPA limits calculated for each bodyweight category and the ATSDR limits for the lowest-weight infants who also received the influenza vaccine (see shaded portions of the table).

There is, however, no scientific or clinical basis for knowing that this is the appropriate way to compare vaccine-related mercury exposure with the federal guidelines. Ball and colleagues essentially averaged exposures over the first six months of life, but because mercury exposures associated with vaccines are episodic, one can argue for an even shorter averaging period. Changing the averag

⁴ The WHO guideline is less conservative than the mercury exposure guidelines in the United States. It is expressed as 3.3 μ g/kg/week, which corresponds to 0.47 μ g/kg/day for purposes of comparison.

52

ing period can have a substantial impact on comparisons with federal guidelines. Halsey (1999a) made alternative comparisons in which exposures were averaged over periods of one month, one week, and one day. For example, using an averaging period of one month, a single dose of hepatitis B vaccine with 12.5 µg mercury given to a child with an average weight of 4 kg yields an average daily dose of 0.1 µg/kg/day, which is equal to EPA's RfD. Alternatively, if the exposure is averaged over a single day, it amounts to approximately 3.1 µg/kg/ day, which exceeds EPA's standard by more than a factor of 30. Figure 2 shows Halsey's estimates of maximum single-day mercury exposure from recommended vaccines given at birth and ages 2, 4, and 6 months, for a range of body weights at each age. He assumed mercury doses of 12.5 µg at birth, 62.5 µg at age 2 months, 50 µg at age 4 months, and 62.5 µg at age 6 months.

An alternative approach produces a substantially lower estimate of exposure. Because the federal guidelines are defined in terms of exposures over a "long period of time" or even over a lifetime, the daily doses assumed by Halsey could conceivably be averaged over a typical lifetime duration of approximately 25,000 days. Doing so yields doses of at least a factor of 400 below the EPA's RfD.



FIGURE 2 Mercury ($\mu g/kg$) administered by age and weight if thimerosalcontaining vaccines are given for Hepatitis B, Hib, and DTaP. *Amount of Hg received (in micrograms)=12.5 at birth, 62.5 at 2 and 6 months, 50 at 4 months.*

SOURCE: Halsey, 1999a. Reprinted with permission from the author.

53

In order to resolve the apparently arbitrary selection of an averaging duration, the committee compared the maximum blood mercury concentration associated with vaccine exposures to the blood mercury concentrations that would be associated with long-term exposures equal to EPA's RfD, the most stringent of the mercury intake standards reviewed. NRC (2000) estimated the cord blood concentration associated with its point of departure dose to be 58 μ g/L. Based on that estimate, it follows that EPA's RfD corresponds to a blood mercury concentration is an appropriate indicator of the biologically relevant dose of mercury.⁶

To estimate blood mercury levels resulting from environmental exposures, the committee used data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) (CDC, 2001d). The NHANES measurements in children one to five years old (N=248) show median blood mercury concentrations of 0.2 μ g/L (95% CI 0.2–0.3 μ g/L) and 90th percentile values of 1.4 μ g/L (95% CI 0.7–4.8 μ g/L).

Estimates of blood mercury levels resulting from children's vaccine exposures were taken from unpublished theoretical estimates and both published and unpublished observational data reported to the committee at its July 2001 meeting.

Brown (2001) presented unpublished results to the commmitte based on a biokinetic model for methylmercury exposures from fish (Ginsberg and Toal, 2000) to produce a range of estimates based on assumptions about body weight and patterns of mercury elimination. Assuming an average body weight during the first 18 months of life and adult patterns of mercury excretion, vaccine doses produced peak blood mercury levels of 14 μ g/L; peak levels corresponded with recommended vaccine doses at ages two, four, and six months. With assumptions of low body weight and no elimination of mercury, blood mercury levels rose over time with each recommended vaccine dose and reached an outer bound estimate of 40 μ g/L at age six months. This model is useful only as a starting point for estimating maximum possible blood mercury levels following vaccine exposures. Furthermore, the model is based on methylmercury and must

⁵ NRC (2000, p. 287) estimated that the lower confidence limit on its benchmark dose corresponded to a cord blood mercury concentration of 58 μ g/L and a hair mercury concentration of 12 ppm. The ratio of those two measures is approximately 5 μ g/L per ppm hair. Because EPA's RfD corresponds to a hair mercury concentration of 1 ppm (i.e., a lower confidence limit benchmark dose of 11 ppm divided by 10 and rounded), the EPA RfD corresponds to a blood mercury concentration of 5 μ g/L.

⁶ Several biomarkers (e.g., in hair or urine) may be used to estimate mercury exposure. Recent exposure to methylmercury is better indicated by the concentration of mercury in whole blood than urine. Blood and urine are less informative with respect to past exposures (Evans, 1998). Mercury in hair is approximately 90% methylmercury. Hair measurements provide a historical record of methylmercury exposure but do not accurately reflect exposure to inorganic mercury (NRC, 2000). Since ethylmercury accumulates in the kidneys and decomposes to inorganic mercury much more quickly than methylmercury, blood may or may not be the most appropriate biomarker for ethylmercury. A review of the various biomarkers is beyond the scope of this report. The interested reader is referred to a recent review in NRC, 2000.

be more fully developed to be useful in risk assessments of thimerosal-containing vaccines.

In a recent published observational study (Stajich et al., 2000), total blood mercury levels were measured before and after the administration of the birth dose of hepatitis B (containing 12.5 µg of ethylmercury) in a group of 15 preterm infants and a control group of 5 term infants. Measurements of mercury levels were taken within 48 to 72 hours after vaccination. Comparisons of pre-and post-vaccination mercury levels demonstrated elevated blood mercury levels after a single dose of hepatitis B vaccine in both preterm and term infants. Preterm infants (mean=.54 µg/L; +/-.79 SD) had a tenfold higher mean blood mercury level at baseline compared with term infants (mean=.04 µg/L; +/-.09 SD), although the difference was not significant. Post-vaccination mean blood mercury levels in preterm infants (mean=7.36 µg/L•;+/- 4.99 SD) were 3 times higher than those in term infants (mean=2.24 µg/L;+/-.58 SD), and differences were significant.

Unpublished observational data funded by NIAID (Pichichero et al., 2001; Sager, 2001) show lower blood mercury levels than Brown's model-based estimates or the observational study by Stajich et al. (2000). Among two-montholds (N=16) receiving an average of 45.6 µg of mercury (range 37.5-62.5 µg), blood mercury concentrations at 3 to 20 days after vaccination (average 11.25 days) averaged 1.5 µg/L (range < 0.75–4.11 µg/L). Among six-month-olds (N= 20) receiving an average cumulative dose of 111.3 µg mercury (range 87.5–175 µg), blood mercury concentrations 4 to 27 days post vaccination (average 13.3 days) averaged 0.98 μ g/L (range < 0.05–1.5 μ g/L).

Two differences among the three studies should be noted. The delay between vaccination and blood mercury sampling in the NIAID data means that these measurements are not directly equivalent to the peak levels estimated by Brown or the measures by Stajich et al. (2000) taken within 48 to 72 hours. The delay was not substantial, given mercury's relatively long half-life, but the half-life of ethylmercury is probably shorter than the half-life of methylmercury (Brown, 2001), implying that earlier observation would have shown higher blood mercury levels. The findings of the NIAID study are consistent with excretion of ethylmercury. The children in the NIAID study also received lower cumulative mercury doses from their vaccines than the theoretical maximums modeled by Brown. Once again, however, this difference in dose (roughly a factor of 2) does not explain the differences between the modeled and measured blood mercury levels reported by Brown and NIAID, respectively. However, Brown's model is preliminary and is based on assumptions about methylmercury, which may explain why the results differ substantially from the empirical findings by Stajich et al. (2000) and NIAID. Furthermore, given the small size of the study populations in the two observational studies, the significance of the findings cannot be assessed.

55

Sources of Uncertainty. As the previous discussion shows, comparing mercury exposures from vaccines with federal mercury-exposure guidelines does not provide proof of either excess risk or adequate safety. In addition to considerations like the choice of an appropriate averaging duration, there are several other key factors that make comparisons between vaccine doses of ethylmercury and federal exposure guidelines uncertain. Many of these points are also raised elsewhere in this report.

The EPA and ATSDR exposure guidelines were set based on adverse effects of prenatal exposures to methylmercury resulting from maternal consumption of contaminated food. This means that vaccine exposures differ in terms of the age of exposure, the route of exposure, and the type of mercury. The developing fetal brain is known to be highly susceptible to toxic exposures, but data on the effects of early postnatal exposures are limited, for both methylmercury and ethylmercury. There is also little basis for determining whether the effects of exposures through injection are comparable to those from ingestion.

Furthermore, because the pharmacokinetics of ethylmercury are not well documented, it is difficult to know whether the biomarkers used in establishing the methylmercury guidelines can be applied to ethylmercury exposures. Magos (2001b) points out that blood mercury levels following exposure to ethylmercury appear to correspond to lower concentrations of mercury in the brain, and therefore perhaps less risk of neurotoxicity, than are found with similar blood levels resulting from methylmercury exposure. A key uncertainty is the rate of excretion of ethylmercury in infants. Although data from animal tests and data on methylmercury excretion in infants suggest little excretion in infants, the preliminary data from the NIAID study suggest significant mercury elimination in children given thimerosal-containing vaccines.

However, abnormalities or genetic variations in mercury metabolism might lead to an underestimate of mercury levels from thimerosal-containing vaccines. The preliminary report that autistic children have a higher risk than non-autistic children for metallothionein metabolic disturbances (Walsh and Usman, 2001), together with case reports from some pediatric practices that some autistic children have high mercury and other heavy-metal profiles, might contribute to the concern of some that a subgroup of children with NDDs might be at risk for mercury toxicity at levels of exposure that are safe for other children. This does not, however, imply that mercury exposures have caused the NDDs.

Due to differences in drug distribution or clearance, concentrations of mercury reached in specific tissues may vary between individuals receiving the same amount of mercury (or whose intake of mercury is similar). Other individuals may have genetic differences that make them more susceptible to mercury-induced injury at a given concentration of mercury in a particular tissue. It might be prudent to reduce mercury exposure as much as possible in these children. The role of the mercury metabolism (or other metabolic defects) in the genesis of concomitant NDDs is unclear, however, and cause and effect should not be inferred.

Biological Plausibility Argument

The hypothesis that thimerosal exposure through the recommended childhood immunization schedule has caused neurodevelopmental disorders is not supported by clinical or experimental evidence because:

- low-dose thimerosal exposure in humans has not been demonstrated to be associated with effects on the nervous system,
- neurodevelopmental effects have been demonstrated for prenatal but not • postnatal exposures to low doses of methylmercury,
- the toxicological information regarding ethylmercury, particularly at low doses, is limited,
- · thimerosal exposure from vaccines has not been proven to result in mercury levels associated with toxic responses,
- signs and symptoms of mercury poisonings are not identical to autism, ADHD, or speech or language delay,
- autism is thought primarily to originate from prenatal injury, and
- there is no evidence that ethylmercury causes any of the pathophysiological changes known to be associated with autism, such as genetic defects, and there are no well-developed pathological markers of ADHD or delay of speech or language that could be compared to effects of ethylmercury on the nervous system.

The information related to biological plausibility is indirect because:

- high-dose thimerosal exposures are associated with neurological damage, ٠
- an extensive toxicological and epidemiological literature establishes ٠ methylmercury, a close chemical relative, as a toxicant to the developing nervous system,
- some children who received the maximum number of thimerosal-containing ٠ vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule had exposures to ethylmercury that exceeded some estimated limits of exposure based on federal guidelines for methylmercury intake; and
- some children could be particularly vulnerable or susceptible to mercury ٠ exposures due to genetic or other differences.

The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with to neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

57

Evidence Regarding Association: Case Reports, Case Series, and Uncontrolled and Controlled Epidemiological Studies

Considered in this section are the case reports and epidemiological studies related to thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders.

Case Reports and Case Series

VAERS. A search of the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS), for the period from its inception in November 1990 through May 2001, identified 176 unique reports based on the following search strategy. During this 11-year period, about 120,000 reports were submitted to VAERS, including approximately 5,000 foreign reports (CDC, 2001b). Reports of interest were identified by searching all text fields using the terms "thimerosal," "thiomersal," "mercury," or "merthiolate," or a portion thereof (e.g., for "mercury," the text string "merc" was used).

The reports referred to the following thimerosal-containing vaccines: hepatitis B (79), influenza (48), diphtheria-tetanus (DT) (3), diphtheria-tetanuspertussis (DTP) (4), *Haemophilus influenzae* type b (Hib) (1), tetanus-diphtheria (Td)(9), DTP-Hib (5), pneumococcal (3), tetanus (4), rabies (1) and concurrent but separate administration of influenza and pneumococcal (3), influenza and TD (1), DTwP and hepatitis B (1), DTP and Hib (5), and DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B (1). Eight reports listed an adverse event in response to the cumulative childhood vaccine schedule. Reports involving *only* non-thimerosal-containing vaccines (e.g., MMR or OPV) were excluded from the reporting.

Thirty-three reports were for children ages 15 years and younger and were distributed as follows: 6 months and younger (6 reports), 7 months to 2 years (11 reports), 3 to 5 years (9 reports), and 6 to 15 years (7 reports).

The reported adverse reactions were categorized into three groups: the neurodevelopmental outcomes addressed in this report (autism, ADHD, speech or language problems); other neurological outcomes; and non-neurological outcomes. Table 4 details the type and number of outcomes reported in these three categories.

In the first category, there were nine reports of autism and nine reports of speech or language problems. There were no reports of ADHD, although there was one report of attention problems (not otherwise specified) for a child with autism.

In the second category, the types of neurological outcomes reported include: headache (15), paresthesia (11), dizziness (9), asthenia (6), non-febrile seizure (4), developmental delay (3), cognitive abnormality (2), and hypertonia (2). Five reports describe mercury poisoning in the patient, but not did not identify a specific outcome. See Table 4 for less frequently reported neurological outcomes.
58

Outcome	Number of Cases Reported		
Autism	9		
Speech or Language Problems	9		
ADHD	0		
Other Neurological Outcome			
Headache	15		
Paresthesia	11		
Dizziness	9		
Asthenia	6		
Myasthenia	4		
Seizure (not febrile)	4		
Behavior changes	3		
Developmental delay	3 (1 of which with autism and mercury		
	toxicity)		
Hypokinesia	3		
Loss of eye focus	3		
Amnesia	2		
Cognitive abnormality	2		
Confusion	$\frac{1}{2}$		
Guillain-Barré syndrome	2		
Hypertonia	2		
Neuropathy	$\frac{1}{2}$		
Tremor	2		
Twitch	2		
Atrophy muscle	1		
Auditory processing disorder	1		
Buzzing in head	1		
Catatonia	1		
CSF abnormality	1		
Coordination abnormality	1		
Encephalopathy	1		
Febrile seizure	1		
Learning impairment	1 (also reported autism)		
Mitochondrial disorder	1		
Neuralgia	1		
Neuralgic amyotrophy	1		
Sound and light sensitive	1		
Strabismus	1		
Unspecified neurological sequelae	1 (also reported mercury toxicity)		
Vertigo	1		
Mercury poisoning (no specific outcome	5		
identified)	-		
Non-Neurological Outcome	155		

59

In the third category, 155 people reported non-neurological outcomes. The most commonly reported event was delayed hypersensitivity reactions. Because the focus of this report is on neurodevelopmental outcomes, non-neurological outcomes are not reported in detail here.

There were 12 rechallenge cases identified involving 11 non-neurological outcomes, and one neurological outcome (headache). The one neurological-related rechallenge case reported a headache after receiving the first and second doses of the hepatitis B vaccine.

The committee concluded that these reports were uninformative with respect to causality. VAERS and other case reports submitted to the committee are useful for hypothesis generation, but they are generally inadequate to establish causality. The analytical value of data from passive surveillance systems is limited by such problems as underreporting, lack of detail, inconsistent diagnostic criteria, and inadequate denominator data (Ellenberg and Chen, 1997; Singleton et al., 1999).

Epidemiological Studies

Published Studies. None.

Unpublished Studies. *Controlled Observational Studies.* One unpublished controlled epidemiological study, funded by CDC, has tested whether or not certain neurodevelopmental and renal disorders are related to exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines. The study was based on data from the Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD), a large-linked database that includes vaccination, clinic, hospital discharge, and demographic data. The VSD, formed as a partnership between CDC and seven health maintenance organizations (HMOs), was initiated in 1991 and covers approximately 2.5 percent of the U.S. population (Verstraeten, 2001).

The study was conducted in two phases. Phase I was designed to screen data for potential associations between exposures to mercury from thimerosalcontaining vaccines and selected neurodevelopmental and renal outcomes. Phase II was designed to test the hypotheses generated in the first phase. Both phases were designed as retrospective cohort studies.

In Phase I, the original study population included children born between 1992 and 1997 who were enrolled continuously during their first year of life in one of two large West Coast HMOs and who received at least two polio vaccinations by one year of age. Excluded from the study were infants with diagnoses of congenital or severe perinatal disorders or who were receiving hepatitis B immunoglobulins, and premature infants with gestational ages less than 38 completed weeks. Of the approximately 213,000 infants born into these HMOs between 1992 and 1997, approximately 110,000 met the eligibility criteria for inclusion in the analyses. (The eligible children from both HMOs were combined

into a single cohort in the original Phase I analysis.) Separate analyses were conducted for the premature infants (Stehr-Green, 2000).

60

For each child, cumulative vaccine-related mercury exposure was calculated at the end of the first, second, third, and sixth months of life from individual automated vaccination records. Each vaccine a child received was assumed to contain the mean amount of thimerosal reported by manufacturers to the FDA, meaning that the ethylmercury content per dose of each childhood vaccine was assumed to be as follows: diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (whole-cell or acellular), 25.0 μ g; hepatitis B, 12.5 μ g; *Haemophilus influenzae* type b, 25.0 μ g; measles-mumps-rubella, polio, pneumococcal, and varicella, 0.0 μ g. The level of mercury exposure was categorized in increments of 12.5 μ g. The outcomes studied included a range of plausible neurological and renal disorders identified in the mercury toxicity literature, and defined by specific ICD-9 diagnostic codes.

Cox proportional hazard models were used to compare the risk of adverse developmental outcomes. The endpoint of the observation period for each child was defined as the date of the first of the following events: first diagnosis, first disenrollment, or the close of the study period (December 31, 1998). The analysis was stratified by HMO, year, and month of birth; adjustments were made for sex. To obtain sufficient power to detect any association, the study examined only outcomes with more than 50 identified cases.

Preliminary results of the Phase I analysis produced statistically significant but weak associations (relative risk ratios < 2.00 per 12.5 µg increment of mercury) between various cumulative exposures to thimerosal and the following neurodevelopmental diagnoses: unspecified developmental delays; tics; attention language disorder (ADD); and speech delay; and deficit general neurodevelopmental delays. No association was found for renal disorders or other neurological disorders with more than 50 cases, including autism (Stehr-Green, 2000, 2001). The researchers interpreted the analysis as showing a possible association between certain neurological developmental disorders and exposure to mercury from thimerosal-containing vaccines prior to six months of age (Stehr-Green, 2000).

An outside review panel (known as the Simpsonwood Panel), convened in June 2000, concluded that the Phase I VSD screening analyses did not provide adequate evidence to support or refute a causal relationship between exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines and specific neurodevelopmental disorders, but recommended that these issues be vigorously investigated. The Simpsonwood panel also noted several concerns about factors that could affect the interpretability of the Phase I study results (Stehr-Green, 2000, 2001):

• An ascertainment or health-care-seeking bias could exist. Children whose parents make greater use of health care services may be more likely to have received all recommended vaccinations—and therefore the highest doses of thimerosal-containing vaccines—and to have had a greater opportunity to receive a diagnosis for a neurodevelopmental disorder.

61

- About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original ypesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attributior
- The inexactness in the diagnosis of neurodevelopmental disorders, especially for young children, and inconsistencies in diagnoses across clinicians, clinics, and HMOs could result in misclassifications or biases that affect the clinical significance of the findings.
- The lack of data on known familial and genetic predispositions to the neurobehavioral outcomes could mask factors that confound the relationship between thimerosal exposure and the outcomes being studied.
- The data and analyses are limited in their ability to distinguish any effects of thimerosal exposure from excess risks attributable to other vaccine components or other vaccine-related associations.

The Simpsonwood panel also expressed reservations about the applicability of findings from the studies of methylmercury exposures to possible effects of thimerosal exposures from vaccines (Stehr-Green, 2000, 2001).

Re-analyses of the Phase I data, reflecting modifications to address some of the concerns of the Simpsonwood panel and others, were reported at the IOM committee's scientific meeting in July 2001 (Verstraeten, 2001). Among the modifications made in the re-analysis were: conducting separate analyses for each HMO (referred to as HMO A and HMO B); adjusting for additional variables in the models; making additional controls and adjustments to avoid a health-care-utilization bias; and checking for outcome misclassification through chart review of select diagnoses.

Of the 22,647 children born from 1992 through 1997 into HMO A, 15,309 children were eligible and retained in the final cohort for analysis. Of the 184,723 children born from 1992 through 1998 into HMO B, 114,966 children were eligible and were retained in the final cohort. Table 5 shows the neurological and renal outcomes with more than 50 identified cases that were examined in the analysis. Two control diagnoses, flat feet/toe deformities and injury at unspecified site, were also included in the analysis to check for a potential health-care-seeking bias. These diagnoses were thought to be associated with the worry of parents and increased health-seeking behavior, but *a priori* were not expected to be associated with thimerosal exposure. Because the final cohort at HMO B is about eight times as large as the cohort at HMO A, there are relatively more children included in the outcome categories at HMO B. Not all of the outcomes that were examined at HMO A.

As in the original Phase I analysis, the re-analysis identified positive but weak associations (relative risk ratios < 2.00) with several neurodevelopmental diagnoses (see Table 6). Results from unadjusted and adjusted models were presented to the committee. The adjusted models, which are used in epidemiology to control for potential confounders, included the following additional variables: birthweight, gestational age, mother's age at delivery, race and ethnicity, and

62

Apgar score at 5 minutes (the last at HMO A only). The adjusted models included only approximately 80 percent of the eligible children because variables were missing for some children. For HMO A, positive but weak associations were found between exposures to thimerosal and stammering, sleep disorders, and emotional disturbances. The association with sleep disorders did not persist in the adjusted models, and the association with emotional disturbances appeared only in the adjusted models. For HMO B, positive but weak associations were found for: any neurodevelopmental disorder, stammering, language delay, speech delay, attention deficit disorder, and tics. The association with attention deficit disorder and tics did not persist in the adjusted models. In both rounds of analysis of Phase I data, the results failed to show a consistent dose-response pattern.

ICD 9	Disorders	HMO A	HMO B
	Any neurodevelopment disorder	869	2989
299.0	Autism	(19)	150
299.8	Childhood psychosis	(11)	76
307.0	Stammering	54	75
307.2	Tics	(32)	121
307.4	Sleep disorders	56	123
307.5	Eating disorders	(5)	74
313	Emotional disturbances	79	203
314.0	Attention deficit disorder	69	517
315.31	Language delay	(15)	494
315.39	Speech delay	604	1448
315.4	Coordination disorder	76	(31)
Renal outco	omes and control diagnoses > 50 children		
ICD 9	Disorders	HMO A	HMO B
	Any renal disorder	24	197
5939	Unspecified kidney or ureter disease	14	80
734, 735	Flat feet or toe deformities	86	848
959.9	Injury at unspecified site	112	2428

TABLE 5 Neurodevelopmental, renal outcomes, and control diagnoses > 50 children Neurodevelopmental outcomes > 50 children

Numbers in brackets indicate outcomes for which there were insufficient numbers of children at HMO A or B.

Provisional Results-may be subject to change. Verstraeten, 2001.

63

The inconsistent findings between HMO A and B in the re-analysis could be due to several factors. At HMO B, a positive association was found in both unadjusted and adjusted models between thimerosal exposure and the control diagnosis of flat feet/toe deformities, indicating a potential health-care-seeking bias at HMO B. In addition, the sample size was considerably larger at HMO B, providing more power to detect small differences in risk, if they exist. It should also be noted that the chances of finding an association between thimerosal exposure and these outcomes, if it exists, depends on the range of thimerosal exposures in the population; an HMO that is particularly successful in vaccinating its children would have less range of exposure and ability to detect positive findings.

The Phase II study was conducted in mid-2000 to examine more closely the significant associations identified in the original Phase I analysis by replicating the Phase I study design with data from an East Coast HMO. However, the study population had only approximately 17,500 eligible children, providing a sufficient number of cases for analysis of only two of the outcomes, ADD and speech delays. The Phase II analysis identified no significant differences in risk with the receipt of thimerosal-containing vaccines and these two outcomes;

	HMO A		HMO B	
Outcome	Unadjusted	Adjusted [†]	Unadjusted	Adjusted [†]
Any neurodevelopmental			**	**
disorder				
Stammering	*	*	**	**
Tics			*	
Sleep disorders	*			
Emotional disturbances		*		
Attention deficit disorder			**	
Language delay			**	**
Speech delay			**	**
Flat feet or toe deformities			*	*

TABLE 6 Relative risks by increase of 12.5 μ g ethylmercury—Summary of positive associations *: p < 0.05 **: p < 0.01.

[†]Adjusted for birthweight, gestational age, mother's age at delivery, race and ethnicity, and Apgar score at 5 minutes [the last in HMO A only].

Notes: Final cohort size—HMO A: 15,309 and HMO B: 114,966.

The diagnosis of flat feet or toe deformities was included as control for health-care-seeking behavior. Because the analyses in this study are not yet complete and are as yet unpublished, the committee has chosen to show only summary information about the significant findings, not detailed quantitative results.

Provisional results-may be subject to change. Verstraeten, 2001.

however, the small sample size limited the power of the study to detect a small effect, if it exists (Verstraeten, 2001).

As a result of the inconsistent findings from the first two phases, a protocol for a Phase III follow-up study has been developed, although funding for the study is not confirmed. As described to the committee at its scientific meeting in July 2001 (Stehr-Green, 2001), the study will use a retrospective cohort design and will focus on primary diagnoses from the Phase I analysis, including ADD, language and speech deficits, and tics. Autism is not included because a substantially larger study population (and therefore a substantially more expensive study) would be needed to identify a sufficient number of cases for a retrospective cohort study. A separate case-control study of thimerosal exposure and autism has been proposed, but no study protocol has been developed. The Phase III protocol is discussed further in the research recommendations section of this report.

The committee notes several limitations of the Phases I and II of the VSD study. First, the consistency and accuracy of the diagnoses have not been established. Second, the variation between HMOs in the results of the updated Phase I analysis indicates an ascertainment or health-care-seeking bias could exist at HMO B among parents of study subjects who received the highest doses of thimerosal-containing vaccines. The exclusion of children who disenrolled from the HMOs is another potential source of bias. In addition, the effect sizes are small and thus difficult to interpret. Furthermore, with an observation period of only one year for some children, diagnoses usually made at older ages may be under-represented. With its restriction to diagnoses with at least 50 cases, the study is uninformative about other important but less common diagnoses. In addition, there is not a consistent dose-response relationship. Also, information on prenatal exposure to mercury is sparse. Finally, the findings from Phase I and Phase II of the study are inconsistent. Given these caveats, the committee believes that the Phase I and II VSD analyses are inconclusive with respect to causality.

Uncontrolled Observational Studies. An unpublished ecological analysis comparing aggregate trends in autism rates in California with the trends in mercury exposure from thimerosal-containing vaccines was presented to the committee (Blaxill, 2001). To estimate the average level of mercury exposure for children 19-35 months of age in a given year, the mercury content of all recommended vaccine doses (assumed to be 37.5 µg for 3 doses of hepatitis B, 75 µg for 3 doses of Hib, and 75–100 µg for 3 or 4 doses of DTP) was weighted by estimates from the National Health Interview Survey of coverage rates for the specific vaccines for the specified year. Estimates of the number of children with autism were obtained from annual caseload data from the California Department of Developmental Services database. These data were retabulated by year of birth, and birth-cohort prevalence rates were calculated using census data on births by year in California. The presenter concluded that the increasing trends seen in these data, in both the prevalence of autism and the levels of mercury exposure from thimerosal-containing vaccines, are consistent with the hy

65

pothesis that mercury exposure had a direct role in an increasing incidence of autism in the 1990s.

As noted in previous IOM reports (IOM, 1994 a,b, 2001), a positive ecological correlation constitutes only weak evidence of causality, and additional research would be needed to establish a causal association. In addition, the appropriateness of the transformation of the cross-sectional autism-caseload data into birth-cohort prevalence data, as was done in this analysis, is questionable. The data used in this analysis are cross-sectional and reflect the number of children with a diagnosis of autism who are registered in the California Developmental Services system. Transforming the cross-sectional data by dividing by birth cohort, creates the artificial impression of a cohort effect when the data are cross-sectional in nature (Fombonne, 2001a). Furthermore, the authors of a report on the California autism caseload data stress that their study was not designed to measure trends in autism and that the data should therefore be interpreted with caution (California Department of Developmental Services, 1999). The analytical value of the data is limited by the inability to account for any changes over time in diagnostic concepts, case definitions, or age of diagnosis (Fombonne, 2001a). As a result, the committee cannot assess trends in the prevalence of autism from these data. The committee concludes that this unpublished ecological analysis is uninformative with respect to causality.

CAUSALITY ARGUMENT

A number of case reports have been submitted through VAERS and directly to the committee asserting an association between exposure to thimerosalcontaining vaccines and neurological outcomes, autism in particular. Case reports are very useful in hypothesis generation and identifying areas for investigation, but are rarely useful in establishing causality. The case reports reviewed by the committee are uninformative with respect to causality.

There are no published epidemiological studies that examine the potential thimerosal-containing association between exposure to vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders. Unpublished studies reviewed by the committee provide inconclusive evidence of a potential association between exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines and certain neurological developmental disorders. Among the unpublished reports, only one-an examination of the hypothesis using data from the VSD (Verstraeten, 2001)-is from a controlled epidemiological study. The committee, like other experts convened by the CDC, has several concerns about this study. These include: the inexactness of the diagnoses and inconsistencies across clinicians, clinics, and study sites; variation in results between study sites, indicative of potential ascertainment or healthcare-seeking bias; potential bias due to disenrollment; the small effect sizes; the inconsistent duration of observation; insufficient power to detect less common diagnoses; lack of information on prenatal exposures to mercury; and lack of a consistent dose-

66

response relationship. Furthermore, the findings between the two phases of this study are inconsistent.

The committee therefore believes that the VSD study is inconclusive with respect to causality. The committee also found that an unpublished ecological analysis of trends in the prevalence of autism and in exposure to mercury from vaccines is uninformative with respect to causality. See Table 7 for a summary of the evidence reviewed by the committee.

As stated above, the committee concludes that the hypothesized relationship is biologically plausible. However, the committee concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between exposure to thimerosal from childhood vaccines and the NDDs of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. The committee's conclusion on causality is based on these factors:

- The available case reports are uninformative with respect to causality.
- There are no published epidemiological studies examining the potential association between thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders.
- The unpublished and limited epidemiological studies provide weak and inconclusive evidence regarding the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines may lead to certain neurodevelopmental disorders.

SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original ypesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

In contrast to the majority of previous IOM vaccine safety studies, which limited conclusions to causality assessments and recommendations for future research, the Immunization Safety Review Committee has been asked to recommend a public health response to immunization safety concerns. Such a response potentially encompasses a broad range of activities, including policy reviews, new research directions, and changes in communication to the public and to health care providers about issues of vaccine safety. In formulating the breadth and direction of the recommended public health response, the committee considers not only its conclusions regarding causality, but also the significance of the vaccine safety issues in a broader social context—the context in which policy decisions must be made. These considerations can include, but are not limited to, the burden (the seriousness, risk, and treatability) of the adverse health events in question and of the diseases that the vaccines are intended to prevent, as well as the potential consequences of public concerns about the safety of vaccine use.

67

Evidence	Type of Study	Direct/ Indirect	Published/ Unpublished	Potential Role in Causality Assessment	Potential Role in Biological Plausibility Assessment
VSD Phase I, II ¹	Controlled observa- tional study	Direct	Unpublished	Evidence of this type could be used to determine nature of causal relationship	N/A
Ecological Analyses of ASD rates ²	Uncon- trolled ob- servational analysis	Indirect	Unpublished	Evidence of this type could support causality	N/A
Thimerosal and ethylmercury poisonings ³	Case re- ports, case series	Indirect	Published	Evidence of this type could support causality	Supports
Hg levels after vaccination ⁴	Clinical studies; theoretical modeling	Indirect	Published; unpublished	Evidence of this type could inform causal- ity assessments	Supports
Hg exposure guidelines ⁵	Modeling, theoretical calculations	Indirect	Published	Evidence of this type could inform causal- ity assessments	Supports
Methylmercury poisonings ⁶	Epidemiol- ogical, clinical studies	Indirect	Published	Hypothesis genera- tion only	Supports
"Island Studies" ⁷	Epidemiol- ogical studies	Indirect	Published	Hypothesis genera- tion only	Supports
Clinical studies of children with ASD ⁸	Case re- ports, clini- cal studies	Indirect	Published; unpublished	Hypothesis genera- tion only	Supports
TMS, EtHg, MeHg toxicol- ogy and kinetics ⁹	<i>In vitro,</i> laboratory animal	Indirect	Published; unpublished	None	Supports

TABLE 7 Summary of Evidence for Assessments of Causality and of Biological Plausibility

Direct evidence refers to evidence that specifically addresses a relationship between thimerosal in vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders. All other evidence is therefore **indirect**. References are representative and are not a complete guide to the literature.

- 1. Verstraeten, 2001
- 2. Blaxill, 2001
- Axton, 1972; Cinca et al., 1980; Fagan et al., 1977; Hay, 1963; Jalili and Abbasi, 1961; Lowell et al., 1996; Pfab et al., 1996; Royhans et al., 1984; Zhang, 1984.
- 4. Brown, 2001; Pichichiero et al, 2001; Sager, 2001; Stajich et al., 2000
- 5. Ball et al., 2001; Halsey, 1999; Halsey and Goldman, 2001; NRC, 2000
- 6. Bakir et al., 1973; Harada, 1995; Mahaffey, 1999; NRC, 2000; Tsubaki, 1977
- 7. Davidson et al., 2000; Grandjean et al., 1997; Grandjean, 2001; Myers, 2001; NRC, 2000
- 8. Bradstreet, 2001; Cave, 2000; Sykes, 2001; Walsh and Usman, 2001
- 9. Ball et al., 2001; Jamieson and Powell, 1931; Magos, 2001b; Suzuki et al., 1963

Public concerns about immunization safety are particularly important to understand and to weigh, because most vaccines are given to healthy children not only for their direct protection but also to help protect others in the population. In fact, to achieve this broader level of protection, vaccinations are mandatory in all 50 states for school and daycare entry. Exemptions on medical grounds (contraindications) are allowed, although they are considered too limited by some (Fisher, 2001). Exemptions are also allowed on religious grounds in 48 states and on philosophical grounds in 15 states (Evans, 1999). However, such exemptions are rare, and it is argued that these public health mandates, particularly because they are imposed on healthy children, place a particular responsibility on the government for rigorous attention to safety issues, even for rare adverse outcomes.

In the present case, the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines may be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders remains of public health significance, even though thimerosal has been removed from all vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule that are given to children six years of age or younger. First, neurodevelopmental disorders impose substantial burdens on the affected individuals, their families, and society, and because it is important to understand whether or not past vaccine use has increased the risks of such disorders. In addition, thimerosal continues to be used in other biological and pharmaceutical products. A better understanding of the potential risks may be useful to those countries that still use thimerosal-containing vaccines because they cannot easily or immediately switch to alternatives. Furthermore, examination of the 1999 series of rapid changes in hepatitis B immunization policy in response to concerns about thimerosal may provide lessons for improving future vaccine safety policymaking. Finally, the use of thimerosal in vaccines may have eroded trust in the safety of vaccines.

Concern Regarding Neurodevelopmental Disorders

The neurodevelopmental disorders that are addressed in this report-autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay-are of considerable concern. In the aggregate, these conditions affect a large number of children.

Autism is a serious developmental disorder characterized by deficits in communication and behavioral, emotional, and social functioning. There are no agreed upon estimates of the prevalence or incidence of autism in the United States. Autism cannot be cured, but behavioral therapies are used to manage symptoms (Wing, 1997) and medication may help alleviate symptoms such as hyperactivity, anxiety, and repetitive behavior (Lainhart and Piven, 1995). Furthermore, early educational and social interventions may improve functioning and integration into society for some autistic children (Harris and Handelman, 1997; Howlin and Goode, 1998).

69

Autism leads to substantial challenges for the families of affected individuals, many of whom remain dependent throughout their lives. In addition to the substantial financial strains, families of children with autism must meet other demands, such as arranging for around-the-clock efforts to care for their child. They face the difficult tasks of finding knowledgeable and sympathetic health-care providers and of finding high-quality information, and they must endure the frustrations of seeing their children develop abnormally or regress from being active and engaged to being aloof and nonresponsive.

ADHD, one of the most common of the psychiatric disorders that appears in childhood, usually becomes evident in preschool or early elementary years (NIH, 2001). Children may have problems functioning in school and other social settings. There are often impairments in memory, cognitive processing, motor skills, social skills, and response to discipline (NIH, 2001). People with ADHD often have other disorders as well, such as learning disabilities, language disorders, conduct disorder, oppositional-defiant disorder, and mood and anxiety disorders (NIH, 2001). ADHD is incurable, but medications and behavioral interventions may improve functioning for 80% of the people with the disorder (CDC, 1999b). Treatment for ADHD may not be covered by health insurance, however, and two recent studies found that the cost and use of medical care for children with ADHD is significantly higher than for other children (Guevara et al., 2001; Leibson et al., 2001). Special educational services are often needed. The national public school system's additional costs for students with ADHD was more than \$3 billion in 1995 (NIH, 1998).

The prevalence of speech or language delay is difficult to estimate. Speech and language delay refers to a group of symptoms resulting from many different causes. Some causes are known, such as mental retardation, genetic deformities, deafness, and structural abnormalities like cleft palate (Shriberg et al., 1999). In other cases, no specific cause can be identified. Children with speech and language delay often experience additional problems, including poor school performance, psychological and behavioral disturbances, and, later, speech and language problems (Whitehurst and Fischel, 1994).

Continued Exposure to Thimerosal

In the United States, currently manufactured or marketed vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule and given to children six years of age or younger contain no thimerosal, or only trace amounts (<0.5 μ g Hg per dose) of thimerosal left over from the manufacturing process (CDC, 2000c). However, given the public health goal of reducing children's exposure to mercury as much as possible, concerns have been raised about the continued presence of thimerosal in other vaccines and biological and pharmaceutical products.

Some vaccines that are not part of the recommended childhood immunization schedule still contain thimerosal as a preservative and may be given to some

70

children. These include diphtheria-tetanus toxoid (DT), tetanus toxoid (TT), influenza, and Pnu-Immune 23 pneumococcal (recommended only for children 2 years or older) vaccines. Other thimerosal-containing vaccines, given only to older children and adults, are tetanus-diphtheria (Td), meningococcal vaccine, and the adult formulation for one hepatitis B vaccine (Recombivax-B).

There is also a lingering concern that there remains "on the shelf" an unknown quantity of thimerosal-containing Hib, hepatitis B, and DTaP vaccines. However, because of turnover and of the expiration date of current vaccines, it is estimated by CDC that few, if any, of those containing thimerosal as a preservative are still being administered (CDC, 2001f).

Other biological products that have traditionally contained thimerosal may be used in infants, children, and pregnant women. (A list of all drug and food products containing mercury identified during the 1997 FDAMA review can be the following website: http://www.fda.gov/cber/genadmin/ accessed at merclst.htm. An updated list is not available, but some of the products on this list may no longer contain thimerosal.) For example, some preparations of Rho (D) Immune Globulin, which are given to Rh-negative mothers during pregnancy, contain thimerosal. Approximately 15% of the population is Rh-negative, and use of these thimerosal-containing products exposes the fetus to ethylmercury. The amount of thimerosal in these products ranged from 0.003 to 0.01% thimerosal (PDR, 2001; Physicians' GenRx, 1993). Rho(D) Immune Globulin is currently being manufactured without thimerosal in the United States. Other such products that contain thimerosal and are available over-the-counter include some nasal sprays, contact lens solutions, and antibacterial/anti-itch creams (FDA, 1999). The committee is not aware, however, of any risk assessments of the use of these products in infants, children, and pregnant women. Nevertheless, the NHANES survey indicates that 10% of women have mercury levels within one-tenth of the potentially hazardous levels estimated in the NRC toxicological review of methylmercury, indicating a potential benefit for some women from efforts to reduce mercury exposure (CDC, 2001d; NRC, 2000).

Use of Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines in Other Countries

In contrast to the rapid removal of thimerosal from vaccines in the United States, many other countries have taken a less urgent approach to removing thimerosal from vaccines. In a July 1999 statement, the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products (EMEA) recommended as a precautionary measure, that the use of thimerosal-free products should be promoted and efforts should be made to eliminate mercury preservative in vaccines in the shortest possible time frame (EMEA, 1999). However, the EMEA recommended that vaccination proceed in accordance with normal schedules while vaccine

reformulation proceeded. Overall, reducing or eliminating thimerosal in Europe was considered to be a "middle and long term effort" (EMEA, 2001).

Several factors may have contributed to the difference in the risk assessments conducted by the United States and European countries. First, the potential exposure to thimerosal through vaccines was less in European countries than in the United States, given the differences in recommended childhood immunization schedules. Second, the EMEA compared cumulative ethylmercury exposures from vaccines to the WHO's recommended level of intake for methylmercury (3.3 µg/kg/week or 0.47 µg/kg/day), which is less stringent than the U.S. federal standards for methylmercury intake (e.g., EPA's is 0.1 µg/kg/ day). Third, other vaccine safety concerns (e.g., the hypothesized link between measles-mumps-rubella vaccine and autism) may have figured more prominently in these countries (Freed and Andreae, 2001).

Many other nations, particularly developing countries, continue to rely on multi-dose vaccine vials which contain thimerosal as a preservative. Although the World Health Organization (WHO) supports the July 1999 statement by the AAP and U.S. PHS to phase out use of thimerosal in vaccines, the WHO recommends the continued use of thimerosal-containing vaccines because of the benefits of thimerosal as a preservative and the benefits of continued immunization (WHO, 2000). The WHO notes that removing thimerosal from vaccines worldwide is a complex process. Removing thimerosal from multidose vials is not a viable option given the lack of alternative preservatives; thus, removal of thimerosal could increase the risk of bacterial contamination which could lead to toxic shock syndrome or other illnesses. In addition, switching from multi-dose to single-dose vials imposes practical constraints. Most notably, switching to single-dose vials could impose a significant burden on the cold chain making this strategy prohibitive for developing countries. Furthermore, even if a mercury-free preservative were developed in the future, many local vaccine producers may not have easy access to it. This is important since, for example, 60% of the wholecell DTP vaccine used in developing countries is produced locally (WHO, 2000). In the interim, the WHO believes that the known risks of morbidity and mortality from vaccine-preventable diseases and contaminated multi-dose vaccine vials outweigh the potential risk of thimerosal (Clements et al., 2000).

The committee concluded that it was important to more fully research the possible effects of thimerosal in vaccines in order to provide evidence that could be useful to countries facing a decision of whether or not to continue using thimerosal-containing vaccines. While the United States chose to remove thimerosal as a precautionary measure and because it was feasible to do so, the committee understands that practical considerations and an assessment of the risks and benefits in other countries may lead those countries to reach different conclusions regarding continued use of thimerosal in vaccines. Analyses of the costs associated with reducing the potential risk from thimerosal, and comparisons of

72

the risks and benefits of current vaccines with more expensive thimerosal-free alternatives, could help inform decisions in other countries.

Confusion from Changes in Hepatitis B Immunization Policy

Public health agencies, the medical community, and vaccine manufacturers acted swiftly to reduce the potential risk from thimerosal exposure when the FDA risk assessment revealed that vaccines could expose some children to cumulative levels of ethylmercury that exceeded one of the three federal guidelines on methylmercury exposure. Although no evidence showed that thimerosal in vaccines had caused harm, AAP and PHS in July 1999 recommended as a precautionary step the removal of thimerosal from vaccines as soon as possible (CDC, 1999a).

To reduce exposure to thimerosal in the smallest infants, the joint statement also recommended postponing the first dose of hepatitis B vaccine from birth until two to six months of age for infants born to low-risk mothers who were hepatitis B-surface antigen negative. (The birth dose of hepatitis B was still recommended for infants whose mothers had a positive or unknown hepatitis B surface antigen status, thereby continuing to reduce the risk of vertical transmission of hepatitis B [CDC, 1999a].). Within two months, however, the CDC announced the availability of a new thimerosal-free hepatitis B vaccine and also recommended resumption of routine hepatitis B vaccination of all newborns, reversing the initial recommendation (CDC, 1999c).

Concerns have been raised by some about the sudden shifts in hepatitis B vaccination policy and the general decision-making process that led to the change (Freed and Andreae, 2001; Offit, 2000; Plotkin, 2000; Seal and Daum, 2001). One criticism centered on the rapidity of the process, which caught some members of the medical and scientific community by surprise and led to a perception that decisions to issue policy guidelines were made in haste (Freed and Andreae, 2001; Plotkin, 2000; Seal and Daum, 2001). Another controversial aspect of the process was the lack of agreement among members of the key organizations issuing the policy statement (AAP, AAFP, PHS) regarding the nature and level of the risk from thimerosal. Some believed it posed only a theoretical risk, while others perceived it to be an actual risk (Freed and Andreae, 2001; Halsey, 1999b; Offit, 2000; Seal and Daum, 2001). In addition, the existence of three different federal standards on methylmercury exposure (EPA, FDA, ATSDR) resulted in confusion about the potential risks of thimerosal and questions about the relevance of the guidelines in assessing the risk from thimerosal in vaccines (Freed and Andreae, 2001).

There are debates on whether or not policymakers adequately gauged the potentially negative effects on the hepatitis B newborn-immunization program when implementing the policy changes (Halsey and Goldman, 2001; Seal and

73

2001). Recent surveys indicate that as a result of the initial Daum. recommendation, some hospitals did not have appropriate policies in place for vaccinating infants whose mothers' hepatitis B surface antigen status was positive or unknown (Hurie et al., 2001); and that many hospitals had failed to resume hepatitis B vaccination after the CDC recommendation to do so (CDC, 2001c; Hurie et al., 2001; Oram et al., 2001).

The committee believes that the AAP, AAFP and PHS had clearly acted with the best interest of children in mind-both in issuing the guidelines to suspend the hepatitis B birth dose, and reversing them shortly thereafter once a thimerosal-free alternative was approved. The experience may offer lessons for improving future vaccine safety policymaking, however.

Trust in the Safety of Vaccines

Concerns related to the potential adverse effects of thimerosal-containing vaccines and continued use of thimerosal in some vaccines have the potential to erode public trust. The presence of thimerosal in some vaccines can raise doubts about the entire system for ensuring vaccine safety. Although vaccine packaging included information about thimerosal content, the amount of mercury in individual vaccine doses and the cumulative exposure were not calculated until the FDAMA-required risk assessment. This late recognition of the amount of mercury in vaccines may contribute to a perception among some that careful attention to vaccine components has been lacking.

The issue of thimerosal in vaccines has been the focus of media stories (Atkins, 2001; Manning, 2000), Congressional hearings (U.S. House of Representatives, Committee on Government Reform, 2000, 2001), lawsuits (Joseph Counter, et al. v. Abbott Laboratories, Inc., et al. Cause No. GN100866), and Internet sites, all which indicate some level of public concern and distrust about vaccine safety. However, with few exceptions (Gellin et al., 2000), there is a paucity of studies that have objectively and routinely assessed public and physician opinions about vaccine safety. Unpublished findings from one recent CDC-sponsored survey of pediatricians and family physicians suggest that thimerosal in vaccines is a concern for physicians and parents (Freed and Andreae, 2001). This cross-sectional survey administered by mail during spring 2000 to a national random sample of 750 pediatricians and 750 family physicians (response rate of 70%), asked physicians about their perceptions of parents' views and their self-perceptions regarding vaccine safety. The findings show that 27% of pediatricians and 18% of family physicians surveyed perceived that parents were more concerned about vaccine safety as a result of the thimerosal issue. In addition, the practitioners themselves had some doubts-13% of pediatricians and 24% of family physicians-and reported that they were more concerned about vaccine safety as a result of thimerosal issues.

74

The committee emphasizes that confidence in the safety of vaccines is essential to an effective immunization program—one that provides maximum protection against vaccine-preventable diseases with the safest vaccines possible. Questions about vaccine safety must be addressed responsibly by public health officials, health professionals, and vaccine manufacturers.

Conclusion

The committee sees significant reasons for continued public health attention to concerns about thimerosal exposure and neurodevelopmental disorders. The committee considered the burden of the potential adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes and of vaccine-preventable disorders, and it considered the extent of continued use of thimerosal-containing products. Diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b, and hepatitis B are serious infectious diseases that can lead to significant morbidity and mortality. It is imperative that immunizations continue against these and other serious vaccine-preventable diseases. Historically, several concerns about the safety of vaccines have led to declines in immunization coverage rates and outbreaks of disease, as observed during the pertussis outbreaks in the United Kingdom during the 1970s. Similar disease outbreaks could easily occur, with devastating effects, were immunization rates to decline as a result of fears that our childhood vaccines are not as safe as absolutely possible.

Neurodevelopmental disorders are pervasive and impose a significant burden on affected children, their families, and society. Mercury is a well-known neurotoxicant and efforts are being made to reduce the exposure of vulnerable populations to this environmental contaminant.

There are no data that elucidate how much, if any, mercury exposure from all sources contributes to the prevalence of autism, ADHD, or speech or language delay. Thus, it is not possible to predict whether or not removing thimerosal from vaccines will reduce the prevalence of these neurodevelopmental disorders. There is no reason to believe, however, that removing thimerosal by switching to preservative-free single dose vials of vaccine will pose a risk to children's health. It is possible that replacing thimerosal with a less effective preservative in multidose vials could increase risk to children's health. It is also likely that decreased immunization rates due to fears about the risks of thimerosal could increase the risk of serious and even fatal vaccine-preventable diseases.

Therefore, the committee considers the presence of thimerosal in pediatric vaccines to be a significant issue, and it supports precautionary public health efforts to reduce mercury exposure. It is important to resolve whether or not children might have experienced neurodevelopmental disorders because of an unrecognized incremental mercury burden from thimerosal given the responsibility for assuring the safest vaccines possible.

RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING THE PUBLIC HEALTH RESPONSE

75

Prompt action by federal agencies, medical professionals, and vaccine manufacturers to remove thimerosal from vaccines has ensured that any risk thimerosal exposure may pose has been substantially reduced for the future. However, the committee sees significant reasons for continued public health attention to concerns about thimerosal exposure and neurodevelopmental disorders.

- The committee has found inadequate evidence to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal-containing vaccines and neurodevelopmental disorders. Although the available evidence is indirect and incomplete, and the relationship is not established, it is biologically plausible. Because thimerosal was used in millions of vaccine doses over several decades, it is important that additional research be done to understand the nature of the risk, if any, from this exposure to thimerosal.
- There is a need for more evidence on the risks and benefits associated with thimerosal-containing vaccines and biological and pharmaceutical products in use in the United States and elsewhere.
- As concerns continue to emerge about other vaccines it is likely that policymakers will again be faced with the need to consider action regarding vaccine safety in the face of great uncertainty, as they were with thimerosal. It is critical that policymakers be better prepared to handle these concerns.
- It is important to do everything possible to restore, maintain, and build trust in vaccines.

The committee provides recommendations in three areas of public health response: policy review and analysis, public health and biomedical research, and communications.

Policy Review and Analysis

The committee supports prior decisions by ACIP, AAP, and AAFP to call for the removal of thimerosal from vaccines as a precautionary step in the effort to minimize children's exposure to mercury. Fortunately, technology was available to manufacturers in this country to do so in a timely manner. Vaccine manufacture is a complex process, and the committee understands that to remove a constituent, reformulate and repackage a vaccine, and receive FDA approval in a short time is no small feat.

The committee was unable to conclude, however, from the existing evidence whether thimerosal does or does not cause neurodevelopmental disorders. In the United States, thimerosal has been removed from most vaccines and some biological products to which infants, children, and pregnant women are exposed. Although mercury exposures from currently available thimerosal-containing products may not exceed estimated exposure limits for methylmercury derived

76

from federal guidelines, further action to remove thimerosal from all vaccines and other biological and pharmaceutical products might be warranted to ensure that exposures to thimerosal do not contribute to combined mercury exposures that could exceed guidelines for safe exposure. This is consistent with the precautionary principle (Goldstein, 2001; Kriebel and Tickner, 2001) which states that, "When an activity raises threats of harm to human health or the environment, precautionary measures should be taken even if some cause and effect relationships are not fully established scientifically." Finally, these actions could do a great deal to simplify decision-making by clinicians and parents regarding the use of vaccines, other biologicals, or pharmaceuticals without potentially compromising the health of the child. A decision not to remove thimerosal from other products in the United States should be based on an assessment of the risks and benefits which demonstrates that action is unwarranted. Risk-benefit assessments conducted on U.S. populations might not be valid for other populations and caution should be exercised when generalizing these recommendations to other countries.

However, an unknown number of thimerosal-containing DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B vaccine doses are still on the shelves. Given that alternatives are now available, the committee recommends the use of the thimerosal-free DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B vaccines in the United States, despite the fact that there might be remaining supplies of thimerosal-containing vaccine available. Remaining thimerosal-containing vaccines should be reserved for use only in response to serious shortages or emergencies, when failure to vaccinate would increase the risk of vaccine-preventable disease. The committee understands that this could result in a financial loss. However, it is confusing to the public to continue to use thimerosal-containing vaccines when alternatives are available. The committee did not explore the mechanisms by which this could be accomplished. But, the committee is concerned that, because of meeting schedules and other requirements-for example, the development of official statements on this issue by advisory groups such as the Red Book Committee or the ACIP-might delay action. Other mechanisms might be available: "Dear Doctor" letters could be sent, for instance, or existing supplies could be bought back from providers by vaccine makers or the CDC (in the case of doses purchased for the Vaccines for Children program).

The removal of thimerosal as a preservative from vaccines on the recommended childhood immunization schedule does not eliminate exposure to thimerosal from the other vaccines, such as DT or influenza, that some infants, children. and pregnant women receive. Therefore, the committee recommends that full consideration be given by appropriate professional societies and government agencies to removing thimerosal from vaccines administered to infants, children, or pregnant women in the United States. However, the committee draws attention to the recent recommendation of the ACIP that high-risk children and women beyond their first trimester of pregnancy during the influ

enza season should be vaccinated. The ACIP states, "Because pregnant women are at increased risk for influenza-related complications and because a substantial safety margin has been incorporated into the health guidance values for organic mercury exposure, the benefit of influenza vaccine outweighs the potential risks for thimerosal" (CDC, 2001e).

Thimerosal is also present in some pharmaceuticals, such as nasal sprays, used by infants, children, and pregnant women. The committee is unaware of risk-benefit analyses or risk assessments of thimerosal in pharmaceutical products, nor is it aware of the status of research into alternative preservatives. It seems prudent, however, that alternatives to thimerosal in these products be explored and, if risk analyses suggest a need to do so, be used. **Therefore, the committee recommends that appropriate professional societies and government agencies review their policies about the non-vaccine biological and pharmaceutical products that contain thimerosal and are used by infants, children, and pregnant women in the United States.** This recommental Health of the American Academy of Pediatrics that advocated reducing mercury exposure in children (Goldman et al., 2001).

The confusion that resulted among some providers following the rapid changes in recommendations regarding the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine suggests not that the policy decision was fundamentally flawed, but that improvements could be made in the formulation, communication, and implementation of vaccine policies. As the immunization schedule becomes more complex, and as vaccine safety concerns continue to emerge, it is likely that the public health community, medical professionals, and vaccine manufacturers will again be faced with the need to consider action regarding vaccine safety in the face of great uncertainty and of theoretical—rather than demonstrated—risks.

The committee recommends that policy analyses be conducted that will inform these discussions in the future.

- First, the committee recommends a review and assessment of how public health policy decisions are made under uncertainty, in order to develop suggestions to improve the decisionmaking process about vaccines in the future. These studies might consider, for example, how costs should be weighed against uncertain risks, who should bear the cost of added safety, and the impact of decisions on trust in the vaccine or health care system.
- In addition, the committee recommends a review of the strategies used to communicate rapid changes in vaccine policy, and it recommends research on how to improve those strategies.

Public Health and Biomedical Research

Although the risk of exposure to thimerosal through recommended childhood vaccinations has been mostly eliminated, questions remain as to whether or not thimerosal-containing vaccines may have previously contributed to neurodevelopmental disorders in some children. **The committee recommends a diverse public health and biomedical research portfolio.** This will be most effective if it involves several different agencies (thus maximizing resources), provides some findings fairly quickly, and utilizes a variety of approaches. These recommendations for additional research, some of which are underway or in development by CDC, NIH, FDA, universities, and the vaccine manufacturers, could support evidence-based decisions in other countries regarding whether or not to continue using thimerosal-containing vaccines. Research should be designed to accommodate the switch to non-thimerosal-containing products as soon as it is beneficial to change formulations. Specific recommendations on epidemiological, clinical, and basic science research are as follows.

Epidemiological Studies

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

- The committee recommends case-control studies examining the potential link between neurodevelopmental disorders and thimerosalcontaining vaccines. The studies should use clearly defined outcomes, specifically diagnoses (e.g., identified in terms of ICD-9 coding) that correspond to current practice. Gradients of performance on neurodevelopmental tests should be used as outcome measures only if they can be linked to specific diagnoses. Furthermore, the committee recommends examining multiple cognitive outcomes, including autism. In addition, because thimerosal poisonings were associated with adverse renal effects, renal outcomes should also be included in the epidemiological, clinical, and basic science studies of thimerosal exposure recommended in this report. Although there are many challenges that will arise in planning and conducting these studies (e.g., appropriate control group selection, conducting a retrospective assessment of mercury exposure from other sources), the committee believes that multiple case-control studies are an efficient approach for seeking answers to the causality questions.
- The committee is aware of several cohorts of children outside the United States who did not receive thimerosal-containing doses as part of a clinical trial of DTaP vaccine. The committee recommends further analysis of neurodevelopmental outcomes in these populations. Although the exposure levels to thimerosal in these children are lower than exposure levels in the United States, these cohorts have the powerful analytic benefit of randomized assignment to thimerosal-free or thimerosal-containing vaccines. Studies using these already-defined cohorts could probably be completed more quickly than a study that

would have to define and recruit some other population in the United States or elsewhere.

- The removal of thimerosal from vaccines on the recommended childhood • immunization schedule in the United States presents a unique opportunity to study whether this change affected the rates of neurodevelopmental disorders in children. The committee recommends conducting epidemiological studies that compare the incidence and prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders before and after the removal of thimerosal from vaccines. These studies should focus on multiple renal and cognitive outcomes, including autism. Collaborations with existing research studies, such as NIMH's Epidemiological Catchment Area studies or the Collaborating Program of Excellence in Autism, might be efficient and should be explored. Ecological studies are not well-suited to making individual-level causal inferences and comparisons before and after the removal of the thimerosal are problematic when the criteria for diagnosis, or the manner in which the criteria are applied, change over time, as they have with autism. However, the committee believes that well-designed ecological studies can provide support to other epidemiological studies.
- The committee recommends an increased effort to identify the primary sources and levels of prenatal and postnatal background exposure to thimerosal (e.g., Rho (D) Immune Globulin) and other forms of mercury (e.g., maternal consumption of fish) in infants, children, and pregnant women. Data on background exposures to mercury are sparse; additional studies may identify populations or quantify the number of children at higher risk for mercury toxicity. A feasibility assessment should be done to see if a meaningful study could be conducted regarding the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders due to thimerosal exposures through Rh immunoglobulin during pregnancy.

Where possible, studies of the rates of specific neurodevelopmental diagnoses in cohorts of children exposed to varying levels of thimerosal would be of interest. Such studies have to be large enough to have sufficient variation in exposure and in incidence rates of the diagnoses of interest to detect an association. They also should include uniform data on thimerosal exposure, clear definitions of neurodevelopmental disorders using current diagnostic rubrics, the use of standard clinical protocols for diagnosing neurodevelopmental disorders, and assessment of neurodevelopmental diagnoses by professionals who do not know the patients' exposure status.

The committee is aware of the planning under way for a two-stage follow-up study (Phase III) to the findings from the Phase I and II VSD studies. The plans for Phase III have been presented to several groups, including the committee at its July 2001 meeting (Stehr-Green, 2001). The Phase III study is conceived as a two-part retrospective cohort study in which participants, seven- to nine-year-old children, would be enrolled into one of three groups, based on exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines at specified points in the past. The

80

three groups would be defined according to two exposure factors: level of mercury exposure at birth, based on whether the birth dose of hepatitis B vaccine was received; and cumulative level of exposure to all thimerosal-containing vaccines during the first three months of life. The decision to group participants on the basis of levels of exposure during the earliest ages of life reflects the advice of expert consultants and a review of the methylmercury literature. The study will collect data on all vaccine exposures so as to permit analyses based on cumulative exposure at any age.

The study would focus on specific primary diagnostic outcomes identified from the Phase I screening analysis, including ADD, language and speech deficits, and tics. Autism is not included as an outcome in this study because of the high cost of the large sample size that would be needed to identify a sufficient number of cases of autism for a retrospective cohort design. A separate casecontrol study of autism has been proposed, although no study protocol has been developed.

The proposed follow-up study uses a two-part approach to assessing outcomes. In the first stage, a standardized set of neuropsychological tests would be administered to all study participants to identify children whose performance suggests the presence of selected neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD). In the second stage, confirmatory neuropsychological tests would be administered for ADD and speech or language delay specifically. The study would also develop measures of potential confounders (e.g., exposures to mercury, lead, PCBs, alcohol and other drugs, genetic predisposition, family medical history) and would attempt to evaluate the independent contribution of other vaccine antigens and components.

The committee recognizes that this study is still in the planning phase. Three issues loom large regarding the proposed Phase III study: feasibility, resources, and several technical design issues. The committee has reservations about such an ambitious and therefore resource-intensive study. It will be a few years until results and meaningful analyses are available. In addition, the power of the study to detect small relative risks is limited. The proposed Phase III study could thus be contributory, but would best be undertaken as part of an overall package of research and only if it accurately identifies neurodevelopmental conditions of concern.

Clinical Studies

Very little is known about the pharmacokinetics of ethylmercury exposure in humans. Better understanding of these mechanisms would have greatly facilitated the risk assessment of thimerosal in vaccines. The committee recommends research on how children, including those diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders, metabolize and excrete metals—particularly mercury. Studies of proteins known to be associated with metal metabolism, such as glutathione and metallothionein, could be undertaken. Some of this re

search could be done expeditiously through autism research centers, which have great expertise in identifying and working with autistic children.

81

- The committee recommends continued research on theoretical modeling of ethylmercury exposures, including the incremental burden of thimerosal with background mercury exposure from other sources. It would be particularly helpful to have such theoretical modeling done in conjunction with empiricists, so that the models could be better constructed.
- The committee is aware of several specialized pediatric practices that use chelation therapy to treat autistic children. These practitioners report unusual metal profiles in their patients as well as clinical improvement following chelation. However, chelation therapy is currently indicated only for acute, high-dose mercury poisonings. Given that chelation therapy is not a benign treatment, the committee recommends careful, rigorous, and scientific investigations of chelation when used in children with neurodevelopmental disorders, especially autism. Although studies of chelation would not be able to link excreted metal specifically with vaccine exposure, and therefore would not contribute to causality assessments, it is important to pursue these uncontrolled clinical observations in order to establish an evidence base for appropriate therapeutic uses of chelation.

Basic Science Studies

- Many countries continue to use thimerosal-containing vaccines given the proven benefits of thimerosal as a vaccine preservative for many years and the benefits of continued immunization. Complete risk assessments have not been done for other countries that would indicate the need to switch to thimerosal-free vaccines. However, the committee recommends research to identify a safe, effective, and inexpensive alternative to thimerosal for countries that decide they need to switch.
- Comparative animal studies of the toxicity of ethylmercury and methylmercury are limited, though the teratological effects of methylmercury in rodents and primates is well established. Several important questions regarding the potential risk of thimerosal exposure could have been informed by a wider and deeper literature from studies in laboratory animals. The committee recommends research in appropriate animal models on neurodevelopmental effects of ethylmercury. These would help elucidate the comparability and validity for ethylmercury of the risk assessments based on methylmercury.

Communications

The committee identified three specific impediments to effectively communicating the risks and benefits of thimerosal-containing vaccines to parents and practitioners. The first is the challenge of communicating policy changes given

82

the differing guidelines for mercury exposure. The differences in the exposure levels calculated by EPA, FDA, and ATSDR arise from use of different key studies and different uncertainty factors. In addition, concerns about risks related to thimerosal are difficult to convey, given the lack of direct evidence on the toxic effects of low-level exposure to ethylmercury. Partly because of the different exposure levels in the federal guidelines and the lack of evidence on ethylmercury, the messages about the risks of using thimerosal-containing vaccines have been complicated and not well understood by some professionals (Halsey and Goldman, 2001).

Second, finding information about thimerosal-containing vaccines on the websites of federal agencies is difficult. Federal agencies with responsibilities related to vaccines do not necessarily have pages on their websites devoted to concerns about thimerosal-containing vaccines. In order to design websites that respond more effectively to vaccine safety concerns, additional information is needed about how parents access such information. Similarly, additional information is needed about how clinicians (physicians, nurses, and others) access vaccine safety information and the most successful communication strategies for reaching them.

Third, information about vaccine risks on government websites contains words that may be perceived as judgmental, such as "should." Using words that are less directive and prescriptive is important in effectively communicating vaccine risks (NRC, 1989). For example, the message may be more effective if it is stated as "CDC is confident that...." rather than, "parents should feel confident that...." Establishing trust is an important factor in communicating risk effectively, but the message loses its effectiveness when the source of the information is not considered credible and when the language is not understandable (Carpenter, 1995; NRC, 1989). Communication strategies need to be specific to the intended audience and should ensure that language levels are appropriate for that audience.

As the committee noted in its previous report (IOM, 2001), there are numerous broad and recurring communication concerns in various vaccine safety issues. The committee has not attempted to address these issues here, but will examine them in a separate, more general context.

SUMMARY

Mercury is a known neurotoxicant. Little is known about ethylmercury (the active component in thimerosal) compared to methylmercury. However, the committee believes that the effort to remove thimerosal from vaccines was a prudent measure in support of the public health goal to reduce the mercury exposure of infants and children as much as possible. The committee urges, in fact, that full consideration be given to removing thimerosal from any biological or pharmaceutical product to which infants, children, and pregnant women are ex

83

posed. The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

The committee also concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal exposures from childhood vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay. The limited and unpublished epidemiological data constitute weak and inconclusive evidence regarding causality. However, because thimerosal remains in vaccines in other countries and in biological and pharmaceutical products in the United States, and because it is imperative to restore and maintain trust in vaccines, the committee believes that continued public health attention must be paid to this issue in the form of policy review and analysis, public health and biomedical research, and improved communication strategies. Box 5 summarizes the committee's conclusions and recommendations.

BOX 5 COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

84

CONCLUSIONS

The committee concludes that although the hypothesis that exposure to thimerosal-containing vaccines could be associated with neurodevelopmental disorders is not established and rests on indirect and incomplete information, primarily from analogies with methylmercury and levels of maximum mercury exposure from vaccines given in children, the hypothesis is biologically plausible.

The committee also concludes that the evidence is inadequate to accept or reject a causal relationship between thimerosal exposures from childhood vaccines and the neurodevelopmental disorders of autism, ADHD, and speech or language delay.

PUBLIC HEALTH RESPONSE RECOMMENDATIONS *Policy Review and Analysis*

The committee recommends the use of the thimerosal-free DTaP, Hib, and hepatitis B vaccines in the United States, despite the fact that there might be remaining supplies of thimerosal-containing vaccine available.

The committee recommends that full consideration be given by appropriate professional societies and government agencies to removing thimerosal from vaccines administered to infants, children, or pregnant women in the United States.

The committee recommends that appropriate professional societies and government agencies review their policies about the non-vaccine biological and pharmaceutical products that contain thimerosal and are used by infants, children, and pregnant women in the United States.

The committee recommends that policy analyses be conducted that will inform these discussions in the future.

The committee recommends a review and assessment of how public health policy decisions are made under uncertainty.

The committee recommends a review of the strategies used to communicate rapid changes in vaccine policy, and it recommends research on how to improve those strategies.

Public Health and Biomedical Research

The committee recommends a diverse public health and biomedical research portfolio.

http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMI INIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

85

Epidemiological Research

The committee recommends case-control studies examining the potential link between neurodevelopmental disorders and thimerosalcontaining vaccines.

The committee recommends further analysis of neurodevelopmental disorders in cohorts of children who did not receive thimerosal-containing doses as part of a clinical trial of DTaP vaccine.

The committee recommends conducting epidemiological studies that compare the incidence and prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders before and after the removal of thimerosal from vaccines.

The committee recommends an increased effort to identify the primary sources and levels of prenatal and postnatal background exposure to thimerosal (e.g., Rho (D) Immune Globulin) and other forms of mercury (e.g., maternal consumption of fish) in infants, children, and pregnant women.

Clinical Research

The committee recommends research on how children, including those diagnosed with neurodevelopmental disorders, metabolize and excrete metals-particularly mercury.

The committee recommends continued research on theoretical modeling of ethylmercury exposures, including the incremental burden of thimerosal with background mercury exposure from other sources.

The committee recommends careful, rigorous, and scientific investigations of chelation when used in children with neurodevelopmental disorders, especially autism.

Basic Science Research

The committee recommends research to identify a safe, effective, and inexpensive alternative to thimerosal for countries that decide they need to switch from using thimerosal as a preservative.

The committee recommends research in appropriate animal models on the neurodevelopmental effects of ethylmercury.

REFERENCES

86

- AAP (American Academy of Pediatrics). 1999. Thimerosal in vaccines—An interim report to clinicians. American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on Infectious Diseases and Committee on Environmental Health. *Pediatrics* 104(3 Pt 1):570–574.
- APA (American Psychiatric Association); 1994 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. Washington, DC: APA.
- Amin-Zaki L, Elhassani S, Majeed MA, Clarkson TW, Doherty RA, Greenwood MR, Giovanoli-Jakubczak T. 1976. Perinatal methylmercury poisoning in Iraq. Am J Dis Child 130:1070– 1076.
- Aschner M, Aschner JL. 1990. Mercury neurotoxicity: Mechanisms of blood-brain barrier transport. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 14(2):169–176.
- Atkins K. 2001. Fears Raised Over Preservative in Vaccines. Boston Globe July 17, 2001.
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). 1999. Toxicological Profile for Mercury (Update).
- Axton JH. 1972. Six cases of poisoning after a parenteral organic mercurial compound (merthiolate). Postgrad Med J 48(561):417–421.
- Bakir F, Damluji SF, Amin-Zaki L, Murtadha M, Khalidi A, al-Rawi NY, Tikriti S, Dahahir HI, Clarkson TW, Smith JC, Doherty RA. 1973. Methylmercury poisoning in Iraq. Science 181 (96):230–241.
- Ball LK, Ball R, Pratt RD. 2001. An assessment of thimerosal use in childhood vaccines. *Pediatrics* 107(5):1147–1154.
- Ballatori N, Clarkson TW. 1984. Dependence of biliary secretion of inorganic mercury on the biliary transport of glutathione. *Biochem Pharmacol* 33(7):1093–1098.
- Bernard S, Enayati A, Redwood L, Roger H, Binstock T. 2001. Autism: A novel form of mercury poisoning. *Med Hypotheses* 56(4):462–471.
- Blaxill M. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Rising Incidence of Autism: Association with Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Boyle CA, Decoufle P, Yeargin-Allsopp M. 1994. Prevalence and health impact of developmental disabilities in U.S. children. *Pediatrics* 93:399–403.
- Bradstreet J. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. The Role of Heavy Metals in Autism: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Brown D. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Pharmacokinetic Modeling of Hair Mercury Levels from Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Brown RT, Freeman WS, Perrin JM, Stein MT, Amler RW, Feldman HM, Pierce K, Wolraich ML. 2001. Prevalence and assessment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in primary care settings. *Pediatrics* 107:E43.
- California Department of Developmental Services, Health and Human Services Agency. 1999. Changes in the Population of Persons with Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders in California's Developmental Services System: 1987 Through 1998.
- Carpenter DO. 1995. Communicating with the public on issues of science and public health. *Environ Health Perspect* 103 Suppl 6:127–130.
- Cave S. 2000. Testimony to U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Government Reform. June 18, 2000. *Mercury in Medicine—Are We Taking Unnecessary Risks?*
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 1991a. Hepatitis B Virus: A Comprehensive Strategy for Eliminating Transmission in the United States Through Universal Childhood Vaccination: Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). *MMWR* 40((RR-13)):1–19.

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/102108.html

p.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

87

- CDC. 1991b. Haemophilus b Conjugate Vaccines for Prevention of Haemophilus Influenzae Type b Disease Among Infants and Children Two Months of Age and Older Recommendations of the ACIP. MMWR 40(RR01):1–7.
- CDC. 1997. Pertussis Vaccination: Use of Acellular Pertussis Vaccines Among Infants and Young Children. *MMWR* 46 (RR-7):2–25.
- CDC. 1999a. Thimerosal in vaccines: A joint statement of the American Academy of Pediatrics and the Public Health Service. *MMWR* 48(26):563–565.
- CDC. 1999b. Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Public Health Perspective. NCEH Pub No. 99–0362. Atlanta: CDC.
- CDC. 1999c. Availability of hepatitis B vaccine that does not contain thimerosal as a preservative. MMWR 48(35):780–782.
- CDC. 2000a. Poliomyelitis prevention in the United States: Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR* 49(RR-5):1–22.
- CDC. 2000b. Summary of the joint statement on thimerosal in vaccines. American Academy of Family Physicians, American Academy of Pediatrics, Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, Public Health Service. MMWR 49(27):622, 631.
- CDC. 2000c. Update: Expanded availability of thimerosal preservative-free hepatitis B vaccine. MMWR 49(28):642–643.
- CDC, 2001a. Notice to Readers: Update on the Supply of Tetanus and Diphtheria Toxoids and of Diptheria and Tetanus Toxoids and Accellular Pertussis Vaccine. *MMWR* 50(10):189–190.
- CDC. 2001b. Personal Communication with John Iskander. VAERS Reports.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

- CDC. 2001c. Impact of the 1999 AAP/USPHS joint statement on thimerosal in vaccines on infant hepatitis B vaccination practices. *MMWR* 50(6):94–97.
- CDC. 2001d. National Report on Human Exposures to Environmental Chemicals. Available on the web at http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/dls/report/PDF/CompleteReport.pdf.
- CDC. 2001e. Prevention and control of influenza. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. *MMWR* 50(RR-4).
- CDC. 2001f. FAQs: Mercury & Thimerosal. National Immunization Program. Available on the web at http://www.cdc.gov/nip/vacsafe/concerns/thimerosal/faqs-mercury.htm.
- CDC, 2001g. Recommended Childhood Immunization Schedule—United States. January-December, 2001. Available on the web at http://www.cdc.gov/nip/recs/child-schedule.PDF.
- Cernichiari E, Toribara TY, Liang L, Marsh DO, Berlin MW, Myers GJ, Cox C, Shamlaye CF, Choisy O, Davidson P, et al. 1995. The biological monitoring of mercury in the Seychelles study. *Neurotoxicology* 16(4):613–628.
- Chakrabarti S, Fombonne E. 2001. Pervasive developmental disorders in preschool children. JAMA 285(24):3093–3099.
- Chang LW, Wade PR, Pounds JG, Reuhl KR. 1980. Prenatal and neonatal toxicology and pathology of heavy metals. *Adv Pharmacol Chemother* 17:195–231.
- Cinca I, Dumitrescu I, Onaca P, Serbanescu A, Nestorescu B. 1980. Accidental ethyl mercury poisoning with nervous system, skeletal muscle, and myocardium injury. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 43(2):143–149.
- Clarkson TW. 1972. The pharmacology of mercury compounds. Ann Rev Pharmacol 12(96):375–406.
- Clarkson TW. 1997. The toxicology of mercury. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 34(4):369-403.
- Clements CJ, Ball LK, Ball R, Pratt D. 2000. Thiomersal in vaccines. Lancet 355(9211):1279–1280.
- Cox NH, Forsyth A. 1988. Thiomersal allergy and vaccination reactions. *Contact Dermatitis* 18 (4):229–233.

88

- Damluji S. 1962. Mercurial poisoning with the fungicide Granosan M. J Fac Med Baghdad 4(3):83– 103.
- Davidson PW, Myers GJ, Cox C, Axtell C, Shamlaye C, Sloane-Reeves J, Cernichiari E, Needham L, Choi A, Wang Y, Berlin M, Clarkson TW. 1998. Effects of prenatal and postnatal methylmercury exposure from fish consumption on neurodevelopment: Outcomes at 66 months of age in the Seychelles Child Development Study. JAMA 280(8):701–707.
- Davidson PW, Myers GJ, Cox C, Shamlaye CF, Marsh DO, Tanner MA, Berlin M, Sloane-Reeves J, Cernichiari E, Choisy O, et al. 1995. Longitudinal neurodevelopmental study of Seychellois children following in utero exposure to methylmercury from maternal fish ingestion: Outcomes at 19 and 29 months. *Neurotoxicology* 16(4):677–688.
- Davidson PW, Palumbo D, Myers GJ, Cox C, Shamlaye CF, Sloane-Reeves J, Cernichiari E, Wilding GE, Clarkson TW. 2000. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of Seychellois children from the pilot cohort at 108 months following prenatal exposure to methylmercury from a maternal fish diet. *Environ Res* 84(1):1–11.
- El-Dahr JM. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Biologic Plausibility and Planned Research: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Ellenberg S, Chen R. 1997. The complicated task of monitoring vaccine safety. *Public Health Reports* 112:10–20.
- Eme RF, Kavanaugh L. 1995. Sex differences in conduct disorder. Journal of Clinical Child Psychology 24(4):406–426.
- EMEA (European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products). 1999. Public Statement on Thiomersal Containing Products. July 8, 1999. EMEA/20962/99. Available on the web at: www.emea.eu.int/pdfs/human/press/pus/2096299EN.pdf.
- EMEA. 2001. Points to consider on the reduction, elimination, or substitution of thiomersal in vaccines. April 26, 2001. CPMP/BWP/2517/00. Available on the web at: http://www.emea.eu.int/pdfs/human/bwp/251700en.pdf.
- Enestrom S, Hultman P. 1995. Does amalgam affect the immune system? A controversial issue. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 106:180–203.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1997. Mercury Study Report to Congress: Volume 1 Executive Summary. EPA 452/R-97–003.
- EPA. 2001. Water Quality Criterion for the Protection of Human Health: Methylmercury. EPA-823-R-01–001.
- Evans G. 1999. Vaccine injury compensation programs worldwide. Vaccine 17(Suppl 3):S25-35.
- Evans H. 1998. Mercury. In Environmental and Occupational Medicine, 3rd Edition. Lippincott-Raven: Philadelphia.
- Fagan DG, Pritchard JS, Clarkson TW, Greenwood MR. 1977. Organ mercury levels in infants with omphaloceles treated with organic mercurial antiseptic. Arch Dis Child 52(12):962–964.
- FDA (Food and Drug Administration). 1979. Action level for mercury on fish, shellfish, crustaceans, and other aquatic animals. *Federal Register* 44(14):3990–3993.
- FDA. 1999. Mercury compounds in drugs and food. Available: http://www.fda.gov/cber/genadmin/ merclst.htm
- FDA. 2001. Thimerosal content in some currently manufactured U.S. licensed vaccines (table). [Online]. Available: http://www.fda.gov/cber/vaccine/thimcnt.htm [accessed July, 2001].
- Filipek PA, Accardo PJ, Baranek GT, Cook EH Jr, Dawson G, Gordon B, Gravel JS, Johnson CP, Kallen RJ, Levy SE, Minshew NJ, Ozonoff S, Prizant BM, Rapin I, Rogers SJ, Stone WL, Teplin S, Tuchman RF, Volkmar FR. 1999. The screening and diagnosis of autistic spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 29(6):439–484.

89

Fisher BL. Comments made at January 11, 2001 Meeting. Institute of Medicine. Washington, DC. Fombonne E. 2001a. Is there an epidemic of autism? *Pediatrics* 107(2):411–413.

- Fombonne E. 2001b. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. New Studies: Washington, DC. March 8, 2001.
- Freed GL, Andreae M. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. History of Thimerosal Concern and Comparative Policy Actions: Cambridge, Massachusetts: July, 16 2001.
- Gellin BG, Maibach EW, Marcuse EK. 2000. Do parents understand immunizations? A national telephone survey. *Pediatrics* 106(5):1097–1102.
- General Biologics Product Standards. 2000. Constituent materials. 21 CFR 610.15.
- Gillberg C, Wing L. 1999. Autism: Not an extremely rare disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 99(6):399– 406.
- Ginsberg GL, Toal BF. 2000. Development of a single-meal fish consumption advisory for methyl mercury. *Risk Anal* 20:41–47.
- Goldman LR, Shannon MW, Committee on Environmental Health. 2001. Technical report: Mercury in the environment: Implications for pediatricians. *Pediatrics* 108(1):197–205.
- Goldstein BD. 2001. The precautionary principle also applies to public health actions. Am J Public Health 91:1358–1361.
- Grandjean P. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Faroe Islands Study: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Grandjean P, Weihe P, White RF, Debes F, Araki S, Yokoyama K, Murata K, Sorensen N, Dahl R, Jorgensen PJ. 1997. Cognitive deficit in 7-year-old children with prenatal exposure to methylmercury. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* 19(6):417–428.
- Griem P, Gleichmann E. 1995. Metal ion induced autoimmunity. Curr Opin Immunol 7:831-838.
- Guevara J, Lozano P, Wickizer T, Mell L, Gephart H. 2001. Utilization and cost of health care services for children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics* 108:71–78.
- Haley BE. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. In Vitro Studies of Thimerosal Toxicity: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Halsey NA. 1999a. Perspective on the Use of Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines. NVAC Workshop on Thimerosal and Vaccines: Bethesda, Maryland.
- Halsey NA. 1999b. Limiting infant exposure to thimerosal in vaccines and other sources of mercury. JAMA 282(18):1763–1766.
- Halsey NA, Goldman L. 2001. Balancing risks and benefits: Primum non nocere is too simplistic. *Pediatrics* 108:466–467.
- Harada M. 1995. Minamata disease: Methylmercury poisoning in Japan caused by environmental pollution. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 25(1):1–24.
- Harris SL, Handleman JS. 1997. Helping children with autism enter the mainstream. Cohen DJ, Volkmar FR. Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. New York: John Wiley & Sons. Pp. 665–675.
- Hay WJ, Rickards AG, McMenemey WH, Cumings JN. 1963. Organic mercurial encephalopathy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 26:199–202.
- Howlin P., Goode S. 1998. Outcome in adult life for people with autism and Asperger's syndrome. Volkmar FR. Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press. Pp. 209–241.
- Hurie MB, Saari TN, Davis JP. 2001. Impact of the joint statement by the American Academy of Pediatrics/U.S. Public Health Service on thimerosal in vaccines on hospital infant hepatitis b vaccination practices. *Pediatrics* 107(4):755–758.

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders

http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

90

- Ingram JL, Stodgell CJ, Hyman SL, Figlewicz DA, Weitkamp LR, Rodier PM. 2000. Discovery of allelic variants of HOXA1 and HOXB1: Genetic susceptibility to autism spectrum disorders. Teratology 62(6):393-405.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). 1991a. Adverse Events Following Pertussis and Rubella Vaccines. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1991b. Seafood Safety. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1994a. Adverse Events Associated with Childhood Vaccines: Evidence Bearing on Causality. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1994b. DPT Vaccine and Chronic Nervous System Dysfunction: A New Analysis. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1996. Options for Poliomyelitis Vaccination in the United States: Workshop Summary. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1997a. Risk Communication and Vaccination: Workshop Summary. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1997b. Vaccine Safety Forum: Summaries of Two Workshops. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 2001. Immunization Safety Review: Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine and Autism. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Jalili MA, Abbasi AH. 1961. Poisoning by ethyl mercury toluene sulphonanilide. Brit J Industr Med 18:303-308.
- Jamieson WA, Powell HM. 1931. Merthiolate as a preservative for biological products. Amer J Hyg 14:218-224.
- Kerper LE, Ballatori N, Clarkson TW. 1992. Methylmercury transport across the blood-brain barrier by an amino acid carrier. Am J Physiol 262:R761-765.
- Kriebel D, Tickner J. 2001. Reenergizing public health through precaution. Am J Public Health 91:1351-1355.
- Lainhart JE, Piven J. 1995. Diagnosis, treatment, and neurobiology of autism in children. Curr Opin Pediatr 7(4):392-400.
- Law J, Boyle J, Harris F, Harkness A, Nye C. 2000. Prevalence and natural history of primary speech and language delay: Findings from a systematic review of the literature. Int J Lang Commun Disord 35:165-188.
- Leibson CL, Katusic SK, Barbaresi WJ, Ransom J, O'Brien PC. 2001. Use and costs of medical care for children and adolescents with and without attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA 285:60-66.
- Leung AK, Kao CP.1999. Evaluation and management of the child with speech delay. Am Fam Physician 59(11):3121-3128, 3135.
- Lowell JA, Burgess S, Shenoy S, Curci JA, Peters M, Howard TK. 1996. Mercury poisoning associated with high-dose hepatitis-B immune globulin administration after liver transplantation for chronic hepatitis B. Liver Transpl Surg 2(6):475-458.
- Magos L. 2001a. Answers to questions on the toxicity of ethylmercury. Prepared for the Institute of Medicine's Immunization Safety Review Committee. July 2, 2001.
- Magos L. 2001b. Review on the toxicity of ethylmercury, including its presence as a preservative in biological and pharmaceutical products. J Appl Toxicol 21(1):1-5.
- Mahaffey KR. 1999. Methylmercury: A new look at the risks. Public Health Rep 114(5):396-399, 402-413.
- Maibach H. 1975. Acute laryngeal obstruction presumed secondary to thiomersal (merthiolate) delayed hypersensitivity. Contact Dermatitis 1:221-222.
- Manning A. 2000. To vaccinate or not to vaccinate: Parents worry about safety-Which worries health officials. USA Today Jul 17, 2000.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original

91

- Marsh DO, Clarkson TW, Cox C, Myers GJ, Amin-Zaki L, Al-Tikriti S. 1987. Fetal methylmercury poisoning. Relationship between concentration in single strands of maternal hair and child effects. Arch Neurol 44(10):1017-1022.
- Matheson DS, Clarkson TW, Gelfand EW. 1980. Mercury toxicity (acrodynia) induced by long-term injection of gammaglobulin. J Pediatr 97(1):153-155.
- Moore SJ, Turnpenny P, Quinn A, Glover S, Lloyd DJ, Montgomery T, Dean JC. 2000. A clinical study of 57 children with fetal anticonvulsant syndromes. J Med Genet 37:489-497.
- Myers G. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Seychelles Islands Study: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- NIH (National Institute of Health). National Institute of Mental Health. 2001. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. NIH Publication No. 01-4589. Bethesda, MD: NIH.
- NIH. 1998. Diagnosis and Treatment of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. NIH Consens Statement Online 16(2):1-37. Bethesda, MD: NIH.
- NRC (National Research Council). 1989. Improving Risk Communication. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- NRC. 2000. Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Offit PA. 2000. Preventing harm from thimerosal in vaccines. JAMA 283:2104.
- Oram RJ, Daum RS, Seal JB, Lauderdale DS. 2001. Impact of recommendations to suspend the birth dose of hepatitis B virus vaccine. JAMA 285:1874-1879.
- Persico AM, D'Agruma L, Maiorano N, Totaro A, Militerni R, Bravaccio C, Wassink TH, Schneider C, Melmed R, Trillo S, Montecchi F, Palermo M, Pascucci T, Puglisi-Allegra S, Reichelt KL, Conciatori M, Marino R, Quattrocchi CC, Baldi A, Zelante L, Gasparini P, Keller F: Collaborative Linkage Study of Autism. 2001. Reelin gene alleles and haplotypes as a factor predisposing to autistic disorder. Mol Psychiatry 6:150-159.
- Pfab R, Muckter H, Roider G, Zilker T. 1996. Clinical course of severe poisoning with thiomersal. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 34(4):453-460.
- Physicians' Desk Reference (PDR). 2001. 55th ed. Montvale, NJ: Medical Economics Company, Inc.
- Physicians' GenRx. 1993. Physicians' GenRx: The Official Drug Reference of FDA Prescribing Information and Therapeutic Evaluation. Smithton, NY: Data Pharmaceutica Inc.
- Pichichero ME, Clarkson T, Lepricato J, Cernichiari E, Tremor J. 2001. Blood Mercury Levels to Infants Receiving Thimerosal Containing Vaccines (Abstract #1385). Pediatric Research 49(4):243A.
- Plotkin SA. Preventing harm from thimerosal in vaccines. 2000. JAMA 283:2104-2105.
- Pollard KM, Hultman P. 1997. Effects of mercury on the immune system. Met Ions Biol Syst 34:421-440.
- Powell HM, Jamieson WA. 1931. Merthiolate as a germicide. Am J Hyg 13:296-310.
- Rogan WJ, Dietrich KN, Ware JH, Dockery DW, Salganik M, Radcliffe J, Jones RL, Ragan NB, Chisolm JJ Jr, Rhoads GG; Treatment of Lead-Exposed Children Trial Group. 2001. The effect of chelation therapy with succimer on neuropsychological development in children exposed to lead. N Engl J Med 344:1421-1426.
- Rohyans J, Walson PD, Wood GA, MacDonald WA. 1984. Mercury toxicity following merthiolate ear irrigations. J Pediatr 104(2):311-313.
- Sager P. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. NIH Studies on Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders

http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMI INIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

92

- Sandborgh Englund G, Dahlqvist R, Lindelof B, Soderman E, Jonzon B, Vesterberg O, Larsson KS. 1994. DMSA administration to patients with alleged mercury poisoning from dental amalgams: A placebo-controlled study. J Dent Res 73(3):620-628.
- Seal JB, Daum RS. 2001. What happened to primum non nocere? Pediatrics 107:1177-1178.
- Shriberg LD, Tomblin JB, McSweeny JL. 1999. Prevalence of speech delay in 6-year-old children and comorbidity with language impairment. J Speech Lang Hear Res 42:1461–1481.
- Silva PA, McGee R, Williams SM. 1983. Developmental language delay from three to seven years and its significance for low intelligence and reading difficulties at age seven . Dev Med Child Neurol 25:783-793.
- Singleton JA, Lloyd JC, Mootrey GT, Salive ME, Chen RT. 1999. An overview of the vaccine adverse event reporting system (VAERS) as a surveillance system. Vaccine 17:2908-2917.
- Stajich GV, Lopez GP, Harry SW, Sexson WR. 2000. Iatrogenic exposure to mercury after hepatitis B vaccination in preterm infants. J Pediatr 136(5):679-681.
- Stehr-Green PA. 2000. Summary and conclusions: Review of Vaccine Safety Datalink information on thimerosal-containing vaccines. Rapporteur's Report of National Immunization Program, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Stehr-Green PA. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Protocol for National Immunization Program Study on Thimerosal: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.
- Stromland K, Nordin V, Miller M, Akerstrom B, Gillberg C. 1994. Autism in thalidomide embryopathy: A population study. Dev Med Child Neurol 36:351-356.
- Sundberg J, Oskarsson A. 1992. Placental and lactational transfer of mercury from rats exposed to methylmercury in their diet: Speciation of mercury in the offspring. Journal of Trace Elements in Experimental Medicine 5(1):47-56.
- Suzuki T, Miyama T, Katsunuma H. 1963. Comparative study of bodily distribution of mercury in mice after subcutaneous administration of methyl, ethyl, and n-propyl mercury acetates. Japan J Exp Med 33(5):277-282.
- Suzuki T, Takemoto T, Kashiwazaki H, Miyama T. 1973. Metabolic fate of ethylmercury salts in man and animal. Miler MW, Clarkson TW, Editors. Mercury, Mercurials and Mercaptans. Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas.
- Sykes L. 2001. Comments made at July 16, 2001 Meeting. Institute of Medicine. Cambridge, MA.
- Takeda Y, Kunugi T, Terao T, Ukita T. 1968. Mercury compounds in the blood of rats treated with ethylmercuric chloride. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 13:165-173.
- Tanguay PE. 2000. Pervasive developmental disorders: A 10-year review. J Amer Acad Child Adol Psych 39(9):1079-1095.
- Tsubaki T, Irukayama K. 1977. Minamata Disease. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- U.S. House of Representatives. Committee on Government Reform. Autism-Why the Increased Risks? April 25-26, 2001.
- U.S. House of Representatives Committee on Government Reform. July 18, 2000. Mercury in Medicine—Are We Taking Unnecessary Risks? [Online]. Available: http:// www.house.gov/reform/hearings/healthcare/00.07.18/index.htm [accessed May, 2001].
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. 1996. Guide to Clinical Preventive Services. 2nd ed. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins.
- Verstraeten T. 2001. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD) Screening Study and Follow-Up Analysis with Harvard Pilgrim Data: Cambridge, Massachusetts. July 16, 2001.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

93

- Walsh W, Usman A. 2001. Metal-metabolism and autism. American Psychiatric Association Annual Meeting: New Orleans.
- Wassink TH, Piven J, Vieland VJ, Huang J, Swiderski RE, Pietila J, Braun T, Beck G, Folstein SE, Haines JL, Sheffield VC. 2001. Evidence supporting WNT2 as an autism susceptibility gene. Am J Med Genet 105:406–413.
- Weed DL, Hursting SD. 1998. Biologic plausibility in causal inference: Current method and practice. *Am J Epidemiol* 147:415–425.
- Wentz PW. 2000. Chelation therapy: Conventional treatments. Advance/Laboratory. Available on www.advancefor AL.com.
- Whitehurst GJ, Fischel JE. 1994. Practitioner review: Early developmental language delay: What, if anything, should the clinician do about it? J Child Psychol Psychiatry 35:613–648.
- WHO (World Health Organization). 1990. Environmental Health Criteria 101: Methylmercury. Geneva.
- WHO. 2000. Thiomersal as a vaccine preservative. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 75(2):12-16.
- Wilson GS. 1967. The Hazards of Immunization. New York: The Athlone Press: pp. 75-84.
- Wing L. 1997. The autistic spectrum. Lancet 350(9093):1761-1766.
- Wolraich ML, Hannah JN, Baumgaertel A, Pinnock TY. 1996a. Further examination of diagnostic criteria for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (DSM-IV) in a countywide sample. 1996 Abstracts the American Pediatric Society and the Society for Pediatric Research 39(4 Suppl 2):21.
- Wolraich ML, Hannah JN, Pinnock TY, Baumgaertel A, Brown J. 1996b. Comparison of diagnostic criteria for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in a county-wide sample. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 35:319–324.
- Yoshida M, Satoh H, Kishimoto T, Yamamura Y. 1992. Exposure to mercury via breast milk in suckling offspring of maternal guinea pigs exposed to mercury vapor after parturition. J Toxicol Environ Health 35:135–139.
- Zhang J. 1984. Clinical observations in ethylmercury chloride poisoning. *Am J Ind Med* 5(3):251–258.
Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW: THIMEROSAL-CONTAINING VACCINES AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS

94

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

95

Appendix A

Immunization Safety Review: Measles-Mumps-Rubella Vaccine and Autism Executive Summary

Immunization is widely regarded as one of the most effective and beneficial tools for protecting the public's health. In the United States, immunization programs have resulted in the eradication of smallpox, the elimination of polio, and the control and near elimination of once-common, often debilitating and potentially life-threatening diseases, including measles, mumps, rubella, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, and *Haemophilus influenzae* type b.

Along with the benefits of widespread immunization, however, have come concerns about the safety of vaccines. No vaccine is perfectly safe or effective, and vaccines may lead to serious adverse effects in some instances. Furthermore, if a serious illness is observed after vaccination, it is often unclear whether that sequence is coincidental or causal, and it can be difficult to determine the true nature of the relationship, if any, between the vaccination and the illness.

Ironically, the successes of vaccine coverage in the United States have made it more difficult for the public to weigh the benefits and complications of vaccines because the now-controlled diseases and their often-serious risks are no longer familiar. However, because vaccines are so widely used—and because state laws require that children be vaccinated before entering daycare and school, in part to protect others—it is essential that safety concerns be fully and carefully studied.

This report, the first of a series from the Institute of Medicine (IOM) Immunization Safety Review Committee, presents an assessment of the evidence regarding a hypothesized causal association between the measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine and autism, an assessment of the broader significance for soci Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

APPENDIX A

ety of the issues surrounding the MMR-autism hypothesis, and the committee's conclusions and recommendations based on those assessments.

OVERVIEW OF THE IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW PROJECT

Since the mid-1990s, an increasing number of challenges to the safety of vaccinations have gained attention in various settings. The Committee on Government Reform of the U.S. House of Representatives held seven hearings on vaccine-safety issues during 1999–2000, and the media—including news programs such as *60 Minutes*, *20/20*, and *Nightline*—have covered these issues as well. Also, many consumer and professional organizations have sponsored related conferences and scientific symposia, and the Internet is playing an increasingly important communications role.

With these growing concerns about vaccine safety, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the National Institutes of Health (NIH) recognized the need for an independent group to address safety concerns in a timely and objective manner. In 1999, as a result of previous IOM work on vaccine safety and the Institute's access to independent scientific experts, CDC and NIH began a year of discussions with IOM to develop the Immunization Safety Review project to address existing and emerging vaccine-safety concerns.

The Immunization Safety Review Committee, convened in the fall of 2000, comprises 15 members with expertise in pediatrics, neurology, immunology, internal medicine, infectious diseases, genetics, epidemiology, biostatistics, risk perception and communication, decision analysis, public health, nursing, and ethics. To preclude any real or perceived conflicts of interest, committee members were subject to strict selection criteria that excluded anyone who had financial ties to vaccine manufacturers or their parent companies, previous service on vaccine advisory committees, or prior expert testimony or publications on issues of vaccine safety.

The committee is charged with examining three vaccine-safety hypotheses each year during the 3-year study period (2001–2003). The Interagency Vaccine Group (IAG) comprising officials from the National Vaccine Program Office at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), the National Immunization Program and the National Center for Infectious Diseases at the CDC, the National Institute for Allergy and Infectious Diseases at the NIH, the Department of Defense, the Food and Drug Administration, the National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program at the Health Resources and Services Administration, the Health Care Financing Administration, and the Agency for International Development, will select the hypotheses to be examined by the committee. The committee's findings will be released to the public in a series of brief consensus reports.

In contrast to previous IOM vaccine-safety studies (e.g. IOM, 1991, 1994a,b), which limited their conclusions to causality assessments and recommendations on future research directions, the Immunization Safety Review Committee has been asked to assess not only the scientific plausibility of the hypothesized association but also the significance of the issue in a broader societal context. The plausibility assessment has two components: (1) an examination of the causal relationship between the vaccine and the adverse event, and (2) an examination of any pathogenic mechanisms that support the hypothesis. The significance assessment addresses such considerations as the burden of the adverse health event in question, the burden of disease that the vaccine prevents, and the level and potential consequences of public concern about the safety of vaccine use.

The findings of the plausibility and significance assessments provide the basis for the committee's recommendations regarding public health response, immunization policy review, current and future research, and effective communication strategies for the specific immunization-safety questions.

The committee adopted the framework for assessing causality developed by the committees previously convened by the IOM (IOM, 1991, 1994a) to address questions of vaccine safety. To evaluate the hypothesis on MMR vaccine and autism, the committee collected information from several sources, including a review of the published, peer-reviewed scientific and medical literature, and commissioned a background paper reviewing the epidemiological studies of MMR vaccine and autism. The committee also held an open scientific meeting in March 2001 (see Appendix B) to review the current understanding of the etiology and epidemiology of autism and on-going investigations regarding the MMR vaccine and autism hypothesis.

THE HYPOTHESIZED RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MMR AND AUTISM

Autism is a complex and severe developmental disorder characterized by impairments of social interaction, impairments in verbal and nonverbal communication, and restricted or repetitive and stereotyped patterns of behaviors and interests (APA, 1994; Filipek et al., 1999). Over time, research has identified subtle differences in the onset and progression of autistic symptoms. The term "autistic spectrum disorders" (ASD), synonymous with "pervasive developmental disorders" (PDD), refers to a continuum of related cognitive and neurobehavioral disorders that reflects the heterogeneity of these symptoms. ASD includes autistic disorder, childhood disintegrative disorder, Asperger's syndrome, Rett's syndrome, and pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS or atypical autism). While the primary deficits are similar for all of these disorders, patients vary in the severity of their symptoms and level of cognitive impairment. Although Rett's syndrome is included in the diagnostic category of ASD, it is considered by many to be a distinct neurologic disorder and this diag

nosis is not included in most research which has evaluated the association of the MMR vaccine with autism. In this report, the terms "autism," "autistic," and "autistic spectrum disorders" are used interchangeably to refer to this broader group of pervasive developmental disorders. The term "autistic disorder" refers to a more narrow diagnosis defined by criteria in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th edition* (DSM-IV) (APA, 1994).

Research has established a very strong genetic component in the etiology of autism, but other factors, including infectious, neurologic, metabolic, immunologic, and environmental insults, may play important roles. However, significant gaps still remain in our understanding of the risk factors and etiologic mechanisms of ASD.

Clinical descriptions of autism suggest two different types of presentation, including early onset and regression, distinguished by the reported time-course of the developmental abnormalities. Most cases of autism appear to be early onset, resulting from prenatal or early postnatal insults (Bristol et al., 1996); however, the diagnosis of early-onset cases is characteristically not made until the second year of life, when symptoms become more pronounced. In a second course, suggested in a minority of cases, apparently normal development is followed by regression (or the sudden loss of previously established developmental milestones), usually in the second year, which leaves open the possibility that MMR vaccination precedes the onset of the disorder. However, there is no scientifically established definition of regression.

Current attention to the possible relationship between MMR and ASD stems primarily from a case series reported in 1998 (Wakefield et al., 1998). Twelve children with a history of normal development followed by loss of acquired skills and gastrointestinal symptoms were referred to a London gastroenterology clinic that was interested in the connection between measles virus and bowel disease. For eight of these children, the onset of their behavioral problems was associated, through retrospective accounts by their parents or physicians, with MMR vaccination. The resulting report, and numerous other cases reported by parents, have generated considerable interest and concern about a possible link between MMR vaccination and ASD, and regressive autism in particular.

There are also more general concerns in the United States and the United Kingdom that the introduction and wide-scale use of the MMR vaccine coincide with an apparent increase in the occurrence of ASD. Information about the rates of ASD in the United States and changes in incidence or prevalence is limited, reflecting a lack of epidemiological research on ASD in this country. However, a recent report by the California Department of Developmental Services (1999), which shows a significant increase between 1987 and 1998 in its caseload of children with ASD, is often cited as evidence of this increasing trend, although the reported increases occurred well after the licensure and introduction of MMR in the United States in 1971. Published studies of trends in ASD prevalence and incidence, in fact, have been unable to resolve how much of the ob

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

APPENDIX A

served increase is real or due to other factors such as reporting bias, changes in diagnostic criteria, or better case ascertainment over time (Fombonne, 1999, 2001a; Gillberg and Wing, 1999).

PLAUSIBILITY ASSESSMENT

The committee proceeded in order to answer the following question: What is the causal relationship between MMR vaccine and ASD? The committee's primary finding is that a number of epidemiological studies (both uncontrolled and controlled) provide no support for an association on a population level between MMR immunization and ASD (Dales et al., 2001; Gillberg and Heijbel, 1998; Kaye et al., 2001; Patja et al., 2000; Peltola et al., 1998; Taylor et al., 1999). Findings from unpublished studies, which were shared with the committee publicly and through personal communications and which are in the process of being submitted for publication (Fombonne, 2001b; Miller et al., 2001), seemed to provide additional evidence of no association between MMR and ASD, although the findings still need to be peer-reviewed, published, and subjected to scrutiny by the broader scientific community.

Although these epidemiological studies do not support an association at a population level, it is important to recognize the inherent methodological limitations of such studies in establishing causality. Studies may not have sufficient precision to detect very rare occurrences on a population level. A poor understanding of the risk factors and failure to use a standard case definition may also hamper the ability of epidemiological studies to detect rare adverse events. In addition, since MMR exposure is virtually universal in developed countries, elucidating any association with adverse outcomes requires the creative use of administrative and other data sets and complex research designs. Furthermore, the rarity of the individual autistic spectrum disorders and the difficulty in determining their exact onset, and therefore the temporal relationship between onset and vaccination, make certain epidemiological study designs (e.g., cohort studies) impractical.

Second, the committee concludes that the case series of children with ASD and bowel symptoms (Wakefield et al., 1998) is uninformative with respect to causality between MMR and ASD. The small number of cases, the potential selection bias, the difficulty in diagnosing children with ASD, multiple diagnoses in the patients, and the lack of detail regarding the criteria for the behavioral diagnoses of the children in the series limit the utility of this study in establishing causality. Although parents or doctors made a temporal link between the onset of their children's behavioral disorders and the MMR vaccine, the authors of the resulting paper acknowledge that their findings do not prove an association between MMR and the condition they describe. Furthermore, it is not possible to describe from this study the nature of any relationship among vaccine-strain measles virus infection, ASD, and bowel symptoms. In addition, case reports submitted to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System, a national pas

sive surveillance system in the United States, sometimes note a temporal association between MMR vaccination and the onset of symptoms, but these reports vary substantially in their level of detail and supporting medical documentation. The committee found them uninformative in assessing causality.

Third, the biologic model linking MMR and ASD is incomplete and fragmentary. Possible immunologic and metabolic mechanisms have been described but have not been supported by validated and replicated controlled studies. While some believe that disrupted viral immunity following administration of polyvalent vaccines could lead to atypical or persistent measles infection, possibly resulting in ASD or bowel disease, there is no biological precedent or sufficient evidence from existing research to support this scenario. Furthermore, with the exception of the results from two groups (Kawashima 1996, 2000; Wakefield, 2001), there is no evidence to support persistent infection with vaccine-strain measles virus except for individuals with compromised immunity. The groups' findings, however, have not been adequately replicated and validated by controlled studies. In the absence of such studies, the existence of persistent vaccine-strain measles virus infection in ASD with bowel inflammation is uncertain.

Finally, there is no relevant animal model. The model based on Borna disease virus infection in rats may be useful for studying the induction of symptoms of ASD by insults, especially infectious, to brain development during the prenatal and perinatal periods, but this model is not adequate for studying the association between the MMR vaccine and the subsequent onset of ASD. Also, primate models which are effective for the study of vaccine safety and immunogenicity or the neurobehavioral aspects of ASD do not adequately represent any relationship between the MMR vaccine and ASD.

Thus, the committee concludes that the evidence favors rejection of a causal relationship at the population level between MMR vaccine and autistic spectrum disorders (ASD). The committee bases this conclusion on the following evidence:

- A consistent body of epidemiological evidence shows no association at a population level between MMR vaccine and ASD.
- The original case series of children with ASD and bowel symptoms and other available case reports are uninformative with respect to causality.
- Biologic models linking MMR vaccine and ASD are fragmentary.
- There is no relevant animal model linking MMR vaccine and ASD.

However, the committee notes that its conclusion does not exclude the possibility that MMR vaccine could contribute to ASD in a small number of children, because the epidemiological evidence lacks the precision to assess rare occurrences of a response to MMR vaccine leading to ASD and the proposed biological models linking MMR vaccine to ASD, although far from established, are nevertheless not disproved.

It is important to note that the committee evaluated the hypothetical association between MMR vaccine and ASD from a starting position of neutrality. A shift from that position is possible only if sufficient evidence is available to convince the committee that a causal association is either likely or unlikely.

SIGNIFICANCE ASSESSMENT

In its significance assessment, the committee considered the burden (i.e., the seriousness, risk, and treatability) of the vaccine-preventable diseases (measles, mumps, and rubella) and the potential adverse event (ASD), and the level of public concern surrounding this issue. Measles, mumps, and rubella can lead to significant morbidity and mortality, and treatment of these infectious diseases and their associated complications is limited to symptomatic relief and physiologic support until the condition resolves.

Historically, concerns about the safety of vaccines have led to declines in immunization coverage rates followed by outbreaks of disease, as observed with pertussis in the United Kingdom during the 1970s. Similar outbreaks could easily occur were immunization rates to decline as a result of fears regarding MMR. Yet, because MMR vaccine is a mandatory vaccine that is administered to healthy children—in part, as a public health measure to protect the health of others—the responsibility of the government to ensure the safety of this vaccine is high, even if the adverse outcome is rare.

Thus, the significance of the hypothesized adverse event—ASD, a group of incurable and serious behavioral disorder—requires consideration of all possible etiologies. In addition, the level of public concern about MMR vaccine safety is high.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Public Health Response

Although the committee has concluded that the evidence favors rejection of the causal relationship at the population level between MMR vaccine and autistic spectrum disorders, **the committee nevertheless recommends that this issue receive continued attention.** It does so in recognition that its conclusion does not exclude the possibility that MMR vaccine could contribute to ASD in a small number of children, as well as the following factors: the identified limitations of the evidence, the burden of ASD, the burden of the diseases prevented by the vaccine, the immense concern of parents, and the prominence of the issue in public debate.

Specific recommendations regarding policy review, research and surveillance, and communication follow.

Policy Review

• At this time, the committee does not recommend a policy review of the licensure of MMR vaccine or of the current schedule and recommendations for administration of MMR vaccine.

Research Regarding MMR and ASD

The committee concludes that further research on the possible occurrence of ASD in a small number of children subsequent to MMR vaccination is warranted and has identified targeted research opportunities that could lead to a clearer understanding of the relationship. The committee makes the following research recommendations, recognizing that it has no basis for judging whether the results of such research will alter the balance of evidence that led to the committee's original conclusion:

- Use accepted case definitions and assessment protocols for ASD to enhance the precision and comparability of results from surveillance, epidemiological studies, and biologic investigations.
- Explore whether exposure to MMR vaccine is a risk factor for ASD in a small number of children.
- Develop targeted investigation of whether or not measles vaccine-strain virus is present in the intestines of some children with ASD.
- Encourage all who submit reports to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System to provide as much detail and as much documentation as possible when any diagnosis of ASD is thought to be related to MMR vaccine.
- Study the possible effects of different immunization exposures—for example, studying children whose families have chosen not to have them receive the MMR vaccine.
- Conduct further clinical and epidemiological studies of sufficient rigor to identify risk factors and biological markers of ASD in order to better understand genetic or environmental causes.

Communications

The committee heard repeatedly in its open sessions and discussions with parents and advocacy groups that obtaining unbiased and accurate information on the possible relationship between MMR vaccine and ASD has been difficult. The committee will address this issue more fully in the future. In the meantime, it specifically recommends that government agencies and professional organizations, CDC and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in particular, review some of the most prominent forms of communication regarding the hypothesized relationship between MMR vaccine and ASD, including information they provide via the Internet and the ease with which Internet information can be accessed. They should especially be attentive to how commu Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

APPENDIX A

103

nications are perceived and used by parents of children about to be immunized or those who believe their child has been adversely affected by a vaccine. Direct input from parents and other stakeholders would be invaluable in conducting a systematic and effective evaluation of current communication tools.

General and Crosscutting Issues

In its discussion of recommendations related specifically to the MMR-ASD question, the committee identified more general concerns that it could not adequately or appropriately address in this report. These include deficiencies in the available information on the risks and benefits of vaccines, inadequate discussion on the ethics of providing information regarding the risks and benefits of vaccinations, the role of public input into vaccine advisory committees, and inadequate clinical-provider information on vaccine safety or the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System. The committee sees a need for a dialogue between vaccine safety advocates of every kind, in order to come to common understanding of how to align the appropriate public health attention with a possibly small vaccine safety risk. Finally, the committee did not have time to address responsibly the appropriateness of alternative immunization schedules or practices, which might be requested in a clinical setting. These concerns will be more completely considered in future reports. In the meantime, the committee urges the CDC, FDA, NIH, American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), and similar organizations to take to heart the serious concerns and earnest offers of help on information exchange and communication from the members of the public concerned about the safety of vaccines.

SUMMARY

The Immunization Safety Review Committee concludes that the evidence favors rejection of a causal relationship at the population level between MMR vaccine and ASD. However, this conclusion does not exclude the possibility that MMR vaccine could contribute to ASD in a small number of children, because the epidemiological evidence lacks the precision to assess rare occurrences of a response to MMR vaccine leading to ASD and the proposed biological models linking MMR vaccine to ASD, although far from established, are nevertheless not disproved.

Because of the limitations of the evidence, the significant public concern surrounding the issue, the risk of disease outbreaks if immunization rates fall, and the seriousness of ASD, the committee recommends that continued attention be given to this issue. Thus, the committee has provided targeted research and communication recommendations. However, at this time, the committee does not recommend a policy review of the licensure of MMR vaccine or of the current schedule and recommendations regarding administration of MMR vaccine.

104

REFERENCES

- APA (American Psychiatric Association). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: APA; 1994.
- Bristol MM, Cohen DJ, Costello EJ, Denckla M, Eckberg TJ, Kallen R, Kraemer HC, Lord C, Maurer R, McIlvane WJ, Minshew N, Sigman M, Spence MA. 1996. State of the science in autism: Report to the National Institutes of Health. J Autism Dev Disord 26(2):121–154.
- California Department of Developmental Services, Health and Human Services Agency. 1999. Changes in the Population of Persons With Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders in California's Developmental Services System: 1987 Through 1998. A Report to the Legislature. California Health and Human Services Agency. State of California.
- Dales L, Hammer SJ, Smith N. 2001. Time trends in autism and in MMR immunization coverage in California. JAMA 285(9):1183–1185.
- Filipek PA, Accardo PJ, Baranek GT, Cook EH, Dawson G, Gordon B, Gravel JS, Johnson CP, Kallen RJ, Levy SE, Minshew NJ, Ozonoff S, Prizant BM, Rapin I, Rogers SJ, Stone WL, Teplin S, Tuchman RF, Volkmar FR. 1999. The screening and diagnosis of autistic spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 29(6):439–484.
- Fombonne E. 1999. The epidemiology of autism: a review. Psychol Med 29(4):769-786.
- Fombonne E. 2001a. Is there an epidemic of autism? Pediatrics 107(2):411-412.
- Fombonne E. 2001b. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. New Studies: March 8, 2001: Washington, DC.
- Gillberg C, Heijbel H. 1998. MMR and autism. Autism 2:423-424.
- Gillberg C, Wing L. 1999. Autism: not an extremely rare disorder. Acta Psychiatr Scand 99(6):399– 406.
- IOM (Institute of Medicine). 1991. Adverse Events Following Pertussis and Rubella Vaccines. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1994a. Adverse Events Associated with Childhood Vaccines: Evidence Bearing on Causality. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- IOM. 1994b. DPT Vaccine and Chronic Nervous System Dysfunction: A New Analysis. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- Kawashima H, Mori T, Kashiwagi Y, Takekuma K, Hoshika A, Wakefield A. 2000. Detection and sequencing of measles virus from peripheral mononuclear cells from patients with inflammatory bowel disease and autism. *Dig Dis Sci* 45(4):723–729.
- Kawashima H, Mori T, Takekuma K, Hoshika A, Hata M, Nakayama T. 1996. Polymerase chain reaction detection of the hemagglutinin gene from an attenuated measles vaccine strain in the peripheral mononuclear cells of children with autoimmune hepatitis. Arch Virol 141 (5):877–884.
- Kaye JA, del Mar Melero-Montes M, Jick H. 2001. Mumps, measles, and rubella vaccine and the incidence of autism recorded by general practitioners: a time trend analysis. *BMJ* 322 (7284):460–463.
- Miller E, Taylor B, Farrington P. 2001. IOM review on autism and MMR Vaccine. Letter.
- Patja A, Davidkin I, Kurki T, Kallio MJ, Valle M, Peltola H. 2000. Serious adverse events after measles-mumps-rubella vaccination during a fourteen-year prospective follow-up. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 19(12):1127–1134.
- Peltola H, Patja A, Leinikki P, Valle M, Davidkin I, Paunio M. 1998. No evidence for measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine-associated inflammatory bowel disease or autism in a 14-year prospective study. *Lancet* 351(9112):1327–1328.
- Taylor B, Miller E, Farrington CP, Petropoulos MC, Favot- Mayaud I, Li J, Waight PA. 1999. Autism and measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine: no epidemiological evidence for a causal association. *Lancet* 353(9169):2026–2029.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

105

Wakefield AJ. Presentation to Immunization Safety Review Committee. March 8, 2001; Washington DC.

Wakefield AJ, Murch SH, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson DM, Malik M, Berelowitz M, Dhillon AP, Thomson MA, Harvey P, Valentine A, Davies SE, Walker-Smith JA. 1998. Ileal-lymphoidnodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *Lancet* 351(9103) :637–641.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained.

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX B

107

Appendix B

Monday, July 16, 2001 Meeting Agenda

IMMUNIZATION SAFETY REVIEW COMMITTEE Thimerosal-Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes Public Meeting The Charles Hotel Conant Wadsworth B Conference Room One Bennett Street Cambridge, MA

PUBLIC SESSION

8:00-8:10 a.m.	Welcome and Introductions
	Marie McCormick, M.D., Sc.D.
	Chair, Immunization Safety Review Committee
8:10-8:30 a.m.	Risk Assessment of Thimerosal in Childhood Vaccines
	Leslie K.Ball, M.D.
	Division of Vaccines and Related Product Applications
	Office of Vaccines Research and Review
	Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research
	Food and Drug Administration
8:30–9:00 a.m.	History of Thimerosal Concern and Comparative Policy
	Actions
	Gary L.Freed, M.D.
	The Percy and Mary Murphy Professor of Pediatrics and Child
	Health Delivery
	Director, Division of General Pediatrics
	Professor of Health Management and Policy
	University of Michigan

APPENDIX B	10
	Margie Andreae, M.D.
	Associate Director for Clinical Services
	Division of General Pediatrics
	University of Michigan
9:00–9:35 a.m.	Biologic Plausibility and Planned Research
	Jane M.El-Dahr, M.D.
	Head, Section of Pediatric Allergy, Immunology, Rheumatology
	Tulane University Health Sciences Center
	David S.Baskin, M.D.
	Professor of Neurosurgery
	Baylor College of Medicine
9:35–10:00 a.m.	The Role of Heavy Metals in Autism
	Jeffrey Bradstreet, M.D.
	Director of Research
	The International Autism Research Center
10:15-10:45 a.m.	Pharmacokinetic Modeling of Hair Mercury Levels from
	Thimerosal
	David Brown, Sc.D.
	Toxicologist and Independent Consultant
	Connecticut
10:45-11:30 a.m.	Vaccine Safety Datalink (VSD) Screening Study and Fol-
	low-Up Analysis with Harvard Pilgrim Data
	Thomas Verstraeten, M.D., M.Sc.
	EIS Officer, National Immunization Program-
	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
11:30-12:00 noon	Protocol for National Immunization Program Study on
	Thimerosal
	Paul Stehr-Green, Dr.P.H., M.P.H.
	Associate Professor of Epidemiology
	University of Washington School of Community Medicine and
	Public Health
	William Thompson, Ph.D. (for Q&A period only)
	Epidemiologist, National Immunization Program-
	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

APPENDIX B

1	00	
I	09	

1:00-1:30 p.m.	Seychelles Islands Study
	Gary Myers, M.D.
	Professor of Neurology and Pediatrics
	University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry
1:30–2:00 p.m.	Faroe Islands Study
	Philippe Grandjean, M.D., D.M.Sc.
	Institute of Community Health
	Odense University, Denmark
2:00–2:30 p.m.	In Vitro Studies of Thimerosal Toxicity
	Boyd E.Haley, Ph.D.
	Chairman and Professor, Department of Chemistry
	University of Kentucky
2:30–3:00 p.m.	Comparative Toxicology of Ethyl and Methyl Mercury
	George Lucier, Ph.D.
	Former Director, Environmental Toxicology Program
	National Institute for Environmental Health Sciences
3:15–3:30 p.m.	Rising Incidence of Autism: Association with Thimerosal
	Mark F.Blaxill, M.B.A.
	Autism Society of America, Massachusetts Chapter
3:30–3:45 p.m.	NIH Studies on Thimerosal
	Polly Sager, Ph.D.
	National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases
2 45 4 10	National Institutes of Health
3:45–4:10 p.m.	Wrap-Up Commentary on Thimerosal Risk
	From the Perspective of a Developmental Toxicologist
	George Lambert, M.D.
	Environmental and Occupational Health Sciences Institute Robert Wood Johnson Medical School
4:10–4:35 p.m.	Wrap-up Commentary on Thimerosal Risk
4.10–4.33 p.m.	From the Perspective of a Pediatric Vaccinologist
	Neal Halsey, M.D.
	Professor and Director
	Division of Disease Control
	Department of International Health
	The Johns Hopkins University
4:35–5:00 p.m.	Public comment period

APPENDIX B

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained.

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.

APPENDIX C

Appendix C

Thimerosal Content in Licensed Vaccines

(Adapted from FDA, 2001; AAP, 1999)

APPENDIX C

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained.

and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained. and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

Currently	Licensed Child	Currently Licensed Childhood Vaccines That Contained Thimerosal	ed Thimerosal			
			Previous Thimerosal Content (August/September 1999)	erosal Content ember 1999)	Current Thimerosal Content (June 2001)	erosal Content 2001)
Vaccine	Brand Name	Manufacturer	% Thim Conc	Hg µg/0.5mL	% Thim Conc	He ue/0.5mL
DTaP	Tripedia	Pasteur Merieux Connaught	0.01	25	<0.0002	<0.5
(Diphtheria and tetaaus torroids and	Infanrix	Glaxo-SmithKline	0	0	0	0
acellular pertu sais)	*Acel-Immune	Wyeth-Ayerst	0.01	25	N/A	N/A
	*Certiva	North Amer. Vaccine	0.01	25	N/A	N/A
Td (fetanı ınd diphtheria (ozoida)	All Products	Aventis Pasteur Lederle	0.01	25	0.01	25
DTaP- Hib Usbubari and (Usbubari and curvi toroids with actilitat periods with itempolity.	TriHBit	Aventis Pasteur	0.01	25	c	0
Hib	ActHIB	Aventis Pasteur	0	0	0	0
influenzoe type b)	HibTITER Single dose	Wyeth-Ayerst	0	0	0	0
	Omni HB	Aventis Pasteur	0	0	0	0
	PedvaxHIB liquid	Merck	0	0	0	0
	*HibTITER (multi-dose)	Wyeth-Ayerst	0.01	25	V/N	N/A
	*ProHIBit ¹	Aventis Pasteur	0.01	25	N/A	N/A
Hib/HepB (llarmophilu influence type b combined with	COMVAX	Merck	0	0	0	0

¹ Not given to children less than 15 months of age.

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

APPENDIX C

113

formulation) formulation) Prevnar (pneumoconjugate) Wyeth-Ayerst N/A N/A 0 Pneumovax 23 Merck N/A N/A 0 ined Nivated N/A N/A 0 tivated) IPOL Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 ella) MMR-II Merck 0 0 0 0 MMR-II Merck 0 0 0 0 0 sisi *Antis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 0 sisis *Antis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 0 sisis *Antie Merck 0 0 0 0 sisis *Tetramue Varivax 0 0 0 0	Preumococal ³⁴ formutation) Prevnar (pneumoconjugate) Wyeth-Ayerst N/A N/A 0 0 Vacines The numovax 23 Merck N/A N/A N/A 0 0 Vacines That Never Contained Merck N/A N/A 0	sed Childhood ever Contained accine, inactivated) mumps, rubella)			12.5 12.5	<0.0002	<0.5 0
od ined	Currently Licensed Childhood Currently Licensed Childhood Naccines That Never Contained POL Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 PV (Poliovirus vaccine, inactivated) POL Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 PV (Poliovirus vaccine, inactivated) POL Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 0 PV (Poliovirus vaccine, inactivated) POL Aventis Pasteur 0 <td>ed)</td> <td></td> <td>N/A N/A</td> <td>N/A N/A</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>00</td>	ed)		N/A N/A	N/A N/A	0 0	00
ctivated) IPOL Poliovax Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 bella) MMR-II N/R N/A 0 Merck 0 0 0 0 0 if the if the if the if the strivax No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A us *Tetranune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A ussis	IPOL Aventis Pasteur 0 0 0 0 Poliovax Aventis Pasteur N/A N/A N/A 0 MMR-II Merck 0 0 0 0 0 MMR-II Merck Merck 0 0 0 0 0 Varivax Merck Merck 0 0 0 0 0 0 *All products No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A VA *Tetranue United States 0.01 25 N/A VA *Tetranue Veth-Ayerst 0.01 25 N/A VA *Orimue Wyeth-Ayerst 0.01 25 N/A VA *Orimue Wyeth-Ayerst 0 0 0 N/A manufactured by Wyeth-Ayerst, contains 0.01% thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). This vaccine is adminstered only to children N/A N/A	ed)				>)
ella) MMR-II Merck 0 0 0 I Varivax Merck 0 0 0 idhood 8 is *All products No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A United States 0.01 25 N/A United States 0.01 25 N/A sis *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A Sis &	MMR (Measles, mumps, rubella) MMR-III Merch 0 <td></td> <td>Aventis Pasteur Aventis Pasteur</td> <td>0 N/A</td> <td>0 N/A</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>00</td>		Aventis Pasteur Aventis Pasteur	0 N/A	0 N/A	0 0	00
I the ildhood *All products No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A ussis) *Tetramune United States 0.01 25 N/A ssis Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A ssis Writed States 0.01 25 N/A	Vaccines No Longer Part of the Current Recommended Childhood Immunization Schedule Vactive No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A N/A DTwP (Diphtheria and tetanus *Tetramune United States 0.01 25 N/A N/A DTwP (Diphtheria and tetanus *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A Oxoids with whole-cell pertussis Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A Oxoids with whole-cell pertussis *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A Influenzae type b) Myeth-Ayerst Wyeth-Ayerst 0 0 0 N/A N/A ² Addet to immunization schedule in 2000. *Orimune *Orimue 23, a pneunococal vaccine manufactured by Wyeth-Ayerst, contains 0.01% thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). This vaccine is adminstered only to children two yether on other		Merck	0 0	0	000	000
as *All products No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A ssis) United States United States 0.01 25 N/A etanus *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A ssis Myorth Averet 0 0 0 0 0	DTwP (Diphtheria and tetanus) *All products No longer produced in the 0.01 25 N/A N/A OTwP-Hib (Diphtheria and tetanus) *Tetramune United States 0.01 25 N/A N/A OTwP-Hib (Diphtheria and tetanus) *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A oxoids with whole-cell pertusis *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A combined with <i>Haemophilus</i> Mole-cell pertusis *Tetramune 0.01 25 N/A N/A OPV ⁵ (Poliovirus, live oral) *Orimune Wyeth-Ayerst 0 0 N/A N/A ² Adult formulation contains thimerosal. * * 4 0.01% thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). This vaccine is adminstered only to children two yet or of the contains the contain the contains the contain the	ccines No Longer Part of the rrent Recommended Childhood munization Schedule					
etanus *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A ssis *Orimune Wvarth Avart 0 0 N/A	DTwP-Hib (D)phtheria and tetanus *Tetramune Lederle Laboratories 0.01 25 N/A N/A toxoids with whole-cell pertusis combined with <i>Haemophilus</i> combined with <i>Haemophilus</i> 0.01 25 N/A N/A N/A combined with <i>Haemophilus</i> influenzae type b) wyeth-Ayerst 0 0 N/A N/A OPV ⁵ (Poliovirus, live oral) *Orimune Wyeth-Ayerst 0 0 0 N/A N/A ⁵ Adult formulation contains thimerosal. * ⁵ Adult formulation schedule in 2000. ⁶ Mellow thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). This vaccine is adminstered only to children two yet of other.		No longer produced in the United States	0.01	25	N/A	N/A
*Orimuna Wyarth-Avaret 0 0 N/A	Optom	etanus ssis	Lederle Laboratories	0.01	25	N/A	N/A
	² Adult formulation contains thimerosal. ³ Added to immunization schedule in 2000. ⁴ Pnu-Immune 23, a pneumococcal vaccine manufactured by Wyeth-Ayerst, contains 0.01% thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). This vaccine is adminstered only to children two yes or older.		Wyeth-Ayerst	0	0	N/A	N/A

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained. and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

TABLE C-2 Currently Licensed Vaccines That Are Recommended for Some Children	sed Vaccines That Are Reco	ommended for Some	Children	Current Thimeros	Current Thimerosal Content (June 2001)	APPEN
Vaccine	Brand Name	Manufacturer		% Thim Conc	Hg µg/0.5mL	DIX
DT (Diphtheria and tetanus toxoids)	toxoids) All Products	Lederle		0.01	25	C
TT (Tetanus Toxoid)	All Products	Lederle		0.01	25	
Hepatitis A	Havrix A	SmithKline Beecham	am	0	0	
I	Vaqta	Merck		0	0	
Influenza	All	Aventis Pasteur, N	Aventis Pasteur, Medeva, and Lederle-Wyeth	0.01	25	
NOTE: The formulation of vaccines listed in	ines listed in C-2 and C-3 have	C-2 and C-3 have not changed since August/September 1999.	ust/September 1999.			
TABLE C-3 Other Licensed Vaccines in the United States	Vaccines in the United State	SS				
				Current Thimerosal Content (June 2001)	Content (June 2001)	
Vaccine	Brand Name		Manufacturer	% Thim Conc	Hg µg/0.5mL	
Anthrax	Anthrax Vaccine		BioPort Corporation	0	0	
BCG				N/A	N/A	
Hepatitis A-Hepatitis B	Twinrix		Glaxo-SmithKline	0	0	
Hepatitis B	Engerix B (adult formulation)	tion)	Glaxo-SmithKline	0.005	12.5	
	Recombivax HB (adult formulation)	ormulation)	Merck	0.005	12.5	
Lyme	LYMErix		Glaxo-SmithKline	0	0	
Meningococcal⁶	Menomune A, C, AC and	l A/C/Y/W-135	Aventis Pasteur	0.01	25	
Rabies	IMOVAX		Aventis Pasteur	0	0	
	Rabavert		Chiron	0	0	
	Rabies Vaccine Adsorbed ⁷	17	Bioport Corporation	N/A	N/A	
Typhoid Fever	Typhim Vi		Aventis Pasteur	0	0	
	Typhoid Ty21a		Vivotef Berna	0	0	
	Typhoid Vaccine		Wyeth-Ayerst	0	0	
Yellow Fever	Y-F-Vax		Aventis Pasteur	0	0	
⁶ Menomune A/C/Y/W-135, a thimerosal-containing vaccine, is not ir months and older against Group A.(<i>Physician's Desk Reference</i> , 2001).	himerosal-containing vaccine, i A.(Physician's Desk Reference	s not indicated for infa , 2001).	unts and children younger than	2 years of age except as s	⁶ Menomune A/C/Y/W-135, a thimerosal-containing vaccine, is not indicated for infants and children younger than 2 years of age except as short-term protection of infants 3 months and older against Group A.(<i>Physician's Desk Reference</i> , 2001).	
⁷ This vaccine is no longer available but did contain 0.01% thimerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5mL). N/A means that the product is no longer currently produced or distributed in the United States.	able but did contain 0.01% thin o longer currently produced or c	lerosal (25 µg Hg/0.5m listributed in the United	L). 1 States.			115

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

APPENDIX C

APPENDIX D

Immunization Safety Review Committee Biosketches

Marie C.McCormick, M.D., Sc.D., (Chair), is Summer and Esther Feldberg Professor and Chair of the Department of Maternal and Child Health at the Harvard School of Public Health. She received her M.D. degree from Johns Hopkins Medical School, and her Sc.D. degree from Johns Hopkins School of Hygiene and Public Health. Dr. McCormick is a member of the Institute of Medicine and has served as chair of the Committee on Preventing Perinatal Transmission of HIV and the Committee on Prenatal and Newborn Screening for HIV Infection, and as a member of the Committee on Unintended Pregnancy. Her research involves epidemiological and health services research in areas related to infant mortality and outcomes of high-risk neonates. Her expertise is in pediatrics, maternal and child health policy, and program evaluation.

Ronald Bayer, Ph.D., is Professor in the Division of Sociomedical Sciences at the Joseph L.Mailman School of Public Health at Columbia University. Dr. Bayer received his Ph.D. in political science from the University of Chicago. Since 1982, he has been involved in the study of the ethical and policy dimensions of the AIDS epidemic. He served on the National Research Council's Committee on the Social Impact of AIDS and, more recently, the Committee on the Elimination of Tuberculosis in the United States. He is author of numerous articles on ethical issues posed by AIDS and tuberculosis, including *Private Acts, Social Consequences: AIDS and the Politics of Public Health*, and *Blood Feuds: AIDS, Blood, and the Politics of Medical Disaster*. His most recent co-authored book is *AIDS Doctors: Voices from the Epidemic*.

118

Alfred Berg, M.D., M.P.H., is Professor and Chair of the Department of Family Medicine at the University of Washington School of Medicine. Dr. Berg received his M.D. from Washington University and his M.P.H. from the University of Washington. He is a member of the Institute of Medicine. Dr. Berg presently serves as chair of the third U.S. Preventive Services Task Force and is a member of the American Academy of Family Physicians and the Society of Teachers of Family Medicine. He is also an Associate Editor for the *Journal of the American Board of Family Practice*. Dr. Berg's research interests include clinical epidemiology, evidence-based medical practice, preventive medicine, and clinical practice guidelines.

Rosemary Casey, M.D., is an Associate Professor of Pediatrics at Jefferson Medical College, and the Director and practicing physician of Lankenau Faculty Pediatrics. Dr. Casey is board-certified in Pediatrics, and a member of the American Academy of Pediatrics and the Ambulatory Pediatric Association. She also serves as editorial consultant on several journals, including *Pediatrics, Pediatric Emergency Care, Clinical Pediatrics,* and *Journal of the Ambulatory Pediatric Association.* Her interests include diagnostic problems and behavioral pediatrics. Dr. Casey received her M.D. from Harvard Medical School and completed her residency in pediatrics at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. She was a Robert Wood Johnson Clinical Scholar at the University of Pennsylvania.

Joshua Cohen, Ph.D., is a Senior Research Associate with the Harvard Center for Risk Analysis. Dr. Cohen received his Ph.D. in Decision Sciences from Harvard University. His research includes assessing population risk related to styrene production and use, and developing a computer model to quantify the risk of bovine spongiform encephalopathy being introduced into the United States and contaminating the food supply. In addition, he is the project director for a comparative evaluation of alternative propulsion systems for heavy-duty urban vehicles. He is the author of a case study conducted for U.S. EPA demonstrating the application of decision analytical techniques to the evaluation of alternative drinking water treatment technologies. His research focuses on the application of decision analytical techniques to environmental risk management problems, with a special emphasis on the proper characterization and analysis of uncertainty.

Vernice Davis-Anthony, M.P.H., R.N., is Senior Vice President of Corporate Affairs and Community Health at St. John Health System in Detroit, Michigan, where she oversees system-wide management and development of community health policies and programs, strategic planning, marketing and public relations, and government relations. Ms. Davis-Anthony was the former Director of the Michigan Department of Public Health, where she achieved the lowest infant mortality rate in Michigan's history and reduced the teen pregnancy rate in that state. In addition, Ms. Davis-Anthony established the Michigan Task Force of

Immunization Safety Review: Thimerosal - Containing Vaccines and Neurodevelopmental Disorders http://www.nap.edu/catalog/10208.html

APPENDIX D

Violence Reduction and Prevention and the Michigan Abstinence Partnership. She was also appointed to serve as a Governor of Wayne State University. She received her M.P.H. from the University of Michigan School of Public Health and Bachelor of Science in Nursing from Wayne State University.

Betsy Foxman, Ph.D., is Professor in the Department of Epidemiology at the University of Michigan School of Public Health, and Director of the Center for Molecular and Clinical Epidemiology of Infectious Diseases. Her research focuses on the combination of epidemiological field methods and modern molecular techniques to examine the individual and joints effects of host behaviors, host characteristics, and agent characteristics on disease risk, especially on urinary tract infection, vulvovaginal candidiasis, lactation mastitis, and otitis media. She serves on various professional organizations, including Chair of the Epidemiology Division of the American Public Health Association, is a member of the program committee for the first North American Congress of Epidemiologists, and is a fellow of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. She received her Ph.D. in epidemiology from the University of California, Los Angeles.

Constantine Gatsonis, Ph.D., is Professor of Medical Science and Applied Mathematics, and Director of the Center for Statistical Sciences at Brown University. He has served on numerous review and advisory panels, including as a consultant/ad hoc panel member on the FDA Center for Devices and Radiological Health, the Data Safety and Monitoring Board of the VA Cooperative Studies in Health Services, the Commission of Technology Assessment of the American College of Radiology, the NINDS Data Safety and Monitoring Board, and the HCFA Technical Experts Panel. Dr. Gatsonis is the founding editor-in-chief of *Health Services and Outcomes Research Methodology* and is on the editorial board of *Academic Radiology, Statistics in Medicine,* and *Medical Decision Making.* His research interests include Bayesian inference and its applications to problems in biostatistics, methodological aspects of health services and outcomes research, and medical technology evaluation with emphasis on diagnostic radiology. Dr. Gatsonis received his Ph.D. in mathematical statistics from Cornell University.

Steven Goodman, M.D., M.H.S., Ph.D., is Associate Professor of Oncology, Pediatrics, Epidemiology and Biostatistics at the Johns Hopkins Schools of Medicine and Public Health. Dr. Goodman received his M.D. from New York University, his M.H.S. and Ph.D. degrees from Johns Hopkins University, and trained in pediatrics at Washington University in St. Louis. He has been a member of two IOM committees: the Committee for a Review of Evidence Regarding the Link Between Exposure to Agent Orange and Diabetes, and the Committee to Review the Health Effects in Vietnam Veterans of Exposure to

Herbicides: Second Biennial Update. As a statistician for the Johns Hopkins Oncology Center, General Clinical Research Center, and Pediatric Clinical Research Unit, he has participated in the design and analysis of a wide range of clinical and epidemiological studies. He is co-director of the Johns Hopkins Evidence-Based Practice Center, and has served as Statistical Editor for the *Annals of Internal Medicine* since 1987. His research interests include metaanalysis, statistical inference, the ethics of clinical trials, and the use of likelihood and Bayesian methodology in clinical research.

Ellen Horak, M.S.N., is Chief of Local Health Services in the office of Local and Rural Health at the Kansas Department of Health and Environment. Ms. Horak is the Past President of the Association of State and Territorial Directors of Nursing, as well as Past District President of the Kansas State Nurses Association. She is also a member of the American Public Health Association and Kansas Public Health Association. Ms. Horak received her M.S.N. from the University of Kansas.

Michael Kaback, M.D., Michael Kaback is Professor of Pediatrics and Reproductive Medicine at the University of California in San Diego. He is an Institute of Medicine member and has served on previous IOM committees, including the Committee on Assessing Genetic Risks: Issues and Implications for Health. His expertise is in medical genetics and pediatrics, and his research interests include the applications of human genetic technology to treatment and prevention of hereditary disease and congenital defects; technical, social, psychological, legal, and ethical implications of new genetic technologies; and public health and medical practice implications. Dr. Kaback received his M.D. from the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine.

Gerald Medoff, M.D., is Professor of Medicine and Microbiology and Immunology, and Senior Advisor to the Chairman of the Internal Medicine Department at Washington University School of Medicine. He was formerly Head of the Infectious Disease Division at Washington University School of Medicine. He has served on various committees, including the Committee on Infectious Diseases of the American Board of Internal Medicine, the Executive Board of the AIDS Clinical Trials Unit, and the Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee of Blue Cross and Blue Shield. In addition, he was Chairman of the AIDS Research Advisory Committee of the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases. Dr. Medoff's research interests include AIDS, fungal diseases, other infectious diseases, and antimicrobial agents. He received his M.D. from Washington University School of Medicine.

Rebecca Parkin, Ph.D., M.P.H., is Associate Research Professor at The George Washington University Medical Center. Dr. Parkin received her Ph.D.

and M.P.H. from Yale University. She is a former director of scientific, professional, and section affairs at the American Public Health Association as well as assistant commissioner for the Division of Occupational and Environmental Health of the New Jersey Department of Health. She is a member of the National Research Council Water Science and Technology Board, and has served on several NRC committees. She is a liaison member of the DHHS's National Advisory Committee on Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention, and a peer reviewer for the New Jersey Cancer Research Commission. She continues to serve on subcommittees of EPA's Science Advisory Board, and has been a member of study panels of the Agency for Toxic Substance Disease Registry. She is currently conducting research in the areas of environmental epidemiology, risk assessment, risk perception and communication, and immunization programs.

Bennett A.Shaywitz, M.D., is Professor of Pediatrics and Neurology and Chief of Pediatric Neurology at the Yale University School of Medicine where he is also Co-Director of the Yale Center for the Study of Learning and Attention. He has served on previous IOM committees, including the Committee to Study Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, the Committee on New Research on Vaccines, the Committee to Review the Adverse Consequences of Pertussis and Rubella Vaccines, Committee for a Review of an Epidemiology Study of Neurologic Illness and Vaccination in Children, and the Committee on Reye's Syndrome and Medication. Currently, he leads a research group that is using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) to investigate the neural basis of reading and reading disability (dyslexia). Recently, he and his colleagues have used this technology to discover differences in brain organization and function in children and adults with dyslexia, and he has now begun to use fMRI to study how the brain changes as children with dyslexia are taught to read.

Christopher Wilson, M.D., is Professor and Chair of the Department of Immunology at the University of Washington. He is a fellow of the American Association for the Advancement of Science, the Infectious Diseases Society of America, and the American Academy of Pediatrics. He was also a member of the Maternal and Child Health Research Committee of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. His research includes laboratory work on the elucidation of the molecular mechanisms by which functional differences between naïve and memory/effector T-cells are imposed, thereby allowing them to exhibit fixed and heritable patterns of effector functions. In addition, his work includes addressing mechanisms governing the development of immunity following primary function, in particular with the intracellular pathogens *M. tuberculosis, Listeria monocytogenes*, and herpes simplex virus. Dr. Wilson received his M.D. from the University of California, Los Angeles.

Board on Health Promotion Disease Prevention Liaison

Richard Johnston Jr., M.D., is currently Professor of Pediatrics at the National Jewish Medical and Research Center at the University of Colorado School of Medicine. He was formerly the Medical Director of the March of Dimes Birth Defects Foundation, and Chief of the Section of Immunology in the Department of Pediatrics at Yale University School of Medicine. Among his previous appointments is the position of Chairman of Pediatrics, University of Pennsylvania. He is a member of the Association of American Physicians and the Institute of Medicine and a Fellow of the American Association for the Advancement of Science. His publications include work on immune diseases in children and mechanisms of host defense and inflammation. Dr. Johnston is a past president of the society for Pediatric Research and the American Pediatric Society. He is a member of the Board on Health Promotion Disease Prevention of the Institute of Medicine and has chaired four IOM committees, including Multiple Sclerosis: Current Status and Strategies for the Future, the Assessment of Asthma and Indoor Quality, and the Vaccine Safety Committee. He has served on several other IOM committees, including the Committee to Review Adverse Consequences of Pertussis and Rubella Vaccines and the Immunology Benchmarking Guidance Group.